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Journey to "Emerging
Stronger, Positioning
for the Future"

Amidst unprecedented challenges and
disruptions, FMI has embarked on a
transformative journey towards emerging
stronger and positioning itself for a promising
future. This is the story of resilience,
adaptation, and unwavering determination to
build a better Myanmar.

Our Mission

BUILD A BETTER MYANMAR
FOR ITS PEOPLE

“The “How" to “Build a Better Myanmar for its People”
leads us to confront the biggest challenge faced by
the Group and to build a roadmap to move forward
and create value in everything we do. How is a better
Myanmar defined? In my own words, “better” must
be compared in quantitative, qualitative, spiritual
and material terms to that of today. Through
passion and proficiency, aligned to this deep sense
of determination, the Group is committed to build
a better Myanmar together with its people and for
its people.”

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman

Our Vision

Investor satisfaction

We create sustainable investment opportunities
by leading with integrity and robust business
practices.

Customer satisfaction

We serve our customers by being their trusted
partner to deliver the best products and services
for their needs.

Employee satisfaction

We invest in our people to build careers
around a shared culture of fairness, diversity,
empowerment, and recognition.

Our Values

Innovation
Teamwork
Integrity
Respect
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Corporate Overview

Corporate Profile

First Myanmar Investment Public Company Limited (“FMI", the “Company” and
collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a prominent public company in
Myanmar, boasting a strong presence with over 8,900 shareholders. In a significant
milestone, FMI achieved the distinction of being the first company to be listed on the
Yangon Stock Exchange ("YSX") in March 2016.

FMI's success can be attributed to its strategic diversification, professional management,
and unwavering commitment to corporate governance and transparency. The Board
of Directors at FMI actively promotes good corporate governance practices and
includes a robust independent element to safeguard the interests of its stakeholders.

FMI is affiliated with Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) Limited ("SPA") and Yoma
Strategic Holdings Ltd. ("Yoma Strategic") which is listed on the Mainboard of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST"). FMI, SPA, Yoma Strategic,
and along with their respective subsidiaries, collectively form the "Yoma Group."

As a leading company in Myanmar, FMI focuses on creating value and driving
sustainable growth across a diverse range of sectors. The company actively seeks
investment opportunities that align with its long-term vision and objectives. By
leveraging its extensive network, industry expertise, and deep-rooted relationships,
FMI aims to contribute to the economic development and prosperity of Myanmar.

FMI's core values revolve around integrity, innovation, and social responsibility.
The company is dedicated to upholding the highest ethical standards and actively
participates in various corporate social responsibility initiatives aimed at uplifting
local communities and making a positive impact on society.

With a solid foundation built on sound governance, strategic partnerships, and a
commitment to excellence, FMI continues to spearhead Myanmar's economic growth
and position itself as a trusted and respected entity within the region and beyond.
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Business Portfolio

FMI maintains a diversified portfolio of core businesses in key sectors of Myanmar's economy.
The Company primarily focuses on the following sectors:

FINANCIAL SERVICES

As a leading financial institution, Yoma Bank aims to contribute to the
growth and development of the banking sector in Myanmar. Through
its financial services offerings, the Bank facilitates access to capital,
supports businesses, and promotes financial inclusion in the country.

HEALTHCARE

FMI recognises the importance of the healthcare sector in
Myanmar's overall development. Pun Hlaing Hospitals contribute
to the improvement of healthcare services and infrastructure in the
country. The Company aims to enhance access to quality healthcare
and promote wellness among the population.

REAL ESTATE

FMI has significant investments and developments in the real estate
sector. Yoma Land is engaged and invested in the development of
community, residential and commercial projects to contribute to
the construction and development of infrastructure in Myanmar,
meeting the growing demand for quality and diverse properties.

TOURISM

FMI takes a long term view in the tourism sector, recognising its
potential for economic growth and job creation in Myanmar.
Memories Group invests in tourism-related projects and initiatives,
aiming to attract both domestic and international tourists. FMI's
efforts in the tourism sector contribute to the development of
hospitality infrastructure, cultural preservation, and the promotion
of Myanmar as an attractive tourist destination.

STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS

In addition to these core businesses, FMI also maintains a portfolio of
strategic investments in various sectors. These investments allow FMI
to explore additional growth opportunities and diversify its holdings,
contributing to the long-term economic development and nation-
building efforts of Myanmar.
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Business Portfolio

FINANCIAL SERVICES

= YOMA BANK

66.47% » Yoma Bank Limited

REAL ESTATE

- YOMA LAND

StarCity
30.00% » Thanlyin Estate Development Limited

City Loft West
25.00% » CLW Development Limited
47.50% » FMI Riverside Development Limited

The Peninsula Yangon
6.00% » Peninsula Yangon Holdings Pte. Limited

Yoma Central
12.00% » Meeyahta Development Limited
20.00% » Meeyahta International Hotel Limited

Pun Hlaing Links
30.00% » Pun Hlaing Links Services Company Limited

FMI Garden Development
47.50% » FMI Garden Development Limited

KrisPLAZA
50.00% » LSC FMI Company Limited

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

TOURISM

- MEMORIES GROUP

16.66% » Memories (2022) Pte. Limited

HEALTHCARE SERVICE

- YOMA-OUE HEALTHCARE

60.00% » Pun Hlaing International Hospital Limited
60.00% » Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing Hospital Limited

- STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS*

40.00% » FMIDECAUX Company Limited
1.65% » Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited

By focusing on these sectors and maintaining a diverse
portfolio, FMI aims to make meaningful contributions to
Myanmar's economic growth, job creation, and overall
development.

* The completed list of subsidiaries and associated companies is available on
the Company’s website: https://fmi.com.mm.
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Empowered by People

At the heart of FMI's success lies its most valuable asset: its people. The Company invested in talent
development, fostering a culture of continuous learning and empowerment. With a diverse and inclusive
workforce, FMI harnessed the collective power of its employees to drive innovation, foster collaboration,
and deliver exceptional experiences to its customers.
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The narrative is one of
resilience, adaptation,
and an unwavering
commitment to contribute
to the betterment of
Myanmar. The difficulties
we have encountered
serve to strengthen our
determination to persist
in pursuing our mission
of "Emerging Stronger,

Positioning for the Future.”

Letters to
Shareholders

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

| am pleased to present our annual report, highlighting the remarkable journey
of First Myanmar Investment (FMI) as we emerged stronger and positioned
ourselves for a promising future amidst unprecedented challenges.

Over the past couple of years, we have endured challenging circumstances.
Our nation has faced economic upheavals and has had to navigate through
significant changes resulting from the pandemic, political and financial situation.
The narrative is one of resilience, adaptation, and an unwavering commitment to
contribute to the betterment of Myanmar. The difficulties we have encountered
serve to strengthen our determination to persist in pursuing our mission of
"Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future."

Reflecting on the past and considering the factors that have enabled us
to overcome the immense challenges of 2022, | would like to highlight the
following:

Where we are today is attributed to our most valuable asset - our people.
We invested in talent development, fostering a culture of continuous learning
and empowerment. By fostering a diverse and inclusive workforce, FMI
leverages the collective strength of its employees to stimulate innovation,
foster collaboration, and provide exceptional experiences to its customers.
The Company understands that by investing in its people, it cultivates a thriving
environment that drives growth, innovation, and long-term success.

Despite the challenges we faced, Yoma Bank has thrived by embracing proactive
measures and strategic initiatives. Our in-house Customer Care Center
provides personalised support and facilitates banking activities in the digital
era. We remain committed to robust Anti-Money Laundering and Combating
the Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT) measures. Our launch of an automatic
analytics engine strengthens our ability to combat financial crimes and protect
our customers, the financial system, and our integrity.

Yoma Bank has successfully acquired its headquarter buildings and land in
StarCity, Thanlyin on 31 March 2023. Additionally, the Company made an
acquisition of Yoma Bank's shares from the International Finance Corporation,
representing 4.48% of the shares. As a result, the Company's interest in Yoma
Bank increased to 66.69%. These acquisitions demonstrate our commitment
to enhancing our industry presence and further strengthening our position.

Yoma Bank's transformative changes highlight our dedication to innovation,
customer-centricity, and sustainable growth as a trusted financial institution.
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Pun Hlaing Hospitals (PHH) have achieved
remarkable growth and innovation by
expanding its presence with three hospitals
and five clinics across Myanmar. Notably,
our flagship hospital in Hlaing Tharyar
has undergone infrastructure upgrades
through Project BRIGHT, leading to
enhanced patient experiences. The Queue
Management System (QMS) has been
expanded in phase 2, and modernization
efforts have been undertaken at our
Taunggyi Hospital facility.

PHH's Emerging Health ("EH") vertical
expanded with Pun Hlaing Family clinics in
Thingangyun. Hemodialysis services were
implemented in Taunggyi and North Dagon,
along with an ICU and ED in Taunggyi-a first
in the city. A Histopathology laboratory
was launched at Hlaing Tharyar, offering
real-time frozen section services-a first in
Myanmar.

Yoma Land remained resilient and
adaptive, continuously evaluating market
trends and consumer preferences to
meet the evolving needs of homebuyers
and investors. Our StarCity development
experienced significant growth and
demand, leading to the launch of new
towers and projects. We also introduced
the City Loft West project in Hlaing Tharyar
Township, catering to the demand for
modern urban living in Yangon. The
positive response from buyers reflects
their confidence in our developments and
the appeal of our residential offerings.

StarCity launched the 9t Tower (CL9) of City
Loft in December 2022, followed by the 10t
Tower (CL10) in March 2023. Responding
to the interest in landed homes, StarCity
introduced the City Villa project in August
2022. To meet increased demand, the City
Villa Extension project was launched in
January 2023. These successful launches
highlight the popularity of StarCity's
residential developments.

Yoma Land recently launched City Loft
West Phase 1, its latest project, in May
2023. Located in Hlaing Tharyar Township,
this development covers an expansive area
of 10.4 acres and consists of seven towers,
accommodating a total of 1,814 units.
The successful sales of units across City

Board of Directors

Key Management

Villa, City Loft, and City Loft West projects
signify the market's confidence in Yoma
Land's developments and the appeal of
its residential offerings.

During the year, the Company has
sponsored Exit Offer and successfully
deslisted Memories Group from Catalist
Board of SGX-ST. As a result, Memories
Group becomes a private company and
the new holding company of Memories
Group now becomes Memories (2022)
Pte. Limited which the Company holds
an 16.66% interest. The Company took a
long term view on this business venture.
The privatization of Memories Group will
enable re-positioning and re-strategising
of its businesses.

As a new diversification, Memories Group
ventured into new food and beverage
(“F&B") outlets and management services.
With new dining establishments in Yangon,
namely, Locale, The Bleachers and Atlas, in
addition to existing establishments in Pun
Hlaing Estate, Yangon - Horizon Restaurant,
Oasis Bistro, Bamboo House, Memories
Group have created unique dining
experiences for the customers. These new
F&B outlets also run in complimentary to
Memories Group's existing integrated
tourism platform. Leveraging on its
strength and international network,
Memories Group target to be a formidable
brand in Myanmar Tourism Industry.

Despite the prolonged period of the
pandemic and challenging macroeconomic
conditions, we remained steadfast in
mitigating the impact on our businesses
and revitalizing our financial performance
across the group. In FY 2023, the Group's
revenue exhibited a robust growth of 20%,
reaching MMK 339.6 billion compared to
MMK 283.1 billion in FY 2022*. Yoma Bank
played a significant role, contributing 82%
of the total revenue with a notable increase
of 21.8% from MMK 229.1 billion in FY 2022
to MMK 279.0 billion in FY 2023. Likewise,
PHH experienced a modest revenue
growth of 12.3%, generating MMK 60.5
billion in FY 2023 compared to MMK 53.9
billion in FY 2022. However, the Group's
gross profit declined by 5.3% to MMK 119.7
billion in FY 2023 compared to MMK 126.4
billion in FY 2022. On a positive note, the

* FY 2022 represents for the 12-month combined period covering from 15 April 2021
to 375t March 2022. However, FY 2022 in Audited Financial Report represents for
the six-month period from 1t October 2021 to 31t March 2022.

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

Group's net profit after tax exhibited a
remarkable increase of 1647.5%, reaching
MMK 4.1 billion in FY 2023 compared to
MMK 236.5 million in FY 2022. In line with
our strategic priorities of reinvesting in the
growth and development of our businesses
to ensure long-term value creation for our
shareholders, the Board of Directors has
decided not to declare a dividend for FY
2023. These financial results showcase
our commitment to maintaining a strong
financial position and seizing opportunities
for sustainable growth.

We recognise the importance of sustainable
development. It goes beyond simply
being an ethical obligation; it can also
yield strategic advantages by embedding
sustainability into our core operations. By
integrating sustainability into our business
strategy, we not only enhanced our brand
reputation but also fostered trust among
stakeholders. Moreover, by prioritising
the long-term well-being of Myanmar, FMI
made valuable contributions to the overall
betterment of society.

In conclusion, we would like to emphasise
the resilience and strength demonstrated
by our businesses in the face of significant
uncertainties over the past year. We
firmly believe that our medical and trade
establishments will continue to grow
and hold a bigger purpose in maximising
customer experience.

We extend our heartfelt gratitude to our
fellow directors for their unwavering
dedication and invaluable guidance.
Additionally, we express our sincerest
appreciation to our shareholders,
employees, customers, and partners
for their continuous support and trust.
With our exceptional team as the
bedrock of our organisation, we have
the utmost confidence in our ability to
position ourselves for the future and
seize emerging opportunities in the ever-
evolving economic landscape. Together,
we will emerge stronger and thrive in the
years to come.

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman
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U THEIM WAI @ SERGE PUN
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR &
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
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U LINN MYAING
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

U THAN AUNG
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

PROF. DR. AUNG TUN THET
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

U KYI AYE
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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MR. JAIME ALFONSO ANTONIO
EDER ZOBEL DE AYALA
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman

Present Directorships in listed

companies:

> First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

> Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Co., Ltd.

> Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd.
(Singapore)

Appointed on: 12 September 2004
Last Re-elected on: 31 January 2022

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun (“U Theim Wai")
is a Myanmar national and the Executive
Chairman of FMI. In 1983, he founded Serge
Pun & Associates Limited in Hong Kong SAR
and eventually returned to Myanmar, the
country of his birth, to establish Serge Pun
& Associates (Myanmar) Limited (“SPA”) in
1991.

In 1992, U Theim Wai established FMI
as one of the earliest (unlisted) public
companies in Myanmar. In 2006, he led
Yoma Strategic to a successful listing on
the Mainboard of the SGX-ST. In 2016, he
also led FMI to be the first company to be
listed on the YSX. He was also instrumental
in listing Memories Group Limited on the
Catalist Board of the SGX-ST in 2018.

U Theim Wai is a member of the ASEAN
Regional Business Council. He is a standing
member of the Chinese People's Political
Consultative Conference of Dalian and
a member of the Asia Business Council.
He is also the Chair of the International
Advisory Board of Singapore Management
University for Myanmar. U Theim Wai is a
frequent speaker in international forums
on Myanmar and ASEAN Region.

Key Management

U Tun Tun
Executive Director & Chief
Operating Officer

Present Directorships in listed

companies:

» First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

> Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 17 November 2009
Last Re-elected on: 31 January 2022

U Tun Tun has been with the SPA and
FMI group of companies since 1998. He
has been an Executive Director of FMI
since 2009, and currently serves as the
Chief Operating Officer. He is also a Non-
Executive Director of Memories (2022) Pte.
Limited in Singapore and oversees many of
the Group’s subsidiaries and joint ventures.
He has held various positions at both the
operational and corporate levels, in both
SPA and FMI as well as the wider Yoma
Group over the years.

U Tun Tun holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from the National
University of Singapore. He is also
an Associate Member of Chartered
Governance Institute (UK & Ireland).

U Linn Myaing
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed

companies:

» First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 2 july 2012
Last Re-elected on: 5 August 2022

U Linn Myaing is a Non-Executive Director
of FMI. U Linn Myaing joined FMI in 2010
and currently leads the Yoma Group's
Government Relations Department. U Linn
Myaing is a retired Director General from
the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. He served as
Myanmar's Ambassador to several Western
countries including France and the United
States. He was also an Ambassador and
the Head of the Myanmar Mission to the
European Union and Permanent Delegate
to UNESCO. After retiring from the foreign
service in 2006, U Linn Myaing joined SPA
as the Advisor to the Board.

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

U Than Aung
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed

companies:

> First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 31 july 1992
Last Re-elected on: 5 August 2022

U Than Aung is a Non-Executive Director
of FMI and is both a member of the Audit
& Risk Management Committee and the
Nominating Committee. U Than Aung
joined FMI in 1992. He is currently the
Managing Director of Yar Pye Company
Limited and other family-owned
companies. He is also the Vice Chairman
of the Pathein Association.

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet
Independent Non-Executive
Director

Present Directorships in listed

companies:

> First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

> Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 3 December 2013
Last Re-elected on: 5 August 2022

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet has been an
Independent Non-Executive Director of FMI
since 2013 and is the Chairman of Audit
& Risk Management Committee and the
Nominating Committee. He is an Advisor to
the UMFCCI. Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet is
a Professor Emeritus at Yangon University
of Economics, Honorary Professor at the
University of British Columbia, Vancouver,
Canada and Research Professor at Kyung
Hee University, Institute of Global Trade and
Finance, Seoul, Korea. He graduated with
B.Com. (Yangon), Post- Graduate Diploma
in Management Studies (Brighton, UK),
M.Sc. (Warwick, UK), Ph.D. (Manchester,
UK) and is a Post-Doctoral Fellow (Marburg,
Germany). He was awarded the Doctor
of Letters (honoris causa) from Yangon
University of Economics.
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U Kyi Aye
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed

companies:

» First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 5 November 2015
Last Re-elected on: 31 January 2022

U Kyi Aye has been a Non-Executive
Director of FMI since 2015. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee. He joined Yoma
Bank in 2000 and is now an executive
director of Yoma Bank. He was also a
non-executive director of Yoma Strategic
from 2006 to 2015. He began his banking
career in 1960 and joined the Central Bank
of Myanmar (“CBM") in 1965. U Kyi Aye is
a retired Governor of the CBM, having
held the position from 1992 to 1998. He
holds B.Com and B.L degrees from Yangon
University and a Diploma in World Banking
and Finance from the Economics Institute
in Boulder, Colorado, USA. He is a Certified
Public Accountant.

14

Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder
Zobel De Ayala
Non-Executive Director

e0

Mr. Alberto Macapinlac De
Larrazabal
Alternate Director

Present Directorships in listed
companies:

First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited

Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd.
(Singapore)

Globe Telecom, Inc. (Philippines)
ACEN Corporation (Philippines)
Ayala Land Logistics Holdings Corp
(Philippines)

~

~

~

~

~

Appointed on: 27 February 2023
Last Re-elected on: N.A.

Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel De
Ayala is the Head of Business Development
and Digital Ventures Group of Ayala
Corporation. He sits on the board of ACEN
Corporation, Globe Telecom, Mynt (Gcash),
Ayala Land Logistics and First Myanmar
Investment, amongst others.

Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel
De Ayala is a member of the investment
committees of Kickstart Ventures, the
corporate venture vehicle of Ayala Group,
and 917Ventures, Globe Telecom’s
corporate incubation vehicle.

Prior to these roles, he was previously
Head of Fixed-Mobile Convergence
(Product Management) and Head of
Business Development (Prepaid Division)
of Globe Telecom.

Present Directorships in listed

companies:

> First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited - Alternate Director

> Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd.

(Singapore) - Alternate Director

Integrated Micro- Electronics, Inc.

(Philippines) - Director

> ENEX Energy Corporation (Philippines)
- Director

> Manila Water Company, Inc.
(Philippines) - Director

-

Appointed on: 27 February 2023
Last Re-elected on: N.A.

Mr. Alberto Macapinlac de Larrazabal is the
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer,
and Chief Sustainability Officer of Ayala
Corporation. He has over two decades of
extensive experience as a senior executive
in finance, business development, treasury
operations, joint ventures, mergers and
acquisitions, investment banking and
investor relations.

Prior to joining Ayala Corporation, Mr.
Larrazabal served as Chief Commercial
Officer and Chief Financial Officer of
Globe Telecom, a business unit of Ayala
Corporation. Before Globe Telecom, he
held positions at JPMorgan Hong Kong as
a Vice President and Head of Consumer
Investment Banking and San Miguel
Corporation as Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer.

His other directorships include First
Myanmar Investment (Myanmar),
Integrated Micro-Electronic (Philippines),
ENEX Energy (Philippines) and Manila
Water (Philippines).
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U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman

Present Directorships in listed companies:

« First Myanmar Investment Public Company
Limited

» Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co.,
Ltd.

+ Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd. (Singapore)

Appointed on: 12 September 2004
Last Re-elected on: 31 January 2022
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U Tun Tun
Executive Director & Chief Operating
Officer

Present Directorships in listed companies:

« First Myanmar Investment Public Company
Limited

« Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 17 November 2009
Last Re-elected on: 31 January 2022

<

B:ogeog§eaopd SPA ¢ FMI cpgaaple
ofé ORE® :3@5035: ®o><°:oc°:ecpo§§>oop_5u R
339_3 Joog gtw.?é?@cj FMI &) @cgéagﬁfeeooé
3lQod0m 329 ca00égadsB: cvad§opé
FMI &) c98c§:a§§sp 399@9035 Craspﬁgmf)
39@5 mo%o& eemégo%cqogﬁo%aén R
aaé Memories Group & 3.;(\98395%@@005
eu?orgeaoo 3’]%05003 m@é:mé: [gso%
(ﬂaaéu §:og$sog$: ooé SPA .§;§: FMI §¢5Q
ocx“g:sa@é %:e@gcﬁsﬁ&@mégc@:@ﬁ C\P(S
c$:méoo§ﬁa@eo§:| o?gcu%:@aocf:qﬂo:oaé
ono§ @oERGsE RgBRgel
coo%eaaoo%écr?gcu%qp:l w(rgoéo?gcn%qp:
& C\P(SC%;:Q{IO:O% ‘?éeo']éze{p:go oooo§oﬁ
@:@5 eacy)égo%ec?oiméé: @&ﬂwéu

Oo (‘o (‘o < & QC o o] o o
R0R$30R$:0000  OOME&KCE  FdQ|o00:
Q _C Q Qo [N

D@D (NUS) ¢ 0:00:66:069§3% ©UM

93, (MBA) 03 q§30loopSi 292005 Chartered

Governance Institute (UK & Ireland) &\
N N co < N <

3200C:0C 0005008 Eso(ﬂoo@u

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

U Linn Myaing
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:
« First Myanmar Investment Public Company
Limited

Appointed on: 2 July 2012
Last Re-elected on: 5 August 2022
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U Than Aung
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:
« First Myanmar Investment Public Company
Limited

Appointed on: 31 July 1992
Last Re-elected on: 5 August 2022
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Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet
Independent Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:

« First Myanmar Investment Public Company
Limited

« Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited

Appointed on: 3 December 2013
Last Re-elected on: 5 August 2022

o']c;mrgeﬁogmeméog&oao% ooé FMI
& 39&35393%@@0080(}?05@3733]%080)0
ara@éJooQ ?§69 oméooé:c;emég}@: Audit
& Risk Management Committee §\<f: Nominating
Committee &\ ag})%mé: @507339_% oﬁwé
UMFCCI 3300E:@0 C{B@GO:(B(S’LC\%I @%eo%f:é
Ce9Q,0 Qe N NS Somi Qo °
qc,§.@[o§5femeﬂc§g @a,qe,eq,
N < 9 ﬁ N Q cQ, I\ < N
CloaslZhleleplo) @g@ocm@g,me,@mweu
N < c9Q, o o Q _¢ ﬁ <o
R0 ﬁ@c?‘?@,g;,eq,mg;oisooel 39[%4:
008 Qmogseaooco']eeocgl ®C:sCll g|Ce
oc Q < < N
(?C@L Payap oog:)a?cusﬁ ep_go’]eeoog§g
me§>3']$.5<°: Vancouver @L British Columbia
ooggo%cf)sﬁ Qcaf)o?:eaooé cﬂeeoog 3.;@«5
mo‘%ooésewaéaﬂogéﬁcﬂwén oﬁwé cﬁ
M§nga3ade olaBeoy UK &8¢ Brighton
Bie 85adgeq: Sgoranqdogé Rops
Q Q . Qo N QCQ o
3opeol Warwick @ngs 002009 UK §cC
Manchester ¢ 6310500030303 §3(8:1 qpe§
QC o Q ¢ ~ < N
§CC Marburg 00000 33@(\3@@3109030

Fellowship 093(7% qé]')lom:og@éo']oaéu

U Kyi Aye
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:
« First Myanmar Investment Public Company
Limited

Appointed on: 5 November 2015
Last Re-elected on: 31 January 2022
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Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobei
De Ayala
Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:
First Myanmar Investment Public Company

Limited (Myanmar)

Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd. (Singapore)

Globe Telecom, Inc. (Philippines)

ACEN Corporation (Philippines)

Ayala Land Logistics Holdings Corp
(Philippines)

Appointed on: 27 February 2023
Last Re-elected on: N.A.

Mr. Jaime Alfonso 339_5 Ayala emrgff)eq:ﬂ&sﬁ
Business Development .?(f: Digital Venture
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Mr. Alberto Macapinlac De Larrazabal
Alternate Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:
« First Myanmar Investment Public Company
Limited (Myanmar) - Alternate Director

Yoma Strategic Holdings Limited
(Singapore) - Alternate Director

Integrated Micro- Electronics, Inc.

(Philippines) - Director

+ ENEX Energy Corporation (Philippines) -
Director

+ Manila Water Company, Inc. (Philippines)

- Director

Appointed on: 27 February 2023
Last Re-elected on: N.A.
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Vv FMI Management

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman

U Tun Tun
Executive Director & Chief
Operating Officer

Daw Khin Yemon Win
Head of Finance

Daw Khin Yemon Win serves as the Head
of Finance and oversees the Company's
financial operations, including accounting
& financial reporting, taxation, budgeting
& planning, and corporate finance. She
joined Yoma Group in July 2013 as a
Finance Manager of StarCity and was
promoted to the Division Finance Manager
of Yoma Land in 2017. She then served as
a Financial Controller of Yoma Motors up
to June 2022. She has over 20 years of
experience in the finance and accounting
field with significant exposure to the Oil &
Gas, IT Services, Real Estate and Automotive
industries in Singapore and Myanmar. She
holds a Bachelor of Finance and Accounting
from the University of London. She is a
Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”) and a
member of CPA (Australia).

Vv Yoma Bank

U Ba Maung Sein
Chief Executive Officer

U Ba Maung Sein was appointed as
the Chief Executive Officer in March
2023. Prior to the appointment, he has
served in multiple roles including Chief
Operations Officer, Head of Branch
Banking, Head of Credit Risk, and Deputy
Head of Corporate Credit since joining
the Bank in 2014. His professional career
began as an underwriter and he also held
operation, finance and consulting positions
in insurance, retail, manufacturing, and
Information Technology sectors in the

USA and Canada. He holds a Bachelor of
Business Administration in Finance from
the University of Texas at Austin in the
USA and an MBA from McGill University
in Canada.

Mr. Anthony Tan
Chief Risk Officer

Mr. Anthony Tan is a seasoned international
risk executive who joined Yoma Bank as
Chief Risk Officer in June 2020. Anthony
brings a proven track record embedding
strategic risk management and exceptional
technical capability in Commercial
Banking franchises across Asia. Prior to
joining Yoma Bank, Anthony had over
17 years of experience working with the
Australia and New Zealand Group (ANZ),
a leading Australian Bank with significant
network throughout Asia Pacific and other
international financial centers. In those
roles, he was accountable for complex credit
arrangements such as project finance,
leveraged acquisition finance, export
finance and asset finance. In addition,
Anthony has held senior risk positions
in several markets including Australia,
Singapore, Philippines, Vietnam, and
Indonesia. Key assignments and projects
in these markets have included M&A due
diligence on target banks, integration of
acquired businesses, launching consumer
finance risk management in new markets
and leading country Basel implementation
programmes.

Daw Aye Aye Soe
Chief Internal Auditor

Daw Aye Aye Soe joined Yoma Bank as
a Branch Manager in 1999 and currently
serves as Chief Internal Auditor. Her
sound knowledge of the Myanmar banking
industry originates from her extensive
experience since 1991 in many banking
institutions including the Central Bank of
Myanmar, Myanmar Foreign Trade Bank,
and Myanmar Economic Bank. Prior to
joining Yoma Bank, she was the Chief
Accountant at First Private Bank for five
years. She graduated with a Bachelor of
Commerce in Banking from the Institute
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of Economics (Yangon) in 1991 and is a
Certified Public Accountant (CPA).

U Ba Thein Naing
Chief Technology Officer

U Ba Thein Naing has over 20 years of
experience in the IT industry with 15
years in Cybersecurity and 10 years in
Telecommunications. He was a Director,
CSO and Vice Presidentin various Singapore
companies including Singapore Computer
Systems, NCS and StarHub. His expertise
is in cybersecurity, software development,
systems integration, project management,
standards & frameworks, data protection,
business process conceptualization and
optimization. He served as the President
of QA Chapter for many years in Singapore
Computer Society. Ba holds a Master of
Technology (Software Engineering) from
NUS-ISS, Specialist Diploma in IT Security
from Nanyang Polytechnic and a Bachelor
of Engineering (Electronics) from Yangon
Institute of Technology.

Daw Khin Mu Mu Myint
Chief Consumer Banking Officer

Daw Khin Mu Mu Myint is a highly
accomplished senior executive with over
20 years of progressive experience in
commercial banking, strategic partnership,
corporate development, product
development, financial management,
corporate governance, and restructuring
and transformation for Fortune 100
and privately held companies in various
industries. As the Chief Consumer Banking
Officer, she leads a network of over
2,000 retail banking staff in a distributed
network of over 80 branches across
Myanmar. Before assuming her current
role, she served as the Chief Business
Banking Officer where she specialised in
driving Yoma Bank's strategy to become
the preferred bank for all businesses
in Myanmar. She was also involved in
founding Yoma Bank’s Commercial and
International Banking Division, including
the development of related products
and services, and successfully launched
multiple business units across the Bank.
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Prior to this, she held roles in several
significant US organisations such as
Freddie Mac, the World Bank, Citi Group,
JP Morgan and Prudential Insurance as well
as local conglomerate entities.

U Kyaw Khaing Win
Chief Financial Officer

U Kyaw Khaing Win joined Yoma Bank in
October 2017 as Deputy Head of Financial
Planning and Analysis before assuming
his current position as the Chief Financial
Officer. Prior to joining Yoma Bank, he had
over 10 years of experience in Accounting,
Auditing and FP&A with local companies
and multinational corporations. During his
time with Yoma Bank, he has contributed
to the structuring of the Financial
Planning and Analysis (FP&A) department,
supporting the growth of the business
units, improving of internal controls, and
serving as secretary of the Asset-Liability
Committee (ALCO). He holds a Master of
Business Administration from University
of Northampton and a B.Sc (Hons) in
Applied Accounting from Oxford Brookes
University.

Mr. Loh Ngik Ming
Chief Business Banking Officer

Mr. Loh Ngik Ming @ Gerald has over
20 years of Commercial and Corporate
Banking experience in client relationships,
credit management, and commercial
transactions for both listed and unlisted
corporates in diversified sectors during his
time with Malaysian banks, New Zealand
banks and a Singaporean bank operating
in China. In addition to successfully leading
and delivering business objectives, Gerald
also led and strengthened the critical
business capacities of the team he worked
with. Before joining Yoma Bank, he was
the Head of Corporate Banking China
& Trade Finance at CIMB Bank Berhad
in China. As the Chief Business Banking
Officer, he oversees Corporate Banking,
SME Banking, Working Capital Solutions,
Commercial Bancassurance and Lending
Support at the Bank. He holds a Bachelor of
Commerce & Administration (Accountancy
& Information Systems) from Victoria
University of Wellington and Graduate
Diploma in Business (Corporate Finance)
from Auckland University of Technology,
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New Zealand. He is credit-certified by
Moody's Omega Performance and a
Certified Trade Finance Professional.

Daw Nang Khin Khin Gyi
Chief People Officer

Daw Nang Khin Khin Gyi, currently the
Chief People Officer, joined Yoma Bank
in September 2016 after more than a
decade of working in United States as an
Internal Auditor. She held the position of
Global Corporate Internal Audit Manager
for Alere Inc. in Massachusetts and also
worked for Thermo Fisher Scientific, a
Fortune 500 Company headquartered in
Waltham, Massachusetts. With extensive
experience in Internal Controls COSO
Framework, Enterprise Risk Management,
Financial Auditing, Compliance Auditing,
Information Technology Auditing, Process
Improvement, and Business Optimization,
she brings a wealth of expertise to Yoma
Bank. She holds a Master's degree in
International Economics and Finance
from Brandeis University, Massachusetts,
a B.S. in Management/ Finance from the
University of Massachusetts, and an A.A. in
Liberal Arts from Bard College at Simon’s
Rock, Massachusetts. In addition, she is
a Certified Internal Auditor and Certified
Fraud Examiner.

Daw Ohnmar Sein
Senior Advisor and Chief
Compliance Officer

Daw Ohnmar Sein joined Yoma Bank in
September 2014 and currently serves
as Senior Advisor and Chief Compliance
Officer. Prior to Yoma Bank, she was part
of the Research and Training Department
of the CBM, which she first joined as
a Statistical Assistant and where she
remained for over 38 years until her
retirement in 2010. While working at
the CBM, she was seconded to serve as
Senior Advisor to the Executive Director
of the SEAV Group at the IMF for a two-
year term (1996-1998). She holds a
B.Econ (MS) degree from the Institute of
Economics. She has, over the years, written
several research papers, given lectures at
various institutions including the Institute
of Economics and the National Defense
College, and represented the CBM at
local and international conferences and
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forums. She was also a member of the
drafting committee that worked on the
2002 Control of Money Laundering Law.

U Thein Htoot
Chief Products and Transformation
Officer

U Thein Htoot @ Robin is professionally
certified in ITIL® Expert | ITILA® MP | Lean
Six Sigma Black Belt (ICBB™) | PMP® | PSM
| | MCPD | MCTS | MCSD | Linux Specialist
and has over 22+ years of Technical Lead/
Software Solution Architect/ IT Leadership
roles exposed to functional domains such
as Industrial Automation, Health Care,
Banking, Customize WWW Products,
Education, RFID, Finance and Government
Projects in Myanmar, Singapore, Indonesia,
and Malaysia. He is experienced in
managing large cost centers worth USD
2 to 6 milion and was responsible for
Projects and Maintenance of Applications
with team members composed of more
than 140 headcounts. He managed and
supervised business operations and Big
Data Process across sites in 159 countries
and support 5000+ users by 24/7 with 90+
team members in both onsite and offshore
team in Operation, Billing and Accounting.
He holds dual degrees in Bachelor of
Science (Hons) in Computer Engineering
and Bachelor of Engineering in Electronics.

Daw Zin Mie
Corporate Secretary

Daw Zin Mie joined Yoma Bank in June
2014 and is currently serving as the
Corporate Secretary. She previously led
the Treasury department of the Bank.
Prior to Yoma Bank, she worked at Credit
Suisse and Bank of America Merrill Lynch
in London within the Middle Office and
Product Control divisions specialising
in Prime Services and Equity Structured
Financing products for over 8 years.
Born and raised in Myanmar until her
early teens, Daw Zin Mie graduated from
Warwick University in UK with a Bachelor’s
degree in Mathematics, Operational
Research, Statistics and Economic. She is
a Chartered Management Accountant as
well as a Certified Anti-Money Laundering
Specialist.
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¥ Yoma Land

Goh Boon Leong
Financial Controller

Mr. Goh Boon Leong has been with Yoma
Land since June 2017, where he was
appointed as the Financial Controller of the
Yoma Central Project. He was appointed
as a member of the Management Team
in StarCity since January 2020. Prior to
joining Yoma Group, he has around 25
years of work experience in multiple
countries around the world in both finance
and operations. He is a graduate from
Deakin University in Australia, majoring in
Accounting and Management.

Nwe Nwe Tun
Project Director

Ms. Nwe Nwe Tun was appointed as a
Project Director of Yoma Land in May 2017.
She joined Yoma Group since Oct 2015 as
a Project Manager. Prior to joining Yoma
Group, she worked at an international
consultancy firm on project development
for multi purposed projects in Singapore
for 13 years. She holds a Bachelor's
degree in Civil Engineering from Mandalay
Technological University and then obtained
a Master of Science in Civil Engineering
from Nanyang Technological University,
Singapore. She also obtained an MBA in
International Management from Geneva
Business School in 2019.

Vv Pun Hlaing Hospitals

Dr Gershu Chandy Paul
Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Gershu Chandy Paul is the Chief
Executive Officer of PHH since 2014. Dr.
Gershu worked at Southland District Health
Board New Zealand for over a decade and
was the Chief Executive Officer for the
last six years of his tenure. Thereafter, he
was the President Director/CEO of Siloam
Hospitals Indonesia for a decade and
successfully listed it on the Jakarta Stock
Exchange in September 2013 for a market
capitalisation of USD 1.8 billion. He has

Board of Directors

Key Management

over 35 years of international healthcare
experience at the executive level. Dr.
Gershu received his Bachelor of Medicine,
Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) from the
University of Bangalore, India in 1986, and
a Master of Business Administration from
the University of Otago, New Zealand in
1997. In addition, Dr. Gershu graduated as
a Fellow of the Royal Australasian Medical
College of Administrators ("FRACMA"),
Melbourne, Australia in 2006, and he is
also a Fellow of the Australasian College
of Health Service Management.

Dr. Thet Thet Khine
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Thet Thet Khine joined PHH as a
Microbiologist and Pharmacy Manager
in 2005. In 2010, she was appointed as
the Medical Business Director. In 2014,
she was promoted to be the Managing
Director (Operations) at PHH to oversee
hospital operations including building
the hospital’'s nationwide network. She
received a Bachelor of Medicine, Bachelor
of Surgery (MBBS) in 1993, and a Masters
in Microbiology in 2003 from the Institute
of Medicine (1) in Yangon.

Ms. Tan Guat Ngoh
Chief Financial Officer

Ms. Tan Guat Ngoh joined PHH in April
2019 as the Chief Financial Officer. She is
responsible for PHH's overall financial and
capital resources management. Ms. Tan
possesses over 30 years of experience in
audit, finance and accounting industries
derived from working in a Big Four public
accounting firm in Singapore, and both
public-listed and private companies across
various industries including energy utility,
real estate and healthcare. Ms. Tan is a
graduate of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (UK) and a member
of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants ("ISCA").
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Vv Memories Group

Mr. Cyrus Pun
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Cyrus Pun started his career working
in the export industry in China and worked
for Hutchison Port Holdings’ South China
Commercial Division. He joined SPA
in 2007 and assumed a leading role in
the development of a mixed-use real
estate project in Dalian, China. Prior to
his appointment as the Chief Executive
Officer of Memories Group, he was an
Executive Director of Yoma Strategic and
headed its real estate business from
2012 to 2018. During this time, he led
several developments including some of
Myanmar’s largest and most prominent real
estate projects. He was also responsible
for bringing in international partners
and investors for these projects. His last
venture as the Head of Real Estate of Yoma
Strategic was to initiate its expansion into
the affordable housing segment. He was
also a Non-Executive Non-Independent
Director of Yoma Strategic from 2019 to
2021. He received a Bachelor's degree in
Economics from the London School of
Economics in 2003 and an Executive M.B.A.
from Kellogg-HKUST in 2019.

U Myo Myint Aung
Financial Controller

U Myo Myint Aung is currently the Financial
Controller of Memories Group. Prior to
joining Memories Group, he worked as
the Head of Finance for Myanmar Thilawa
SEZ Holdings Public Co. Ltd. (“MTSH") and
was the Chief Financial Officer of Myanmar
Japan Thilawa Limited (“MJT"), where he
oversaw the financial and accounting
operations, budgeting, cash management,
tax, corporate reporting and compliance,
and internal controls of both MTSH and
MJT. He has over 10 years of experience in
the finance and accounting field. He holds
a Bachelor's degree in Applied Accounting
from Oxford Brookes University. He is
a member of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants (“ISCA") and a
Fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (“ACCA").
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U Yan Naing Soe
Director of CEO Office

U Yan Naing Soe has 14 years of experience
both in overseas and Myanmar working
in marine, fast-moving consumer goods
("FMCG"), real estate and distribution
industries. He was raised and educated in
Myanmar. He holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Business Administration. He started his
career in 2007 in Singapore as a Human
Resources professional and further studied
for Human Capital Management from the
Singapore Human Resources Institute.
He worked for 7 years in Singapore and
returned to Myanmar in 2013 to work
with the Yoma Group. Prior to joining to
Memories Group, he worked at various
leadership roles in Human Resources
departments at SPA, Yoma Land and the
wider Yoma Group’s Human Resources.

Vv FMIDecaux

Mr. Arnaud De Ruffray
Managing Director

Mr. Arnaud de Ruffray is currently the
Managing Director of FMIDecaux and
JCDecaux Thailand. He has worked for eight
years at JCDecaux. In 2017, as Regional
Project Manager in China, he implemented
iconic projects in Guangzhou Baiyun
international airport, and was responsible
for the safety process for design and
installation of Asia projects. Since January
2021, he has been serving as the Managing
Director of FMIDecaux. He graduated from
Ecole Polytechnique in France.
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Performance
Review

Seizing New Horizons
With a firm commitment to positioning itself for the future,
FMI embarked on a journey to identify and seize new horizons.
The Company explored emerging sectors, sought strategic
partnerships, and embraced disruptive technologies. By
diversifying its portfolio and expanding into promising
industries, FMI unlocked new avenues for growth, laying the
foundation for a more resilient and prosperous future.




Milestones

Jun 2023 pHH successfully completed 2701
open-heart surgeries

May 2023 The Launch of the 15t Tower (TC1) of
City Loft West.

* Yoma Bank acquired its Headquarters buildings
and land

Mar 2023 ° The Launch of the 10™ Tower (CL10) of City Loft.

+ Digital Innovation: Launched the HEAL Mobile App
to integrating technology with healthcare.

+ Completion of Project BRIGHT - Successfully
completed the significant infrastructure upgrade at
our flagship hospital at Hlaing Tharyar.

+ The Launch of City Villa Extension with 77
Jan 2023 villas set on 6.7 acres of land.
l + FMI acquired 16.66% shares in MM2022

following the delisting of Memories Group

+ Customer Care Center (CCC) achieved and delivered One
Stop Service (OSS) supplied to Yoma Bank customers
+ HEAL Thingangyun Clinic and Lab Launch

Oct 2022

The Launch of City Villa with 130 villas Aug 2022
set on 10.72 acres of land.

First ICU and ED in Taunggyi: Introduced the first ~ Apr 2022
comprehensive acute care services in Shan State.
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Milestones - Group Financial Snapshot - Financial Services - Healthcare

Group Financial

Snapshot

MMK 339.6 Bn

12-MONTH REVENUE
12-month revenue was mainly driven

by income growth in Financial and
Healthcare Segments.

MMK 15.2 Bn

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Mainly due to the increased in overall revenue and
translation gains while controlling the operating
costs.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

MMK 4.1 Bn

Real Estate « Tourism

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Driven by financial services revenue across all income

Strategic Investment

segments when a result of the substantial cost controls
imposed by the Group.

35.3%

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Drop in GP margin mainly due to higher direct costs
from Healthcare Services when Financial Services

manage higher cost of fund.

FY 2023* Fyzozg** % Change

Audited Unaudited
Statement of Income (MMK ‘000)
Revenue 339,593,407 283,093,569 20.0%
Gross Profit 119,734,442 126,396,183 (5.3%)
Net Profit 4,133,004 236,503 1647.5%
Total Comprehensive Income 15,208,546 (7,645,885) 298.9%
Net Profit attributable to Equity Holders (701,769) 2,169,433 (132.3%)
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (MMK) 21 66 (131.8%)
Statement of Financial Position (MMK ‘000) As at 31-Mar-2023 As at 31-Mar-2022 % Change
Total Assets 4,186,260,866 3,419,973,957 22.4%
Total Liabilities 3,674,322,104 2,915,850,077 (26.0%)
Total Equity 511,938,762 504,123,880 1.6%
Net Asset value per share (MMK) 12,370%%* 12,181*%%* 1.6%
Financial Indicators
Gross Profit Margin (%) 35.3% 44.6% (20.9%)
Net Profit Margin (%) 1.2% 0.1% 1100.0%
Net Gearing (%) 24.1% 19.4% 24.2%

* Audited financial report covering the financial year FY 2023 (1 Apr'22 to 31 Mar'23).

** Unaudited financial report covering 12-month combined period from 1 Apr'21 to 31 Mar'22.
*** Net Asset Value Per Share is calculated by dividing the total net asset value of the Company by the number of outstanding shares (inclusive of
convertible shares under Restructured Loan Agreement)
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REVENUE

MMK billion
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1 FYSep 2019 is the reporting period of six months between 1 April 2019 and 30 September 2019.
2 FYMar 2022 is the reporting period of six months between 1 October 2021 and 31 March 2022.
3 Dividend Income and Rental Income collectively made up less than 1% of total sources of income.
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FMI GROUP'S OVERVIEW

As the economy turned positive in its growth when compared
against the previous comparative period of combined 12 months
(1 Apr 21 to 30 Sep 21 and 1 Oct 21 to 31 Mar 22, ("FY 2022")),
the Group's businesses have been moving towards capturing
business opportunities while keeping continuous operational
enhancement. The Group's revenue increased by 20% to MMK
339.6 Bn in FY 2023, in which 82% of total revenue MMK 279.0 Bn
is contributed by the financial services segment as all sources of
its income streams performed better than FY 2022. The healthcare
segment also contributed 18% of total revenue sum up to MMK 60.5
Bn, primarily from core organic hospital operations made up of
clinical function and ancillary services. At the same time, Pun Hlaing
Hospitals are expanding their activities on developing additional
emerging healthcare units, emerging HEAL Laboratory and a new
digital platform “HEAL App".

The Group's gross profit reduced by 5.3% despite improvements
in overall revenue which was driven by the higher costs of funds
in connection with the growth in customer deposit balance from
Yoma Bank together with the increase in direct costs from Pun
Hlaing Hospitals.

Given the fact that all segments had to endure inflated prices,
the Group's operating expenses increased this year reflecting the
cost-of-living allowances and general commodity prices increase.
However, positive recognition of NPL provisions through excellent
loan recovery from Yoma Bank resulted in a 20% reduction of the
Group's total operating expenses against the previous comparative
FY 2022.

Even though a lower share of profit from associates and joint venture
was obtained, the Group’s net profit significantly outperformed
during FY 2023 and attained MMK 4.1 Bn compared against FY 2022
reported profit of MMK 0.2 Bn for the aforementioned reasons.

The Group's total assets increased by 22.4% to MMK 4.2 Tn primarily
as a result of the increased investment in the Bank’s loans, treasury
portfolios and the acquisition of head office property at StarCity.
Total liabilities of the Group increased by 26.0% resulting from
the larger customer deposit balance enforced by the Bank's Flexi
products.

The Group's equity also increased by 1.6%, primarily attributable

to the increase in equity reserve and decrease in non-controlling
interest for Yoma Bank.

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

Healthcare - RealEstate + Tourism - Strategic Investment
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Financial
Services

Despite the challenges faced, Yoma Bank has remained resilient
and continues to thrive in the ever-evolving banking landscape.
This success can be attributed to the Bank's proactive measures
and strategic initiatives aimed at improving customer experience,
expanding services, and ensuring regulatory compliance. These
initiatives reflect Yoma Bank's commitment to staying ahead of
the curve and delivering exceptional services to its customers.

YOMA BANK

Working towards bringing innovation,
and uplifting capability to serve our

customers better
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Delegation of credit authority
to front line staff

Following the uplift of credit policy,
processes, training, and 2nd line oversight,
we have increased credit delegations to 1st
line to improve customer experience whilst
maintaining expectation of good quality
new loans. This is a strategic decision that
will improve the customer experience by
providing quicker credit decisions and
increased responsiveness. Yoma Bank
can leverage the skills and expertise of
front-line staff to enhance the overall
credit experience for customers while
safeguarding the Bank's credit portfolio
by striking the right balance between
empowerment and risk management.

Customer Care Center

Yoma Bank established an in-house
Customer Care Center ("CCC") to replace
an outsourced call center and started
providing customised support to our
customers as well as facilitating banking
activities through One Stop Service. The
establishment of such a service changes
the way the customers interact with
us as well as providing customers with
comprehensive assistance, enhanced
convenience, and personalised support.
We believe this type of service represents
a crucial element in meeting the ever-
growing expectations of customers in a
rapidly changing digital landscape.

Financial Services

Healthcare

Border Trade Initiation

Yoma Bank introduced the direct
settlement of Chinese Yuan (“CNY”) and
Thai Baht (“THB") to promote border
trade. Border trade plays an important
role in promoting economic growth
and regional integration together with
expanding business opportunities for
our customers. As the country continues
to expand its trade horizons, the direct
settlement system represents a strategic
move that aligns with the country's
aspirations for increased trade connectivity
and engagement in the region.

Bancassurance expansion

Together with the Bank's strategic partner
Prudential Myanmar, Yoma Bank rolled
out Bancassurance products to 71% of the
branch network successfully. By seamlessly
integrating insurance products into our
offerings, the Bank can better serve our
customers' diverse financial needs and
establish long-lasting relationships built
on trust, convenience, and value.

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

Real Estate

Tourism Strategic Investment

Anti-Money Laundering and
Combating the Financing of
Terrorism (“AML/CFT") uplift

Yoma Bank launched an automatic
analytics engine successfully as part of
the AML/CFT Uplift Program. By leveraging
advanced analytics technologies, we
can effectively combat financial crimes,
mitigate risks, and maintain a robust AML/
CFT framework, ultimately protecting our
customers, the financial system, and our
own integrity.

Yoma Bank has embraced transformative
changes, empowering front-line staff,
enhancing customer support, promoting
border trade, expanding bancassurance
offerings, and strengthening its AML/
CFT framework. These efforts highlight
the bank's commitment to innovation,
customer-centricity, and sustainable
growth, solidifying its position as a
trusted financial institution in Myanmar
while delivering sustainable value to its
stakeholders.

31



=<
mgpocq:s%&l)ogcaooSﬁmgp

%283}@83\)&? 8«§G®T3f§r_)3@(§ qéa%éqewgcoé: GQQéQE)OS 0%300(78 Q%JOZ?.(:E emcﬂume@pog QP&G@OOE?({P:G[:M&@Q%O]OD&CII
Q%C\P(SG@OOE?({P:O% @é@é:@é %ZGO’)CUSOD@C 39({[3300(‘7%
33008%;@:?@061«%?& Cléﬂgﬁ 3??3@3%({[333903 %2@33@0}0638%60&0
O%GGOO&S?QPS 602398%861$ C\P(SG@O’DEG§OD&§ %:emoﬁsﬁ

@[:msm:ogogﬁo% GOTC%EGO)O]DD@QII

e(&:cdegeomn daddcsimaard $8EqpS§gn(ss cmn(elgn
00500053005 aqod§cloopdi  Beand(gEegpiaopS  B:gopepiel
Be@ (303 [gEonieoia s 0§ea0nlagp:ad oBigie0:dasss opdig)d:
0SSP0 e20gPge 05§06 §60q§3R05 (BorErdesnie

Delegation of credit authority to front line staff: Credit Policy
odcsiodgp: caroyéesé 303we(grad(3:[ndeq: 3S:03
3202 005q2(8:20p5e§005 ad:gangpPiaRed 38eamigseon
Beopm(0dgp: c0:&Eq§ Credit Delegation gpzod vcoec3E:ad
B:[6E B 500 egEenie BmdgP:el BapSIEag:030pd: B s
ooo:%f:a}ohloaén gﬁfﬁ%@%m%eo&o credit decision §§ o?[g>.§%c°:
GORIGE a9:gopaprann: 0§ssontyenidias Boumeyomeldro
&5:(9053)0503 39053(8¢: (§dulaondi §iemadonpd eqons:
o§cobigpzel mapSagtigpisl ogdiogeqpiad @ad(gl
(B:0d:gopgpsen credit meozm(303 J8comigsancoas
62008 gaB&E(B: el 0Cega§eod 0: coraie(@aad(gpd
B8:5¢ c0p[031000880008 [Gowgoqp:o? 8993¢ $83(0310p¢
2 05gea0E pSeant 3l (eé madel ey egead onmgudeos

8868 BS0pS

lo]

=

38eomnl:gdeo
o§cs0o8geu:8id
s08§:008080980&¢
[§S0oE8EgSqp:end
ap8es0o8qnd §eoooomad

)

YOMA BANK

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2023

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

OUR LEADERSHIP

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

OUR GENERATING VALUE

FINANCIAL REPORT

Milestones - Group Financial Snapshot

Customer Care Center: §eoonadoopd (Q€
0¢ Q.%:C\)(f)ée@@m:eo:oo@f call center
qp:03  Bon:adiaé ooadozd: Customer
Care Center (CCC) 03 0onE3[3C:(gS 2329
2 gpzel Bm6510530305 0seanegp:
60:320p5m(0¢ madpbe: caonégode
qusr,;ogogo'] One Stop Service o‘%Gaooéﬁf
3 0E0la0pSi Bo§esonleapie(oné
2d:ga0gpas nadm(0: 005800dep:
Bl e[gpl:adensanpim(0E  adigangp:
5 B3RS0 opeBgapy GBoaotels
egpegpudmegpisé 63:9:8el 3
25053305 oppdeconaddeep:ad cos
26:8E¢0 (96 0lo0pSi Ba3eamn 0§esonle
20p5 900503056(gré:0de56200 36qB00S
$05005¢ 20:82gP:El 03:00056§ 6200 egp
coglodgp:ad (6pda0pSic0:dEadepSup
of?@écﬂooén

Border Trade Initiation: %:eoocvgoaé .§>05®c°>
N < Qo N C o¢c _ ¢ < <
p§2305903 [gEonde0:§iqs coqodugdeg
(CNY) §.§: o%f::ooorgeg (THB) o%.§<°: 0%0’35{105

N < N c, 9 cQo_¢ N
By eapig|a:od 0omE8odondeo:
s0loopSi §uSedmm§oguSeonps  &&&el
8:gpiea:03:000508¢ e320038: c0lEionse
Qo C N < Q N
003 [gSonCepapé meq:(d:comn 2a4:
m@e clofesaopdm(ol 883l ad:gan
gP:30R0d  Brgoieq:agiamardiadaops:
(S BN oc < QCQ o C Q
B:gle0daloopdi &€&e e S:goiaq
opza0§seapionds 0500503 0505
gELogémwé§§ 3g| Direct Settlement
System 20p5 &&&el [gEoraSandEeomn
m§Rudeq: §odmodegpial e3naal:
o _¢c < < < o 09
§ 0300565008 gadegp:ad  33gp:(0nzan
60§ §3R0> GLUPY||UP e ca00Egad

ﬁmé?&)é: @9080']a)éll

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

Financial Services . Healthcare - Real Estate -« Tourism

Bancassurance  expansion: oo @l
o _C N < .

QUMDY UM emom@@em Prudential
Myanmar .§cf: R:eohlf::sj %:eo’)oﬁwé
Bancassurance products qp:o% oocvgéqp:eﬁ
0, o _0 c o N N ocC N
Q0 % IO GEPOEIOC CPODGOIECT
o%oén meéoqo%o;u.%e{p:.?f: of§eacn€5f
o 00 O N N N N N
SleXea) eeoaeﬁ 0§G300CHEPIORC COPIARC:
N ¢ O N ¢ 00 O Q
coo@c:@g HClepleiskebleb) eeoasﬁ Slerkey
oé@n:cgj(rgﬁem o,'?:@oﬁqp:sﬁ opteselalH
oc Q C N . o < Ca °Oi‘o
SPCEP Q320MNQP: [gsp_gao@,eo,‘%CQ
2000m O?@éﬁfl Cfaaoée[g)gf §<f: m%(‘%:ooo:
ﬁo%a’aeoTs@e@éem mmﬂé@n 00580

quo%coéz méeacn(rg%&p @ocao']aoéu

AML/CFT uplift: %:eoocvgooé 39(\339@&}1003
oéeao:ogo%qcf)eo:emo@é (Automatic
analytics engine) ooé?(r% AML/CFT Uplift
Program &\ ooé%o%méféé: mé?aaee%@f:
NN < CQ < <
oooc:gcﬂoo@u eam@@gm:em 006809
< o o oc
§3:0p3qP:0p 30:qlel) Pgoea:HEep
< o o _¢COo ¢ < N
@o)ﬁfqp:o? or?m:t:me@glc:@czl @oao..ﬁ,o
< o < < N
Pz PePUSepiot  eoqpspdieofgiad
emoé:g.§> ogotﬂeooo AML/CFT framwork 0"1))

Strategic Investment

B§:038:000:(38:(0¢ 883 &N0d:gopep:!
ngneqda icsiosdgpist madel
a533090030] o aguSen:den [gdclaondi

[z®)

Q N < < N o C o
Qromadoopd  e[goéicdpepiad  cw0dd
Qo < < < < <
Ead:[38:  eqon§io§cobigpiel  gbs
C N N N N o N N
ca00&qpS(gEoneoz(glsl 2d:gapgpiaoz0d
< N (o] Qo N N c _<Q < N
0§65008¢03 B:(gE[3S: s0S0bmE 2305
o < N N N o < <
cq:03 [9€nE[eCs madamedosesonis
gp: 03:q)a¢:a¢  AML/CFT peoméal 33

N N N N N o]
322:60DD0CiQ006320C O{)OG%OC@C?: SQQ)ﬂ

20p50303 avSeaonEauloopdi

§es028g0dqadqpio? (3p39id:(3¢ Bogl
s0§:0dg1 cvd80Rpsd eqqed
0p5038E(@ean  SBronademogad  d
ca00Ee§eo0 M EN (B:00:330:0005¢03
cologéeodloopdi =0 madel clodond
20050930:09:30305 6qqpoogé 0p50d
8E[8eam 0§8:qp:ad cudeanneoiagod
8B Bieoticops cEpdbodgmenns
cgeqe(mzeq:m@mmond:ndem(ed $E(9

QO eoogcoogqéméogo:gp @9080']3\)@"




v Ay

=(pUN HLAING
HOSPITALS

=

Care with Compassion

for the Nation

Healthcare

In the past year, Pun Hlaing Hospitals ("PHH") have made
remarkable progress in its growth and innovation. PHH have
focused on expanding its presence by establishing three hospitals
and five clinics throughout Myanmar, allowing us to serve a wider
population and meet their healthcare needs. This expansion
has positioned PHH as a trusted provider of safe, high-quality,
accessible, and affordable healthcare services in the country.
Additionally, PHH have embraced digital health solutions and
leveraged technology to enhance PHH’s service offerings,
ensuring that patients receive the most advanced and efficient
care possible. PHH's commitment to improving healthcare in
Myanmar remains unwavering as PHH continue to strive for
excellence and make a positive impact on the lives of our patients.
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Enhancing Patient Experience

PHH have made considerable
advancements in infrastructure through
the completion of Project BRIGHT at the
flagship hospital at Hlaing Tharyar. The
upgrades have revitalised the brand,
modernised PHH's facilities, and enhanced
patient experiences. This is evident in
the roll-out of phase 2 of the Queue
Management System (QMS) and the
modernisation of PHH's Taunggyi Hospital
facility.

Platform for Smart Health
Community and Advancing
Tertiary Care

PHH’s Emerging Health ("EH") vertical
expanded its reach with the establishment
of Pun Hlaing Family clinics in Thingangyun,
laying the foundation for building smart
health communities in the next five years.

PHH saw a shift towards more advanced
and specialised medical procedures this
year, demonstrated by the successful
completion of 270 open-heart surgeries
at Hlaing Tharyar hospital. PHH also
launched a renal transplant programme,
performing transplants for 13 pairs, further

broadening our treatment range. PHH's
efforts to create access and reach through
'Hub & Spoke' model materialised with the
establishment of haemodialysis services
in Taunggyi and North Dagon, coupled
with the launch of the Intensive Care Unit
(ICU) and Emergency Department (ED) in
Taunggyi.

The EH vertical hit a significant milestone
with the launch of the Histopathology
laboratory at Hlaing Tharyar, marking the
inauguration of the first real-time frozen
section service in Myanmar.

Digitalisation and Automation
to Create a Virtual
Community

PHH continued their commitment to
digital innovation, leading to an upsurge
in Telehealth services post-COVID-19, with
full-time doctors consulting over 40,000
patients. The launch of the HEAL Mobile
App further attests to this commitment,
gaining over 1,300 active corporate users
with their personal health profile available
to them whenever and wherever the
information is needed. PHH are aiming
for a public launch of the HEAL mobile App
next quarter.

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

Financial Services -+ Healthcare - RealEstate - Tourism -« Strategic Investment

Our Purpose

Looking ahead to the upcoming year,
PHH remain dedicated to the core values
of delivering quality and affordable
healthcare services. PHH's primary
goal is to continue expanding its reach,
innovating in healthcare practices, and
solidifying our position as the trusted
healthcare provider in Myanmar. PHH
are committed to investing in the latest
medical technologies, fostering a skilled
and compassionate workforce, and
enhancing patient experiences. By staying
true to the commitment, PHH aim to make
a significant contribution to the healthcare
sector, improving access to quality
healthcare for all individuals in Myanmar.
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Real Estate

Despite the challenges faced in the real estate market due to the
pandemic and economic conditions, Yoma Land remains resilient
YOMA and adaptive. The Company continuously evaluates market trends
LAND and consumer preferences to ensure its developments meet the
evolving needs of homebuyers and investors. Through strategic
planning and effective execution, Yoma Land delivers projects that
contribute to the long-term growth and development of Myanmar's
real estate sector.

Yoma Land focuses on three large-scale residential property
developments that have a significant impact on Yangon's urban

landscape.

Building Better Communities for

the Future of Myanmar

:‘. R staRc PADAUK °
sTARCITY®  QiTY LOFT STARVILLASE $’ Papavk  QITY LOFT
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CENTRAL
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StarCity

StarCity has been experiencing significant
growth and demand in its residential
offerings, leading to the launch of new
towers and projects. In December 2022, the
9th Tower (CL9) of City Loft was launched,
followed by the launch of the 10th Tower
(CL10) of City Loft in March 2023. Each
tower comprises 140 units, reflecting the
strong demand for modern urban living in
Yangon.

Recognising the increasing interest in
landed homes, StarCity introduced the City
Villa project in August 2022. This project
consists of 130 villas, with 128 standard
villas and 2 premium villas. The response
from buyers has been positive, with a total
of 126 units of City Villa sold as of May
2023.

To meet the sudden surge in demand from
the community, StarCity launched the sale
of City Villa Extension in January 2023. This
extension project offers 77 villas, including
67 standard villas and 10 premium villas.
By May 2023, 46 units of City Villa Extension
were already sold, indicating the strong
interest in this new offering.

With City Loft & Star Villas being handed
over to owners and residents moving in,
StarCity now houses over 5,933 residents.

Financial Services . Healthcare - Real Estate

City Loft West

Yoma Land recently launched its newest
project, City Loft West Phase 1, in May 2023.
This strategically located development
is situated in the bustling economic hub
of Hlaing Tharyar Township, offering
convenient access to various amenities
and business opportunities. City Loft West
Phase 1 encompasses a vast area of 10.4
acres and features seven towers, which
collectively house a total of 1,814 units.

The launch of City Loft West Phase 1 begins
with the sale of its first tower, TC1, in May
2023. This tower comprises 247 units,
providing prospective buyers with a diverse
range of options to choose from. The units
in TC1 are designed to offer a comfortable
and contemporary living experience,
with four distinct room types available to
accommodate various preferences and
needs.

The successful sales of units in City Villa,
City Loft and City Loft West projects
demonstrate the market's confidence
in Yoma Land’s developments and the
appeal of their residential offerings. The
Company's ability to respond quickly to
market demands and provide a diverse
range of housing options has contributed
to its continued success in the real estate
market.

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

Strategic Investment
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Memories

GROUP

Discover Myanmar’s
Enchanting Beauty With

Memories Group

Tourism

Memories (2022) Pte. Limited (together with its subsidiaries, the "Memories
Group") has undergone a transformative journey, transitioning from an
integrated tourism company to a vibrant hospitality and lifestyle brand.
With a steadfast strategic focus, Memories Group is determined to expand
its market share within the domestic market across our various business
sectors. In line with this vision, Memories Group has established a dedicated
sector that caters specifically to the recreational consumer market, placing
a special emphasis on lifestyle and events. Building strong relationships
with local corporate entities has been a cornerstone of the approach, as we
recognise the importance of collaboration and partnership in generating
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sustainable demand. Regardless of
external circumstances, Memories Group
remains committed to growth, catering to
the essential needs of individuals seeking
sustenance, leisure, travel, and enjoyment.
We are dedicated to providing exceptional
experiences that enhance the lives of our
customers and create lasting memories.

Memories F&B

The Management of Memories Group
has also ventured into new food and
beverage (“F&B") outlets and restaurant
management services, overseen by its F&B
management team. Current F&B outlets
that in operation are as follows:

Locale - Locale is a hip and trendy
mid-town health food establishment
specializing in ‘feel good’ bowls, wraps, and
coffee. The space is also a place of learning
and community, hosting learning activities
and workshops.

The Bleachers - This Sports Bar and Bistro
is located at the StarCity Sports Club (SCSC)
- a state-of-the-art sports facility serving
the population of StarCity, Thanlyin. SCSC
serves as a prominent events space and
sporting arena for the greater Yangon
region with The Bleachers offering fusion
fare in Burmese, Indian, Chinese, and
Western styles along with soft and hard
drinks to visiting athletes, gym enthusiasts,
local residents, and for SCSC events.

Atlas - Atlas is a rooftop bar and
lounge located at the heart of Yangon
and overlooks the Yangon River and
the Shwedagon Pagoda. Atlas offers
360-degree views of the Yangon skyline and
is known for its award-winning signature
cocktails. The rooftop establishment
operates only during the summer and dry
seasons, closing for the monsoon rains
every May until October.

In addition to the above-mentioned F&B
outlets, Memories Group also operates
three more F&B outlets located in the Pun
Hlaing Estate in Hlaing Tharyar, Yangon.

Horizons Restaurant - Horizons is a
high-end establishment that caters to the
Pun Hlaing Golf Club and its golfer's food
and beverage needs. The establishment
is replete with a 10-seater noodle bar,
outdoor and indoor dining, offering a wide
range of cuisines.

Oasis Bistro - Oasis offers Western and
Asian fare to those frequenting the Pun
Hlaing Country Club and its accompanying
pool, gym, and tennis facilities as well as to
Pun Hlaing Estate residents.

Bamboo House - this quaint, roadside,
semi-outdoor outlet serves finger foods,
salads, and Southeast Asian fare along with
drinks and beer. Bamboo House's quick-
serve, casual dining setting is a relaxed and
nature-adjacent option compared to other
offerings around the Pun Hlaing Estate.

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future
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With its integrated tourism platform,
experienced team, international network,
and well-established brands, Memories
Group continues to elevate the tourism
industry in Myanmar. The company's
commitment to quality and innovation sets
it apart, offering travelers unforgettable
experiences and contributing to the growth
and development of the tourism sector in
Myanmar.
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Strategic
Investment

FMIDecaux Company Limited (“FMIDecaux”) is a joint venture between FMI and JCDecaux
Asia(S) Pte Ltd. (“JCDecaux"), with ownership stakes at 40% and 60% respectively. This joint
venture combines JCDecaux's expertise as the world’s top outdoor advertising company and
FMI's decades of experience in the local Myanmar market.

Already a reference

Only six years after being founded, FMIDecaux is already a reference
for hard work, commitment, and advertising value: public figures
have frequently praised the continuous service level offered despite
COVID-19 and ongoing political challenges across the country,
and clients have acknowledged the efficiency of its strong media
engagement by entering into long term contracts with FMIDecaux.
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Sustainability as a Driving Force
FMI recognised that sustainable development is
not just an ethical imperative but also a strategic
advantage. The Company embedded sustainability
into its core operations, focusing on environmental
stewardship, social responsibility, and good
governance. By integrating sustainability into its
business strategy, FMI strengthened its brand, gained
stakeholder trust, and contributed to the long-term
well-being of the Myanmar people.




Corporate Government

Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

e0

First Myanmar Investment Public Company Limited (the “Company”, and collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to good
corporate governance and managing its affairs in a fair and transparent manner to create long-term sustainable value for its shareholders

and the wider community through ethical and responsible business practices. The Company’s benchmark of governance remains rooted
in its Corporate Governance Manual (the “CG Manual”) and corporate policies which adhere to the principles of accountability, fairness,
transparency, and responsibility. The CG Manual, adopted by the Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2019 (“FY2019"), sets out
the Group's Corporate Governance Framework, Policies, Procedures and Standards (collectively the “Code") and is premised on the Myanmar
Companies Law 2017 (“Companies Law") and the Company’s constitution (the “Constitution”). The Group remains committed to implement
these practices consistently in all its business units and align with the regional corporate governance standards under the leadership of
the Company’s board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”). The CG Manual is compliant with the Notification on Requirements for
Effective Corporate Governance dated 3 December 2020 (“Notification 2/2020") and the Instruction on Material Related Party Transaction
for Listed Companies and Public Companies with more than 100 Shareholders dated 3 December 2020 (“Instruction 3/2020"), both of which
were issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission Myanmar (“SECM"). The CG Manual and Code are subject to review from time to
time. The CG Manual is available on the Company's website.

FMI'S GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

BOARD COMMITTEES
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+ Audit and Risk Management
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Corporate Government Report - Risk Management and Internal Controls

Section 1 - Board Matters

Section 1.1 - The Board's Conduct
of Affairs

The Board leads, controls, and is collectively
responsible for overseeing the business
and affairs for the long-term success
of the Group. The key management
personnel (the “Management”) remains
accountable for day-to-day operations and
administration of the Group, in accordance
with the policies and strategies set by the
Board. The Group has designated Chief
Executive Officers (“CEOs") for its business
entities, who are responsible for their
respective business units, whereby the
CEOs will replicate the Board's policies
and strategies at the operations level. In
support of this, the Board Committees (as
defined below) have also been set up to
ensure that there are reviews and checks
and balances. In doing so, a framework of
effective risk management is established,
allowing for better assessment of the
Group's businesses.

Principal Duties of the Board

1. toprovide entrepreneurial leadership,
and review and guide corporate
strategies, annual budgets and
business plans, giving consideration
to long-term sustainable business
growth;

2. to set the Group's vision, mission,
goals, values, standards, strategies,
policies and practices (including
ethical standards), and to ensure that
obligations to shareholders and other
stakeholders are understood and
met;

3. to set strategic objectives and ensure
that the necessary financial and
human resources are in place for the
Group to meet its objectives;

4. to establish a framework of prudent
and  effective  controls  which
enables risks to be assessed and
managed, including safeguarding
of shareholders’ interests and the
Group's assets;

5. to oversee the internal control system
including risk management policies
and procedures to monitor and
manage potential conflicts of interest;

6. to ensure the integrity of the Group's
accounting and financial reporting
systems are compliant with the law
and relevant standards;

7. to review the Management's
performance annually;

8. toidentify the key stakeholder groups
and recognise that their perceptions
affect the Group's reputation,
and to oversee the process of
communications to engage with
stakeholders;

9. to consider sustainability issues, such
as environmental and social factors,
as part of its strategic formulation;

10. to promote a high standard of
corporate governance by ensuring
timely and accurate disclosure on all
material events regarding the Group;

11.to strategise sound succession
planning programmes for Directors
and the Management are in place,
and to create a process to reflect
an adequate mix of individuals
with relevant competence, industry
experience and diversity  of
perspectives to carry out effective
decision making are retained and
nurtured in the talent pool;

12.to ensure that every Director
constantly keeps  himself/herself
apprised with the latest issues by
attending relevant training;

13. to ensure that all related party
transactions (“RPTs”) and Material
RPTs are handled in a prudent
manner, with integrity and at arm's
length, and are reasonable in the
circumstances, and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations
to protect the interests of the Group’s
shareholders and other stakeholders;
and

14. to ensure that all RPTs and Material
RPTs be disclosed in a timely manner
and be approved by the Board; and
any Director who has a potential
interest in the concerned RPT shall
abstain from voting on the said
matter.

Board’'s Guidance on the Uncertain
Economic and Business Environment
in Myanmar

The business environment in Myanmar has
experienced gradual recovery and growth
over the past 12 months, particularly
in the key urban cities where the Group
operates. However, the operating
environment remains challenging with
the overall reduction in the macro
economy, decreased foreign investment,

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

Sustainability Strategy

USD availability, inflationary pressures,
persistent electricity outages, import
restrictions, and regulatory and policy
changes. Despite these challenges, the
Board remained focused on strengthening
the Group's core businesses and its
financial position. In addition to prioritising
the health and safety of our employees,
the Board has also spent time looking
at how the Group can continue to retain
and develop local talents, recognising
their importance to the future of the
organisation.

Financial Management

The Group, under the guidance of the
Board, remains focused in maintaining cost
optimisation with reduced fixed overheads.
With improved fundamentals in place, the
Board expects opportunities to arise in the
coming years which the Group will explore
in a prudent manner.

Delegation by the Board

To assist the Board in carrying out its
responsibilities and to strengthen the
Company’s Corporate Governance
Framework, without relinquishing its
duties, the Board had formed three (3)
committees, specifically, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee (“ARMC"),
the Nominating Committee (“NC") and
the Remuneration Committee (“RC").
The ARMC, NC and RC are collectively,
referred to as the “Board Committees”,
which comprise Independent and Non-
Executive Directors only. Each Board
Committee is guided by its own terms of
reference to address its particular scope
of work. All terms of reference are in the
spirit of the CG Manual, approved by the
Board and reviewed periodically to ensure
their applicability in the ever-changing
regulatory and governance environment.

Independent Judgment

All the Directors are guided to exercise
independent judgment under the
Companies Law, and to make decisions
objectively in the best interests of the
Company. No individual Director holds a
considerable concentration of power in
his/her professional capacity.
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Board's Strategic Review

The Board reviews and approves the Company's strategic plans on a periodic basis. The Company has always believed that the real estate
sector is one of the cornerstones for the long-term growth of the country. In 2022, the Company entered a landed housing market through
the launch of City Villa@ StarCity. City Villa aims to offer affordable and quality housing units to middle income families and real estate
investors. Continuously, in early 2023, the Company extended its City Loft Project to the West of Yangon with the launch of City Loft West,
which consists of a land bank of 10.4 acres that lies parallel to the Hlaing River. The Company also strategically transformed its hospital
sector into digital services through Heal App and expanded family clinics across Yangon, leveraging its experience from the pandemic.

Meetings

The schedule of all Board and Board Committees meetings and the Annual General Meeting ("AGM") for each calendar year is planned in
advance, in consultation with the Board. Board meetings are scheduled to be held at least four times for each financial year, with ARMC
meetings scheduled to be held four times for each financial year or whenever the Board meetings are convened, to facilitate the review of
announcements of the audited financial statements and management discussion & analysis, and the publishing of the Company’s annual
reports and planning for the AGM. Additional key matters to be discussed at the Board meetings and ARMC meetings include financial
performance, annual budget, corporate strategies and risk management, business plans, regulatory issues, and significant operational
matters. Other Board Committees meetings, such as RC meetings and NC meetings are scheduled to be held once a year or whenever
necessary, to review and evaluate the remuneration matrix and performance of each Director and the Management. Besides the scheduled
Board meetings, the Board also meets to approve other material acquisitions and disposals of assets, and major commitments undertaken
by the Company when the need arises.

The Constitution authorises the Board and Board Committees meetings to be conducted by telephone, audiovisual linkup or other
instantaneous communication mediums. Directors who are unable to attend meetings physically would be engaged via audiovisual linkup.
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and various travel restrictions as implemented by the government authorities, majority of the meetings
during FY 2023 were convened via audiovisual linkup. To further facilitate the efficient management of the Company, the Constitution
also allows Board and Board Committees resolutions to be passed without a meeting being held if all of the Board and Board Committee
members entitled to vote on the resolution and sign a document containing a statement that they are in favour of the resolution set out
in the document.

A record of the Directors’ attendance at Board and Board Committees meetings for the financial ended 31 March 2023 (“FY 2023") is
displayed in the following table:

Directors’ Attendance at Meetings during FY 2023

Remuneration Board ARMC NC RC 31t
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting AGM

Total number of meetings held 4 6 1 2 1
Executive Directors
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun 4 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1
U Tun Tun 4 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1
Non-Executive Directors
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet 4 5 1 N.A 1
U Kyi Aye 4 6 N.A 2 1
U Than Aung 4 6 1 2 1
U Linn Myaing 4 N.A. 1 2 1
Mr. Cezar Peral nsing’ i ,
Mr. /(\zlle;earto l\jaac:?)iiiacSdegl_a(r?';:;::)temate 4 NA. NA. NA. !
Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel De Ayala? NA. NA. NA. i

(or his alternate, Mr. Alberto Macapinlac de Larrazabal)

1 Mr. Cezar Peralta Consing, nominated by Ayala Corporation resigned as the Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from 27 February 2023. Concurrently
with Mr. Cezar Peralta Consing's resignation, his nominated Alternate Director, Mr. Alberto Macapinlac de Larrazabal also stepped down as the Alternate Director
to Mr. Cezar Peralta Consing on the same date.

2 Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel De Ayala, nominated by Ayala Corporation in place of Mr. Cezar Peralta Consing, was appointed as the Non-Executive Director
of the Company on 27 February 2023. Concurrently with his appointment, Mr. Alberto Macapinlac de Larrazabal was appointed on the same date as the Alternate
Director of Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel De Ayala to carry out Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel De Ayala’s duties, when he is not present.
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Board's Approval and Approval
Matrix

The Company has prescribed internal
guidelines for matters that require Board's
approval. For expenditures of MMK 5
million and below, the authorisation limits
are granted to the Management. The Board
has adopted a matrix in which Board'’s
approval is required for any matter that
could impose or cause a material impact
on the Company’s operations and financial
positions as well as matters other than in
the ordinary course of business.

Matters that specifically require Board's
approval include, but are not limited to
the following:

+ Group's strategic plans and business
focus;

+ Company's annually and half yearly
financial statements;

* Acquisition, establishment, investment,
divestment, or disposal of any
subsidiary, business or asset of the
Group exceeding the authorised limits
of MMK 5 million;

+ Restructuring or reorganisation of
the Group’'s business, entry into
amendment, or termination of any
joint venture or partnership requiring
a capital investment on the part of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries in
excess of 10% of the Company’s total
assets;

+ Company's annual budget;

+ Dividend policy and payout;

+ Appointment, resignation, and
remuneration of Directors;

+ Capital-related matters including capital
structure, equity and debt instruments
issuance and redemption of the
Company;

+ Taking up facilities, loans and incurring
debts and/or lines of credit with banks
and financial institutions and creditors;

+ Reviewing and approving of RPTs, such
as acquisition, disposal, the entrance
of a new and significant contract with
a related party;

+ Approving matters within the ordinary
course of business that exceed the
authorised limits.

Conflicts of Interest

Prior to the appointment of each Director,
every Director is required to make a
declaration to the Board on any conflict
of interest he/she may have with regards
to the business operations conducted
by the Company. Additionally, where a
Director is subsequently conflicted or
potentially conflicted or has any interest
in any transaction, he/she willimmediately
declare his/her conflict of interest during
the Board meeting and where applicable
under the Companies Law, abstain
himself/herself from participating in the
deliberations, and subsequently voting on
such transaction. This ensures that Board's
decisions are made in the best interests of
the Company and all stakeholders.

Board Orientation

The Company conducts an induction
programme for newly appointed
Directors, assisting to familiarise the
Directors with the Company'’s businesses,
Board processes, internal controls, and
governance practices. It includes site
visits, Management presentations on the
Group's businesses, strategic plans and
objectives, meetings with the Management
and briefings on key areas of the Group's
operations.

Board Training and Development

In addition to the development training,
the Directors are encouraged to
regularly attend training, conferences,
and workshops to supplement and keep
themselves updated with current market/
industry information and to ensure
continuous professional development
at the Company’s expense. Since the
Companies Law has come into effect in
late 2017, the Company has arranged
for Directors’ development programmes
periodically, such as CG Awareness and
Future Board Planning delivered by
Myanmar Institute of Directors in June
2019; and Directors’ and Officers’ Duties
under the Companies Law delivered
by Baker McKenzie in September 2018.
Directors are given necessary resources
and are apprised on latest regulations by
the Management with the assistance of CST
(as defined below) to effectively discharge
their fiduciary duties in a timely manner.
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Access to Information

The Management acknowledges that it is
pivotal to provide Directors with complete,
adequate, and timely information prior to
Board meetings for the Board to carefully
consider the information, to make
informed decisions, and to discharge
their duties and responsibilities. In order
for the Directors to have adequate time
to prepare for meetings, the Board and
Board Committees papers are typically
circulated to Directors a week in advance
of the meetings. Investment proposals
made by the Management and the
respective working teams are presented
with background and essential information
for the Board to evaluate and approve
each investment. The Company has also
adopted practices, such as allowing the
Management to provide informal updates
to the Directors on prospective deals and
potential developments at the infancy
stage before formal Board approval is
sought. Specific personnel or third parties
with expertise who are able to contribute
to the discussions or to give opinions
may also be invited to join the Board and
Board Committees meetings to provide
more information as and when needed.
The Management also regularly engages
the Board on business operations, industry
outlook, and market sentiment to keep
Directors abreast of the industry trends
and market position. Directors are given
full access to the Management, CST, the
external auditor, and expert advice as
and when needed at the expense of the
Company.

Corporate Secretary Team

The Company also has a dedicated internal
corporate secretary team (the “CST”) to
promptly facilitate and fulfill ongoing
corporate secretarial requests raised by
the Directors. The CST is responsible for,
among other things, advising the Board
to disclose material information on a
timely basis, maintaining and updating of
all statutory registers, making statutory
filings, and keeping corporate records as
prescribed under the Companies Law, and
to ensure that the Company is compliant
with relevant rules and regulations
prescribed by the SECM, the Yangon Stock
Exchange (the “YSX"), and the Directorate of
Investment and Company Administration
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(“DICA"). In addition to assisting the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of each Board Committee and the Management in the preparation
and circulation of the agendas for the various Board meetings, the CST also attends all Board meetings, prepares minutes of meetings, and
assists to ensure effective coordination between the Board, the Board Committees and the Management. The CST facilitates and administers
annual performance evaluation of the Board and management to assess the balance of skills and knowledge of the Board as a whole, as
well as to identify the key areas of concerns and improvements that require the Board's immediate attentions. The CST attends seminars

and further professional programmes related to the corporate secretarial field as and when needed.

Section 1.2 - Board Composition and Guidance

Board Independence

With more than 50% of the Company'’s
Directors considered Non-Executive or
Independent, the Board is committed to
maintain an environment of independence
from day-to-day operations. Additionally,
the diverse set of experiences and opinions
brought in by the Non-Executive Directors
helps to prevent the phenomenon
of groupthink. Additionally, the NC
requires each Director to declare his/
her relationships with the Company, the
Management and substantial shareholders
in writing and reviews these declarations
periodically to ensure that the Directors
are not conflicted. While determining
the independence of its Directors, the

Company ensures compliance with the
“Qualifications of Independent Directors”
set out in Notification No. 90/2020 issued
by the Ministry of Investment & Foreign
Economic Relations. In accordance with
the definition of “Independent” in the
Company's terms of reference for Board
of Directors, which is disclosed in the CG
Manual, inter alia, the Board may consider
a director independent if he/she has not
served for an aggregate period of more
than twelve (12) years on the Board. In this
regard, Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet, who serves
the Board for less than twelve (12) years,
qualified as an Independent Non-Executive
Director.

29% —\

14%

Non-Independent Non-Executive
Directors

Independent Director

Executive Directors

57%

Size and Composition of the Board

The Board comprises eight Directors, with one Independent Non-Executive Director, four Non-Executive Directors, two Executive Directors,
and one Alternate Director. The Independent Director and Non-Executive Directors bring strong backgrounds in entrepreneurship and
finance which allows for effective decision making. The Company benefits from a diverse range of objective perspectives with highly
respected members of the community as Board members. The Compositions of the Board and Board Committees as of 31 March 2023
are set out below: -

Date of 1st Last
Remuneration . . Board ARMC RC NC
Appointment Re-election
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun (EC) 12 Sep 2004 FY 2022 Chairman - - -
U Tun Tun (ED) 17 Nov 2009 FY 2022 Member - - -
U Than Aung' (NED) 31 Jul 1992 FY 2023 Member Member Member Member
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet? (ID) (NED) 3 Dec 2013 FY 2023 Member Chairman - Chairman
U Kyi Aye (NED) 5Nov 2015 FY 2022 Member Member  Chairman -
U Linn Myaing3 (NED) 2 Jul 2012 FY 2023 Member - Member Member
Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder
(NED) 27 Feb 2023 - Member - - -

Zobel De Ayala*
Mr. Alberto Macapinlac de

P (AD) 27 Feb 2023 NA. Alternate - - -

Larrazabal

(EC) Executive Chairman

(ID) Independent Director

(NID) Non-Independent Director
(ED) Executive Director

(NED) Non-Executive Director
(AD) Alternate Director

Assessment of Independence of Individual Directors
All references to the independence of each individual Director are based on the CG Manual.
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1 U Than Aung retired and stood for re-election pursuant to Clause 16.14 of the Constitution of the Company at the 31t AGM held on 5 August
2022 (the “31t AGM"). The NC had considered his contribution and performance; and recommended to the Board to nominate his re-election
at the 3715t AGM.

2 Byvirtue of tenure of directorship, since the Company’s inception, Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet retired and stood for re-election pursuant to Clause
16.14 of the Constitution of the Company at the 31t AGM. The NC had considered his contribution and performance and recommended to the
Board to nominate his re-election at the 315 AGM.

3 U Linn Myaing retired and stood for re-election pursuant to Clause 16.14 of the Constitution of the Company at the 315 AGM. The NC had
considered his contribution and performance and recommended to the Board to nominate his re-election at the 37t AGM.

4 Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel De Ayala was appointed as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 27 February
2023 pursuant to Clause 16.7 of the Constitution of the Company. Shareholders’ approval on Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel De Ayala’s
appointment will be sought at the 32" AGM to be held on 11 August 2023 (“32" AGM").

Board Diversity

The Company is strongly committed to foster diversity and inclusion on its Board to cultivate a diverse approach in business decision making,
leveraging on the collective strength of its members who possess diverse abilities, knowledge, skills, and professional experiences which could
contribute to spurring innovative thinking and sustainable competitive advantages for the long-term growth and success of the Company.
The NC is tasked to assist the Board to review the structure, size, and composition (including the skills, knowledge, industry and business
experiences, gender, age, ethnicity, tenure of service, and culture) of the Board and make recommendations with regards to any changes.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Since the financial year ended 30 September 2019 (“FY 2019"), the Company has purchased Directors and Officers Liability Insurance for
the Board to protect individual Directors and Management against third party claim(s) as a result of any wrongful acts committed or alleged
to have committed while acting in their capacity as Directors and Management.

Section 1.3 - Separation of the Role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Chairman of the Board
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun is the Executive Chairman of the Company.

The Chairman of the Board plays an instrumental role in providing the Company with strong leadership and vision, assisting the Board in
developing policies and strategies, and monitoring that these are implemented effectively, as well as to promote high standards of corporate
governance. As the Chairman, he bears primary responsibility for the workings of the Board by ensuring effectiveness in all aspects of its
role, including without limitation:

a. setting the agenda for Board meetings with input from Management;

exercising control over the quality, quantity and timeliness of information flow between the Board and Management to encourage
constructive relations within the Board and between the Board and Management;

promoting a culture of openness and debate at the Board;

facilitating adequate time is allotted for discussion of all agenda items and strategic issues;

observing the effective contribution of Non-Executive Directors; and

playing a pivotal role in fostering constructive dialogue between shareholders, the Board and Management at the AGM and other
shareholder meetings.

S~ooan

Role of the Chief Operating Officer (“COO")

The Group entities are empowered to run day-to-day operations independently by having dedicated the Management teams led by
designated CEOs who are responsible for each of its respective business units. Each designated CEO is accountable to run its business unit
in accordance with respective Board and Board Committee policies. The COO is tasked to provide Group level support for infrastructure and
executive decisions, work alongside and assist the respective CEOs, monitor the overall operations and resources, serve as the main point
of communication between the Board and these CEOs, and establish company procedures after obtaining perspectives from the Board
and shareholders. Effectively, the Company does not implement the traditional role of a “single CEQ”", and the said role is spread over a
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Executive Chairman
(U Theim Wai)
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Board of Directors Board of Directors Board of Directors Board of Directors
Yoma Bank Pun Hlaing Hospitals Yoma Land Memories Group

Supervision and
Co-working

Executive Director & Chief Operating Officer
(U Tun Tun)

Group Finance
(Daw Khin Yemon Win)

number of top executives and CEOs of the
business units in the governance model of
the Company.

Group Level Functions

Section 1.4 - Board Membership
NC Composition and Role

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
Chairman

U Than Aung
Member

U Linn Myaing
Member

The NC comprises Non-Executive Directors
only and is chaired by Prof. Dr. Aung Tun
Thet, an Independent Non-Executive
Director. It is regulated by a set of terms
of reference supported by the Board, with
duties and authority delegated by the
Board. The NC works with the Board to
determine the appropriate qualifications,
skills, and experience for the Board as a
whole and its individual members with
the objective to create a diverse Board of
individuals from financial sector, business,
government relations, and academic. Any
appointment or removal of a Director is
subject to approval from the entire Board
to develop and maintain a formal and
transparent process.

The NC is tasked to regularly review the
structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity) of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board with
regards to any changes; and to ensure
all Directors submit themselves for
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Chief Executive Officer
(U Ba Maung Sein)

Chief Executive Officer
(Dr. Gershu Chandy Paul)

Chief Executive Officer
(Mr. Cyrus Pun)

Head of Yoma Land
(U Theim Wai)

YOMA BANK PUN HLAING HOSPITALS YOMA LAND MEMORIES GROUP

re-nomination and re-appointment at
regular intervals. The NC further keeps
under review the leadership needs of
the Company including the succession
planning for both the Management and
the Directors, with a view to ensuring
the continued ability of the Company to
compete effectively in the marketplace.
Please refer to the CG Manual for the
detailed duties of the NC.

Re-nomination of Directors

The NC reviews annually the performance
of each Director. When considering the
nomination of Directors for re-election
and re-appointment, the NC considers
their contribution to the effective running
of the Board, preparedness, participation,
time commitments, whether proper
attention has been given by the Directors
to the affairs of the Company, and
Directors’ other Board memberships at
other organisations. In addition to that,
the NC also determines whether he/she is
independent in character and judgment,
and whether there are relationships or
circumstances which are likely to affect
the Director’s judgement. The NC also
monitors that all the re-nomination and re-
appointment of the Directors are submitted
at regular intervals. Directors are subject
to re-election at least once every three (3)
years in accordance with the Constitution
that at least one-third of the Directors
(including the Executive Chairman), for the
time being, shall retire as Directors at each
AGM of the Company. Shareholders are
provided with relevant information on the
candidates that are subject to election or
re-election in the AGM's Notice. During the
31t AGM, U Than Aung, Prof. Dr. Aung Tun

Thet, and U Linn Myaing retired and sought
re-election pursuant to Clause 16.14 of the
Constitution.

Process and Criteria for the
Appointment of New Directors

The Company adopts a holistic approach
in the selection of new Directors. The NC is
tasked to identify candidates and to review
all nominations for the appointment,
reappointment and termination of
Directors and Board Committee
members, taking into consideration of
the Directors’ character and competence
including integrity, reputation, capability,
independence status, contributions during
and outside Board Meetings, as well as
other criteria prescribed under the CG
Manual and additional relevant factors
as may be defined by the NC. When
there is a need to appoint a new Director,
the NC utilises open advertisement or
the services from external networks to
select prospective candidates. During the
selection process, the NC will: -

* review the existing composition and
range of knowledge, expertise and skills
in the Board and Board Committees;

+ identify the Company's needs and
review the profiles of shortlisted
candidates for nomination before
sourcing for interview process;

+ after the NC Chairman, Executive
Chairman and other NC members
interview the candidates, consider the
candidates for appointment with an
emphasis on the following to maintain
the Diversity pledge of the Board: -
a. A determination of the candidate’s

independence;
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b. The candidate’s gender, age, cultural
background, skills composition,
industry and business experiences
to complete the Board's pledge to
maintain a diversified Board; and

c. The candidate's character and
reputation in the industry.

Directors’ Time Commitment

Despite the fact that some of the Directors
have multiple board representations, the
Board and NC examine carefully that
these Directors have demonstrated their
commitment and effectiveness fully in
carrying out their duties and responsibilities
as the fiduciaries in the best interests of the
Company and avoiding potential conflicts
of interest from representing on other
Boards. The NC has adopted a guide that
the maximum number of listed company
representations each Director may hold
is five (5). In determining whether each
Director is able to dedicate sufficient time
to carry out his/her duty, the contributions
by Directors to and during meetings are
also taken into consideration. Based on
the Directors' attendance at meetings held
during FY Mar 2023, the NC believes that
each Director has dedicated sufficient time
and attention to the Company's affairs; and
has performed his/her duties effectively,
and the Board held the view that all
Directors had sufficiently discharged his/
her duties, notwithstanding some Directors
who held multiple representations on
other listed companies.

Succession planning for Directors and
Key Management Personnel

As the first company in Myanmar to be
listed on the YSX, the Company recognises
the importance of a succession planning
process to remain prepared for the
future. The Company strongly believes
that succession planning serves as a tool
in retaining talent, and the Management
conducts regular reviews with all
employees of the Company (“Employees”)
to identify and nurture talent.

The Company recognises that succession
planning is not a “one-size fit” and builds
its succession planning based on the
Group's business direction. As such, the
Group's succession planning considers all
ranks of the organisation and Employees

Changes in
competency
requirements in
light of changes in
business

Compliance
with guidelines
on renewal
and tenure

Changes in
independence,
competencies,

commitment and
effectiveness of
directors

Need for fresh
perspectives

Extracted from Nominating Committee Guide
2012 issued by KPMG.

at every level and not just its Board and
Management. The Company considers key
positions in the company to be equally
critical as finding the “correct players”.
The diagram above provides an overview of
the factors which are driving the need for
board renewal and succession planning.
As the business environment and business
strategies change, companies need
directors who have the right competencies
to contribute to the Company and
the board of directors. Amongst key
considerations the Company takes into
account are to: -

a. ldentify required talent needs based
on strategic business plans;

b. Determine required capabilities of
critical positions;

¢. Match competencies between
the critical positions and identify
employees to plug the gap;

d. Create high level development plan to
grow selected employees; and

e. Assess and monitor performance.

With regard to succession planning of the
Board, there is a process of refreshing
the Board progressively over time so that
the experience of longer serving directors
can be drawn upon while tapping into the
new external perspectives and insights
of new appointees as part of the on-
going Board review powers. With regard
to the succession planning of the role
of the Company’'s CEO, FMI does not
have the position of a Group CEO which
concentrates the executive role to one (1)
person. Instead, the Board has a general
oversight over the CEOs at each business
pillar and reviews the Group's initiative on
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strategic development and direction on
new investment. In addition to quarterly
reviews on Employees to re-align goals,
these reviews present an opportunity for
the Company to engage Employees to
establish their work patterns and career
goals in order to develop the Employees’
potential.

Succession planning for Directors and
Management is an important part of
the governance process of the Board.
Along with the Board, the NC plans the
succession by shortlisting a supply of
highly capable candidates within and
outside the Group ready to assume the
positions whether through an unexpected
event or a planned transition. The Group
believes that succession planning is vital to
ensure continuity and leadership to help
achieve its strategic objectives. The Group
has been operating in Myanmar for over
three decades and has been successfully
and gradually migrated from the first-
generation leadership to the current
second-generation leadership over the
past 10 years. In planning for succession,
talent is constantly identified internally and
externally to build strength and to serve
as a pipeline for leadership succession
planning. The Group has internally
implemented a five year “work yourself out
of a job” initiative which is a process that
current leaders pursue higher and bigger
scope of business while continuously giving
rooms for young leaders to take up higher
level of management roles. The Group also
believes that its success today is driven by
the depth and breadth of its leadership.

Since FY 2022, the Yoma Group has
launched the Yoma Emerging Leaders
League (the “YELL"), a leadership team
consisting of 40 emerging leaders whom
all already are in senior positions, with
the aim to propel the growth of the
Yoma Group over the next phase. During
this period, it meets monthly with the
Executive Chairman, a team of experienced
executives, and guest speakers to network
and brainstorm opportunities for cross
collaboration between business units, and
to leverage the full potential of the Yoma
Group.
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Section 1.5 - Board Performance
Board Evaluation Process & Criteria

The NC reserves its right to review the
Board's evaluation goals and update
these goals if required, to ascertain the
appropriateness in accordance with the
needs of the Company.

Amongst the evaluation parameters of the
Board reviews include: -

+ Composition of the Board (consisting
of a mix of competencies, varying
experience, financial industry
experience, risk management and
remuneration expertise, qualification,
diversity and transparency in the
process of director search and
appointment);

+ Time commitment of the Board (assess
the time commitment of directors
who have multiple directorships and
principal commitment to ensure each
director devotes sufficient times to
discharge his responsibilities);

+ Structure of Board meetings (meetings
held quarterly, number of meetings
sufficient to meet commercial needs,
the logistics and agenda, quality of the
Board package, sufficient time allotted
for each discussion, adequate inputs
received from all Board members,
the environment of the meeting to
encourage free flowing discussions
and debates without fear or favour,
dissenting suggestions are welcomed
and the Board minutes are recorded
properly and approved);

+ Governance of the Board (that the
Board allocates adequate time to
analyse and examine governance
and compliance matters, including
appropriate adjustments, ensuring the
integrity of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting and systems,
timely disclosures, reviewing of high
risks issues and risk assessment);

+ Stakeholder value (Board decision-
making is adequate to assess creation
of stakeholder value, existence of
mechanisms to communicate and
engage with various stakeholders,
Board acting on a fully informed basis,
in good faith with due diligence and
care, shareholders and stakeholders
are treated fairly;
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+ Board engagement with Management
(Management is evaluated and
monitored by the Board, review of
remuneration of Management, and the
Board and the Management have active
access to each other and exchange of
information);

» Board training (adequate orientation
and professional development training
is observed, continuing directors
training, Board setting up a corporate
culture and value, independent and
non-executive directors);

+ Evaluation on Board and Board
Committees (recommend the
process and criteria for assessing the
effectiveness of the Board and Board
Committees, and the contribution
of each individual director to the
effectiveness of the Board).

The Chairman of the NC and the ARMC,
who is the sole Independent Director of
the Company, will additionally provide his
review annually on: (i) the performance
of the Board as a whole; and (ii) assess
the quality, quantity and timelines of
information flow and dissemination
between the Management and Board,
that enables the Board to perform its
duties effectively and reasonably. The
NC is entitled to ask for any information
necessary for it to discharge its
responsibilities. This can include, for
instance, comprehensive information on
the background of Directors and checklists
completed by Directors declaring their
independence.

Section 2 - Remuneration
Matters

RC Composition and Role

U Kyi Aye
Chairman

U Than Aung
Member

U Linn Myaing
Member

The RC is appointed by the Board from
amongst the members of the Board.
It comprises Non-Executive Directors
only. The RC considers and makes
recommendations to the Board concerning
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the Company’'s remuneration policy, level
and mix of remuneration and procedure
for setting remuneration. The RC ensures
that remuneration arrangements support
the overall strategic goals of the Company
and enable the recruitment, retention
and motivation of Directors and senior
management personnel while also
complying with any relevant rules and
regulations. Please refer to the CG Manual
for the detailed duties of the RC.

Remuneration Policy

1. Procedures on Setting
Remuneration

The RC considers, develops, and maintains
a formal and transparent procedure
for setting Directors’ remuneration.
In setting the remuneration, the RC
ensures that the level and structure of
remuneration offered is appropriate to
the responsibilities undertaken and the
level of contribution to the Company, while
also taking into consideration pay and
employment conditions within the industry
and in comparable companies; and
aligning the level and mix of remuneration
with those of corporate and individual
performances. Please refer to the Terms
of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee for the detailed duties of the
RC. Upon deliberation, the RC forms its
recommendations and submits them for
endorsement by the Board.

The RC seeks expert advice and views
on the remuneration of directors and
executive officers (i.e., persons having
authority and responsibility for planning,
directing, and controlling the activities of
the Company), where appropriate. The RC
also refers to industry practices and norms
while setting framework for remuneration
whether it is appropriate to attract, retain
and motivate the directors to provide good
stewardship of the Company and executive
officers to successfully manage the
Company for the long-term. No Director is
allowed to be involved in deciding his/her
own remuneration.

The RC has the option not to grant
incentives or to redeem incentive
components of remuneration in any year
if an executive Director or an executive
officer is involved in circumstances of
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misstatement of financial results, or misconduct or fraud other than in the ordinary course of business resulting in financial loss to the
Company. The executive Directors and executive officers of t he Company are remunerated on an earned basis and no termination and
retirement benefits will be granted to their post-employment.

2. Level & Mix of Remuneration

The RC is tasked to review and recommend to the Board a general framework of remuneration (including but are not limited to directors’
fees, base/fixed salaries, variable or performance-related income, allowances, bonuses, stock options granted, share-based incentives and
awards, and benefits in kind) for the Board and executive officers.

The remuneration packages for the executive officers comprise a fixed component (in the form of a base salary and where applicable, fixed
allowances determined by the wider Yoma Group’s Human Resource policies) and variable components (made up of short-term incentives
in the form of year-end bonuses and/or long-term incentives in the form of share scheme allowances) and other benefits-in-kind.

3. Disclosure on Remuneration

This Remuneration Policy will be disclosed on the Company's website as well as in its annual/directors’ report. The total remuneration
of employees who are family members of an executive officer (but not themselves an executive officer and whose remuneration level is
equivalent to or more than that of an executive officer) are also disclosed.

Breakdown on Key Executives’ Remuneration for FY 2023

Remuneration Band &

Benefits-In-Kind,

Base/ Fixed Variable Component
Name of Key Management P Allowance & Other Total
Salary (%) or Bonuses (%) .
Personnel of the Group Incentives (%)
Paid Deferred
MMK 100 million - MMK 170 million
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun 0% 40% - 60% 100%
U Tun Tun 91% 9% - - 100%
Daw Khin Yemon Win 72% - - 28% 100%
Breakdown on Non-Executive Directors’' Remuneration for FY 2023
Fee (MMK) Other benefits

Basic Retainer Fee
Non-Executive Director 8,750,000 Nil
Fee for Appointment to ARMC
Committee Chairman 1,750,000 Nil
Committee Member 875,000 Nil
Fee for Appointment to NC and RC
Committee Chairman 1,312,500 Nil
Committee Member 875,000 Nil
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Section 3 - Accountability and
Audit

ARMC Composition and Role

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
Chairman

U Kyi Aye
Member

U Than Aung
Member

The ARMC is appointed by the Board from
amongst the members of the Board. It is
chaired by the sole Independent Director
and comprises Non-Executive Directors
only. The ARMC plays a key role in assisting
the Board in areas such as independent
advice, assurance, and assistance to the
Board on the Company’s risk, compliance,
control, governance framework, and its
external accountability responsibilities
including in relation to financial
statements. The ARMC reviews the half-
yearly and annual financial statements of
the Company before submission to the
Board for approval, focusing in particular,
on changes in accounting policies and
practices, major risk areas, significant
adjustments resulting from the audit,
compliance with accounting standards as
well as compliance with any stock exchange
and statutory/regulatory requirements.
The ARMC directs and works with the
Management to develop and review
policies and processes to address and
manage identified areas of risk in a
systematic and structured manner in
achieving the Board's strategic objectives.
The ARMC also oversees and advises the
Board on the current risk exposures and
future risk strategy of the Company. Under
the Constitution, the ARMC generally
undertakes such other functions and
duties as may be required by statute or
the relevant securities rules, and the Board
by such amendments made thereto from
time to time and require the attention of
the ARMC. Please refer to the CG Manual
for the detailed duties of the ARMC.
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Accountability of Board and
Management

The Board is ultimately accountable to
shareholders regarding the management
of the Company’s affairs. The Management
recognises the importance of providing the
Board with timely and accurate information
and keeps the Board informed of any
material developments. This ensures that
the Board has the proper information
to make informed decisions on the
Company’s behalf. The Board reviews and
approves the Company’s annual financial
statements before they are released
and aims to provide shareholders with
a balanced and clear assessment of the
Company’s financial position.

The Board reviews all decisions that may
have a material impact on the Company's
financial position or earnings. In addition,
the Board recommends the declaration of
dividends for approval by shareholders,
and approves the publishing of the
financial statements, the acquisition or
disposal of key assets and the nomination
of Directors. The Board's advice is sought
on all key financial decisions, strategies,
and projects with special attention given
to the Board's opinion on the impact of
the Management'’s decisions on the local
community.

Internal Audit

Risk-based internal audit is one of the
main functions carried out by the Group's
Risk Management to help the businesses
accomplish its objectives by bringing
a systematic, disciplined approach to
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of
risk management, control, and governance
processes through the Enterprise Risk
Management Framework, outlined as
follows:

a. Identifying potential risks inherent
within the Group and external risks
which the Group faces in the pursuit
of its corporate objectives;

b. Assessing and rating all the identified
risks in a meaningful way in order for
the Group to determine the extent of
risks that it faces;
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c. Treating all identified risks, as far as
possible, through established controls
or pending control plans;

d. Monitoring and updating any changes
to the severity of the identified risks
and any new risks that have emerged
and

e. Reporting key risks and the established
controls (or pending controls plans) to
the ARMC and the Board regularly.

Independent Auditor

The Company has engaged Excellent
Choice Professional Limited (associated
with CLA Global TS Public Accounting
Corporation, Singapore) (“Excellent
Choice") as its Independent Auditor to audit
the accounts of the Company and all its
subsidiaries for FY Mar 2023. The report of
the Independent Auditor is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report section of
this Annual Report. The Company adheres
to Section 290: Independence - Audit and
Review Engagements by International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
(“IESBA") that an Independent Auditor shall
refrain from providing non-audit advisory
works to the same client and its related
parties.

Release of Annual Reports

The Company strictly complies with the
Securities and Exchange Rules that the
Audited Financial Statements and the
Annual Reports are released within 90 days
from the financial year end with Statement
of the Directors that the consolidated
financial statements of the Company give
a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company. Financial statements,
the Company’s Annual Reports, and
other price-sensitive information are
disseminated to shareholders through
announcements on the YSX's website, the
Company's website, press release, and
media briefings.
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Whistle Blowing Policy

The Group is committed to achieving
the highest standards of integrity and
accountability within its internal structure.
With this in mind, the Company has
developed these procedures for reporting
improprieties (the “Policy”) where
Employees with serious concerns about the
Company'’s activities and operations may
come forward and voice these concerns
with the assurance that swift action will
be taken if necessary.

This Policy is a direct and unambiguous
statement of the Company’s commitment
that any impropriety by the Company
or any of its Employees, Directors, or
Officers, once identified and reported,
will be dealt with in an expeditious
manner and thoroughly investigated
and subsequently remedied. In fact, this
Policy intends to empower Employees to
raise potentially serious concerns within
the Company rather than letting them
escalate or possibly seeking alternative
externally. The Company will also use its
best endeavours to explore and implement
policies to ensure that such impropriety
can be prevented in the future. In the
event that the whistle-blowing reports
involve any Director, member of the
senior management or the Non-Executive
Director, the reports shall be escalated to
the Chairman of Board, for his attention
and further action as necessary.

The reporting mechanism invites and
encourages Employees to act responsibly
and impartially to uphold the reputation
of the Company and maintain public
confidence in it. Nurturing and developing
a culture of openness and transparency
within the organisation will further aid and
expedite this process. Further background
to this Policy and reporting mechanisms
are explained on the Company's website.

Related Party Transactions Policy

This Related Party Transactions Policy
(the “RPT Policy”) aims to define RPTs
and Material RPTs, and set out guidelines
and categories that will monitor the
review, approval, and ratification of
these transactions by the Board and

Risk Management and Internal Controls

shareholders of the Company to ensure
that all RPTs and Material RPTs have been
identified and disclosed in the manner in
accordance with the requirements of the
Instruction 3/2020 prescribed by SECM and
International Accounting Standard 24 (“IAS
24") on Related Party Disclosures.

This RPT Policy applies to all RPTs and
Material RPTs entered into between
the Group and other related parties
(“RPs"), to ensure that any transaction
with a RP will be at arm'’s length and on
normal commercial terms that are not
prejudicial to the Company and its minority
shareholders.

The principal objectives of this Policy are
to: -

1. identify RPTs and potential conflicts
of interest;

2. set out the materiality thresholds for
Material RPTSs;

3. approval of transactions below the
materiality thresholds; and

4. ensure proper approval, disclosure,
and reporting of such transactions
as applicable under the Instructions
3/2020 and Companies Law, between
the Company and any of its RP in the
best interest of the Company and its
stakeholders.

Please refer to the RPT Policy in the CG
Manual for details.

Section 4 - Shareholder Rights
and Engagement

Section 4.1 - Shareholder Rights
and Conduct of General Meetings

Shareholder Rights

The Company is committed to deliver high
standards of corporate disclosure through
a transparent and non-discriminatory
approach towards its communications
with shareholders, the investment
community, and the media. The Company
has in place a communication system that
discloses timely and complete financial
data, and price-sensitive information
to shareholders. Half-yearly releases of
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financial results and all other information
including Management discussion and
analysis are promptly announced on the
websites of the YSX and the Company
at https://fmi.com.mm/investors/
announcements/ as soon as there are
any changes. Press releases and analyst
briefings are conducted whenever there is
significant development, with the presence
of key executives. The Company'’s latest
financial results, annual reports, and
presentation materials for briefings are
available on the websites for chronological
review. There is also a specific webpage
dedicated for investor relations with the
Company’s share and financial information,
which are disclosed on a timely manner.
The contact details of the Company’s
Investor Relations and general queries is
as follows: -

Corporate Office
info-fmi@yoma.com.mm

+95 1 3687766

https://fmi.com.mm/

The Campus, 1 Office Park, Rain Tree Drive,
Pun Hlaing Estate, Hlaing Thayar Township,
Yangon 11401, Myanmar

Conduct of General Meetings

The Company endorses active shareholder
participation at its general meetings.
Notices of AGMs and related information
are delivered at least twenty-eight (28)
days in advance. Detailed information
of each item to be processed during the
AGMs is supported with explanatory
notes and guided instruction via both
Burmese and English languages. Notices
of AGMs are also advertised in the local
daily newspaper, where notice handbooks
and Annual Reports are send out to
shareholders by social media. The general
meetings of the Company are held annually
at a central location that is convenient for
public transportation. Shareholders who
are unable to attend the AGMs in person
are briefed to appoint a proxy to attend
and vote on their behalf. Proxy Forms
are required to be sent to the registered
address of the Company not less than
forty-eight (48) hours before the time of the
commencements of the AGMs. On a show
of hands, every Member present has one

59


https://fmi.com.mm/investors/announcements/
https://fmi.com.mm/investors/announcements/
mailto:info-fmi%40yoma.com.mm?subject=
tel: +95 1 3687766
https://fmi.com.mm/
https://goo.gl/maps/7gHDpCd2SUwntn64A

vote; and on a poll, every Member present
has one vote for each fully paid Share held
by that Member. Voting in absentia by mail,
facsimile or email is generally not allowed
to properly authenticate shareholders’
identity and their voting intention. Each
resolution passed during the AGMs deals
with only one single issue, where results
of each AGMs are published on the YSX's
and the Company’s websites as soon as
the event is adjourned. Shareholders are
given the right to participate in decision
making in affairs, including but are not
limited to share allotment, share issuance,
and amendment to the Constitution. The
proceeding of each AGMs includes the
business presentation delivered by the
Executive Chairman and/or the COO to
update shareholders on the Company's
overall performance over the past year.
Shareholders are also invited to express
their opinions and ask questions regarding
the Company and the Group. The Directors
and key executives in attendance address
their concerns and queries responsively.

31t Annual General Meeting

In view of the ongoing COVID-19
transmission risks and political situations,
the 31st AGM of the Company was held
virtually and streamed live via http://agm.
fmi.com.mm from the head office of the
Company on 5 August 2022. Shareholders
were guided to register their attendance
and vote on the resolutions proposed for
the 315t AGM by poll remotely, using the
remote participation and voting facilities
provided by the Company. Additionally,
in the Company’s efforts to enhance its
corporate governance, an external law firm,
KST Legal, was appointed as the scrutiniser
to count and validate the votes casted at
the said AGM. Voting and vote tabulations
(including votes cast for or against each
resolution and the respective percentages)
were announced on the websites of the
YSX and the Company.
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Dividend Policy

The Company has implemented a policy
(“Dividend Policy”) which aims to provide a
return to shareholders once a year through
the payment of dividends after taking into
consideration the Company’s financial
performance, short and long-term capital
requirements, future investment plans, and
general business and economic conditions.
The determination of dividend payment is
at the sole discretion of the Board, which
endeavors to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and
prudent capital management. The Board
will review the Dividend Policy from time
to time and reserves the right to modify,
amend, and update the Dividend Policy. In
paying out the dividends, all shareholders
should be treated equally and decisions
on the declaration and disbursement of
dividends shall be made by shareholders
at the AGM upon recommendation of
the Board. The Board has reviewed the
Company’s strategic needs and plans for
expansion and recommended no dividend
shall be declared for FY 2023. Please refer
to the CG Manual for the details of the
Dividend Policy.

Section 4.2 - Stakeholder
Engagement

Corporate Values and Conduct of
Business

The Company has employed a code of
conduct (“COC") for the Group that applies
to all members of the Board, Management,
and Employees. The COC sets the minimum
standard that all levels of Employees are
expected to mirror and comply with the
spirit and principles of the COC, regardless
of the jurisdiction or legal entity through
which the Group operates. It also sets out
the principles for employees in carrying
out their duties and responsibilities to
the highest standards of personal and
corporate integrity when dealing with
the Company’s stakeholders. Measures

e0

are taken to ensure full compliance with
the COC, and breaches of this COC will
resultin disciplinary action. In observance
of the Board's commitment to maintain
high moral standards which are central
to the Company's corporate identity and
sustainable growth, the Company has also
adopted the following corporate policies: -

* Anti-Bribery Policy

* Anti-Corruption Procedure

+ Code of Conduct

+ Conflict of Interest Policy

+ Corporate Social Responsibility
Approach

+ Diversity Policy

+ Employment Policy

+ Environment, Health, and Safety Policy

* Human Rights Policy

+ Land Acquisition Policy

+ Practice on Reward for the Performance
of the Company beyond Short-Term
Financial Measures

+ Professional Development Policy

+ Related Party Transaction Policy

+ Stakeholder Engagement

*  Whistle Blowing Policy

These policies are accessible on the
Company's website at https://fmi.com.
mm/governance/corporate-policies/. The
Company prescribes relevant measures
and procedures to mitigate the prospect of
committing misconducts in the workplace;
and require the acknowledgement and
cooperation of the Company’s personnel
from all levels including external parties
representing the Group such as agents
and intermediaries, consultants, business
partners, and suppliers.

Managing Stakeholder Relationships

Along with other capital market players,
the Company strives to enhance the
investment atmosphere by engaging its
shareholders, investors, and analysts
through participating in investor expos,
conferences and workshops locally and
abroad, as well as continuously interacting
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with its investment community on social
media platforms to communicate its
value proposition and to seek investors’
feedback for improvements. The Company
values its stakeholders and has pledged its
support for the Ten Principles of the United
Nations Global Compact. As exhibited in its
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy, the
Company along with the Group, take part
in various community projects aiming to
create value in the community it operates
in.

As a pioneer and founding member of the
Business Coalition for Gender Equality,
the Company has been at the forefront
of driving positive social change. The
Company actively engages in various
social impact activities, workshops, and
conferences over the year to promote
gender equality and empower women in
Myanmar.

In addition to its involvement in gender
equality initiatives, the Company takes
proactive steps to engage stakeholders,
particularly in its real estate projects.
Recognising the importance of inclusivity,
the Company organises stakeholder visits
to ensure that the interests and needs of
the community are taken into account.
These visits provide an opportunity for
stakeholders to witness firsthand the
development projects, raise questions,
share their feedback and fostering a sense
of engagement and collaboration.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Employee Participation

The Company has policies and programs
in place to strengthen its employee
participation and engagement in the
workplace. Please refer to the Company’s
website on sustainability initiatives for
more information on these engagement
programs.

Shares Dealing

In accordance with the Section 55 (a) of the
Securities Exchange Law of Myanmar, “any
person shall not carry out any securities
business without license.” Since the listing
of the Company on the YSX in 2016, the
Company has been actively engaging
and encouraging its shareholders, who
for various reasons, have not managed
to transfer their shares smoothly from
Special Accounts to Securities Accounts
to utilise the electronic trading platform
in an attempt to fully implement book-
entry transfer system across the Myanmar
stock market so as to keep abreast with
the international standard. Annually, the
Company is also submitting a list of insiders
who has access to price-sensitive and
confidential information to the YSX to avoid
the possible breaches of insider trading.
Internally, the Company has adopted a
code of principles on securities dealings
that the Company's Directors, Employees
and their family members are required to
observe and adhere to for the time being
that they are serving the Company, which
are: (a) to observe and comply to insider
trading guidelines prescribed by the
SECM? and to follow Securities Companies’
insiders examining procedures at all
times when dealing Company'’s shares;
(b) to abstain from shares dealing while in
possession of undisclosed material facts
of the Company; and (c) to avoid selling
their shares owned in the Company for
the time being that they are serving the
Company. All Directors and Employees
are also required to report their dealings
in the Company's shares within three (3)
business days.

1 http://secm.gov.mm/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/4.SECM-Law-Latest-version-English.pdf

Sustainability Strategy

Directors’ Interest in Shares or
Debentures

The directors holding office as of FY 2023
had no interests in the share capital of
the Company as recorded in the register
of directors’ shareholdings kept by the
Company, please refer to page no. 81 for
detail information. -

List of Substantial Shareholders

Please refer to the table on page no. 149
for the ten largest shareholders of the
Company as of 13 June 2023.

Substantial Shareholder above 5%

Please refer to the table on page no. 149
for the Register of Substantial Shareholders
having an interest in 5% and above of the
issued and paid up voting share capital of
Company.

Prohibition of Insider Trading

In compliance with the Securities and
Exchange Law and the Securities and
Exchange Rule issued by Ministry of
Finance, and the regulations issued by
Securities and Exchange Commission of
Myanmar, the Company strictly prohibits
insiders such as members of the Board
and employees in special positions
with undisclosed material information
related to business or financial situation
of the Company from buying or selling
securities for its own account or for other
persons, disclosing or providing material
information and giving advice to other
persons to buy or sell securities based on
unpublished material information.

The Board ensures from time to time that
internal rules in place are reviewed and
developed to prevent insider trading, and
employees get the necessary training to
protect insider information from accidental
disclosures to the public.

2  https://secm.gov.mm/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Supervisory-Guideline-Prevention-Insider-Trading-ENG-VersionRevised-on-22-1-2020.

pdf?fbclid=IwAR1RdzLIhiKpSY42UECIFWuU78Ve31Vz1TBe60OBANpk7rSOVkMOwowas3-w
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Risk Management and
Internal Controls

The Group has implemented a robust risk management framework to identify, measure and monitor critical risks. A strong risk awareness
culture is embedded within the Group’s decision-making activities aimed at safeguarding stakeholders' interests by striking a balance
between acceptable risk tolerance levels against anticipated returns. The Group’s initiated enterprise Risk Assessment (“ERA") is conducted
across the wider Yoma Group as part of the Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM") Framework to ensure consistency with the wider Yoma
Group's commitment. Where appropriate, related policies and internal controls are refined by the Management with guidance from the
ARMC and the Board.

The ERM Framework provides a sound and systematic approach towards risk management and internal control through the following
activities:

Risk identification and assessment

Development of key risk management strategies

Implementation of prevention, detection and response controls
Monitoring of risk exposure levels and mitigation of key risks

Reporting of key risk management performance to the ARMC and the BOD

u s

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

~

Oversight of risk management systems and internal controls

~

Reviews effectiveness and adequacy of the Group's risk framework
and internal controls
Monitors exposure to the Group'’s operations and activities

~

Conducts risk based internal audits

~

RISK MANAGEMENT &

ASSURANCE TEAM > Reviews and assesses risk management systems and tools

> Investigates all whistleblowing allegations

> Monitors respective business- and industry-specific risks
OPERATING SEGMENTS > Ensures compliance
> Performs self-assessment

The risks identified and the adequacy of any mitigating controls are measured and monitored through Risk-Based Independent Audits

(“RBIA") and RMA team as part of the process of prevention, detection and response controls implemented by the management. Results of

the RBIA are presented to the ARMC and the BOD with any residual risks and the necessary corrective actions being highlighted.
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Risk Category Description Mitigation

Strategic Risk Business Model/ Strategic Risk

+ Competitive landscapes

Connected regular and constant strategy sessions
at each business unit to formulate pre-emptive

+ Changing customer preferences measures
+ Market-driven forces
Financial Risk + Credit Risk + Evaluated within approved underwriting policies

by considering background checks, financial
standing, loan-to-value

Cash Flow and Funding Risk Lowering fixed overhead by eliminating of non-
essential operating costs

Cessation or suspension of most capital
expenditures

Reduction of inventory

Foreign Exchange and Interest Rates Strategies to mitigate the impact of foreign
exchange risk by implementing natural hedges to

balance sheet positions

Macro Risk Business Environment Maintained a balanced approach in making
+ Economic contraction and welfare challenges decisions to ensure commercial survival

across the cou ntry

Compliance framework is fully guided by the
Legal and Regulatory Compliance Risk Group's value and Code of Conduct
Environmental, Social and Governance Managed, mitigated and being updated on
Compliance changes to laws and regulations

Compliance Risk Changes in Legislation and Policies

Operational Risk Corruption and Fraud Reviewing and assessing the Code of Conduct and
Conflict of Interest Policy

Reinforcing a zero-tolerance policy

Conducting regular internal audits focused on

areas with greater inherent risks

Information + Inadequate IT Governance + Focused on embedding cyber security and data
Technology Risk + Cyber Security Risk governance into business processes
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

FMI's subsidiaries have in place an Enterprises Risk Management Framework which is subject to review periodically. The implementation and
maintenance of the Company’s risk management framework is undertaken by the Group’s RMA team. The RMA team assists the ARMC in
ensuring that the Company maintains a sound system of internal controls through regular monitoring of key controls and procedures and
ensuring their effectiveness, undertaking investigations as directed by the ARMC and conducting regular audits of high-risk areas. The RMA
team will continue to review and monitor the Group's internal control systems and risk management processes and report to the ARMC.
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Sustainability
Strategy

The Group considers sustainability as a crucial component of its mission to "Build A Better Myanmar for Its People." The Group's sustainability
and responsibility (S&R) strategy is closely aligned with its mission, aiming to create greater value for stakeholders. The Company places
a strong emphasis on high standards of governance, sustainability, and responsibility, reflecting its commitment as a leading business in
Myanmar.

The Company integrates social and environmental criteria into its business strategy, operations, and decision-making processes. The
Company's sustainability approach ensures that its ambition for more sustainable development is translated into tangible actions. Despite
the challenging climate brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, The Company remains dedicated to implementing sustainability measures
and continually seeks ways to integrate them into its operations.

In August 2022, the Company published a separate Sustainability Report, providing a comprehensive overview of its sustainability efforts
and performance from October 2020 to March 2022. The FY 2023 report is scheduled to be published in the later part of 2023, and it will
offer additional information on the Group's initiatives, progress, and accomplishments in the field of sustainability.

By prioritising sustainability, the Company aims to make a positive impact on the community and environment while delivering value to
its stakeholders. The Company recognises the importance of responsible business practices and strives to lead by example in Myanmar's
business landscape.
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Financial Report

In the face of adversity, FMI has demonstrated resilience and adaptability, which

is reflected in its financial performance. Throughout the year, FMI has strategically
navigated the market, seizing opportunities and mitigating risks to drive financial growth.
Through prudent financial management and strategic investments, the Company has
strengthened its balance sheet and optimized its capital structure, providing a solid
foundation for future growth.




CORPORATE OVERVIEW OUR LEADERSHIP PERFORMANCE REVIEW OUR GENERATING VALUE FINANCIAL REPORT

Report of the Directors - Statement of the Directors + Independent Auditor's Report . Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

Report of the Directors

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the financial year ended March 31, 2023.

1 DIRECTORS

FIRST MYAN MAR INVESTMENT PU BLIC CO., LTD. The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun

U Than Aung

U Tun Tun

. . U Linn Myaing

(Registration No. 121398001) Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet

U Kyi Aye

Mr. Jaime Alfonso Antonio Eder Zobel De Ayala
Mr. Alberto Macapinlac De Larrazabal (Alternate)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS AND
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries, joint venture and
associates are disclosed in Notes 4, 12 and 13, respectively.

For The Financial Year Ended March 31, 2023 3 DIRECTORS INTEREST IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The directors holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital of the Company as recorded in the
register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company, except as follows:

Shareholdings in which a director is deemed

Shareholdings registered in name of director .
to have an interest

At beginning of At beginning of

. At end At end
Names of directors year or date of year or date of
FINANCIAL CONTENTS intment, ofyear  ppointment, i of year
appointment, if later appointment, if later
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun 7,895,295 7,895,295 9,548,480 9,548,480
U Tun Tun 84,900 84,900 - -
U Than Aung 22,800 22,800 - -
Report of the Directors U Linn Myaing 14,010 14,010 - -
Statement of the Directors Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet 635 635 - -
Independent Auditor’s Report U Kyi Aye 223 223 - -

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 4 RESULTS OF THE GROUP

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
The consolidated financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2023 and the consolidated financial performance of the Group for

Sernselilyz S neE e e the financial year from April 1, 2022 to March 31, 2023 are set out on pages 87 to 88 and page 89, respectively.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of the Directors

5 DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been proposed by the Board of Directors of the Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2023.
6 AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been audited by Aung Naing Maung Maung, Certified Public Accountant and
Financial Consultant of Excellent Choice Professional, Financial Consultant and Auditing Group.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

~
Theim Wai @ Serge Pun Tun Tun
Executive Chairman Executive Director

Date: June 26, 2023
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Report of the Directors .+ Statement of the Directors - Independent Auditor's Report . Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

Statement of the Directors

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 87 to 148 are drawn up so as to give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2023, and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash
flows of the Group for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the
Group will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

~
Theim Wai @ Serge Pun Tun Tun

Executive Chairman Executive Director

Date: June 26, 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2023, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
of the Group for the financial year ended March 31, 2023, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes,
as set out on pages 87 to 148.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Myanmar Companies
Law (the “Law”) and Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs"), including the modification of the requirements of Myanmar Accounting
Standards 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“MAS 39”) in respect of loan loss provisioning by the Central Bank
of Myanmar (“CBM") Notification No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations so as to give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2023 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Group for the financial year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Myanmar Standards on Auditing (MSAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Myanmar, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the
provisions of the Law and MFRSs, including the modification of the requirements of Myanmar Accounting Standards 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement (“MAS 39”) in respect of loan loss provisioning by the Central Bank of Myanmar (“CBM”) Notification No.
17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable
in the circumstances.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to

liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with MSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with MSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

+ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

+ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by management.

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

+ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

+ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Law to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated
in Myanmar of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Law.

D»_/—T// _‘"L_;B..

Aung Naing Maung Maung
PA-678

Certified Public Accountant and
Financial Consultant

Yangon, Myanmar

Date: June 26, 2023

Associated with CLA Global TS Public Accounting Corporation
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AS AT MARCH 31, 2023

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Interbank placements
Trade and other receivables

Loans and advances to customers, by the bank subsidiary

Government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary
Inventories

Advances and prepayments

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Other receivables

Other non-current assets
Available-for-sale investments
Investment in joint venture
Investment in associates
Government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill

Intangible assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Deposits and balances from customers by
the bank subsidiary

Interbank borrowings and securities sold with agreement
to repurchase, by the bank subsidiary

Borrowings

Income tax payable

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

Note

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

19

20

20
21

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
617,328,125 747,754,535
69,475,000 5,000,000
119,196,820 81,813,184
2,107,473,851 1,630,798,734
490,292,090 392,673,890
4,278,060 4,761,888
11,754,382 8,353,225
3,419,798,328 2,871,155,456
10,634,245 6,647,117
3,371,866 3,371,866
54,487,127 52,548,654
3,354,686 3,354,984
84,351,195 73,422,776
306,158,313 227,620,862
3,359,815 3,091,365
233,796,363 110,436,286
61,586,933 61,586,933
5,361,995 6,737,658
766,462,538 548,818,501

4,186,260,866

3,419,973,957

101,385,326 78,853,089
3,500,877,524 2,776,288,270
30,275,000 19,558,000
29,851,154 24,851,154
4,410,252 4,456,431
3,666,799,256 2,904,006,944
3,835,308 8,080,097
3,687,540 3,763,036
7,522,848 11,843,133

3,674,322,104

2,915,850,077

FINANCIAL REPORT
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CORPORATE OVERVIEW OUR LEADERSHIP

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

OUR GENERATING VALUE

Report of the Directors - Statement of the Directors - Independent Auditor’'s Report

Consolidated Statement of

Comprehensive Income

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

Note 2023 2022 For the financial For the financial
MMK’000 MMK’000 year from period from
April 1, 2022 to October 1, 2021 to
Capital and Reserves Note March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Attributable to owners of the Company MMK'000 MMK'000
Sharg cap[tal 22 182,516,870 182,516,870 Revenue 25 339,593,407 138,693,464
Quasi-equity loan 23 120,953,579 120,953,579 Cost of revenue (219,858,965) (83,634,074)
Reserves 24 41,269,486 22,447,884
Retained earnings 68,993,707 72,020,327 Gross profit 119,734,442 55,059,390
413,733,642 397,938,660 Administrati 26 (108,984,574) (44,125,937)
i L ministrative expenses ,984, 129,
.';.'0: Icontr?t'“”g interests 5??’322';22 ;82'122'52352;8 Finance expenses 27 (3.176.266) (1.671.447)
otal equity 1990, 149, Other losses, net 28 (3,422,077) (1,163,574)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates and joint venture,
Total liabilities and equity 4,186,260,866 3,419,973,957 net of tax 12,13 3,923,976 (1,735,612)
Profit before income tax 8,075,501 6,362,820
Income tax expense 29 (3,942,497) (1,582,144)
Profit for the financial year/period 4,133,004 4,780,676
ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS L
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Fair value gains of available-for-sale investments - net 11, 14 1,267,119 1,061,695
Net change in fair value of previously held interest in
available-for-sale investment reclassified to profit or loss 24, 28 8,009,332 -
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates 13, 24 1,799,091 (455,071)
™ Total other comprehensive income for the financial
year/period, net of tax 11,075,542 606,624
. . Total comprehensive income for the financial year/period 15,208,546 5,387,300
Theim Wai @ Serge Pun Tun Tun
Executive Chairman Executive Director Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company (701,769) 1,470,464
. Non-controlling interests 4,834,773 3,310,212
Date: June 26, 2023 4,133,004 4,780,676
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 10,775,007 1,419,549
Non-controlling interests 4,433,539 3,967,751
15,208,546 5,387,300
(Loss)/Earnings per share
Basic (MMK) 30 (21) 44
Diluted (MMK) 30 (21) 36

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Lt A

Theim Wai @ Serge Pun Tun Tun
Executive Chairman Executive Director

Date: June 26, 2023

FINANCIAL REPORT

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

For the financial For the financial For the financial For the financial

year from period from year from period from
April 1, 2022 to October 1, 2021 to April 1, 2022 to October 1, 2021 to
Note March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 Note March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
Cash flows from operating activities Cash flows from investing activities
Profit before income tax 8,075,501 6,362,820 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 411,751 37,003
Adjustments for: Repayment of advance by an associate 1,000,000 -
- Amortisation of intangible assets 26 2,004,908 889,682 Additions to intangible assets 18 (677,771) (755,269)
- Additional 2% general reserve 26 2,607,266 - Investment in available-for-sales investments (3,060,859) (1,432,000)
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 26 8,511,621 3,821,669 Additions to property, plant and equipment 16 (132,191,834) (8,624,140)
- Gain on fair value of investment property 28 (268,450) - Acquisition of investment securities, by the bank
- Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 28 (399,824) (35,674) subsidiary (980,868,964) (390,112,242)
- Net change in fair value of previously held available-for- 28 Proceeq from disposal of gov'er'nment and other
sale investment 8,009,332 _ securities, by the bank subsidiary 835,440,000 276,000,000
- Write-off of property, plant and equipment 28 283,021 1,293,785 Interest income rec_:e_ived from investment securities,
- Write-off/(Write-back) for impairment on repossessed 26 by the bank su-bS|-d|ary . o 38,075,250 13,559,500
properties 6,471,479 (325,845) Net cash used in investing activities (241,872,427) (111,327,148)
- Write-back for impairment on loans and advances 26 (12,920,863) (2,660,218) , . el
) . . Cash flows from financing activities
- Share of (profits)/losses of associates and joint venture, Proceeds from additional contribution from
net of tax 12,13 (3,923,976) 1,735,612 non-controlling interests 589,070 268,037
- Finance expense . 27 3.133,622 1,637,735 Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (90,656) (117,600)
- Interest from investment securities . (71,062,438) (20,818,850) Interest paid (3,285.932) (1,900.966)
- Unrealised foreign currency exchange losses/(gains) 1,196,678 (958,730) o . o == Aol
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (48,282,123) (9,058,014) Net cash used in financing activities (2,787,518) (1.750,529)
Deposits and balances from customers, by the bank Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (130,426,410) 236,652,959
subsidiary 724,589,254 353,896,470 Cash and cash equivalents
Interbank placements (64,475,000) 6,258,000 At beginning of the financial year/period 747,754,535 511,101,576
Advances and prepayments (12,128,083) 1,150,725 End of the financial year/period 5 617,328,125 747,754,535
Inventories 483,828 (1,342,644)
AFP foreign currency deposit, by the bank subsidiary - (982,666)
Trade and other receivables (40,415,106) (4,799,030)
Trade and other payables 8,100,728 2,409,900
Loans and advances to customers, by the bank subsidiary (463,754,254) 44,262,503

Interbank borrowings and securities sold with agreement

to repurchase, by the bank subsidiary 10,717,000 (42,004,600)
Cash generated from operations 114,836,244 349,790,644
Income tax paid (602,709) (60,008)
Net cash provided by operating activities 114,233,535 349,730,636
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

2.1

2.2

94

GENERAL

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) (Registration No. 121398001) is incorporated in
Myanmar with its principal place of business and registered office located at The Campus 1, Office Park,
Rain Tree Drive, Pun Hlaing Estate, Hlaing Thayar Township, Yangon, 11401, Myanmar.

The Company listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange Joint Venture Company Limited on March 25, 2016.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries,
joint venture and associates are disclosed in Notes 4, 12 and 13, respectively.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention,
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of
the Myanmar Companies Law (“Law”) and Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), including the
modification of the requirements of Myanmar Accounting Standards 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement (“MAS 39”) in respect of loan loss provisioning by the Central Bank of Myanmar (“CBM”)
Notification No. 17/2017: Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates and assumptions. Areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note
3.

Adoption of new and revised accounting standards

There have been no new/revised MFRSs and Interpretations of MFRSs issued by the Myanmar Accountancy
Council during the financial year.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
(@) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date on that control ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment indicator of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(@)

Subsidiaries

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. The
interest of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured
(at date of original business combination) either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another MFRS.
Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in
equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under MAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

Business combination

The acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of
assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent
changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as
measurement period adjustments (see below). The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with MAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, or MAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate,
with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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2.2

926

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(b)

Business combination

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the
acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate
if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under the MFRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

« liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or
the replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based
payment awards transactions of the acquirer in accordance with the method in MFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date: and

« assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period
(see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised as of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains
complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is
subject to a maximum of one year from acquisition date.

The accounting policy for initial measurement of non-controlling interests is described above.
Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in
which case it is accounted for under MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(c)

(d)

Associates

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss of the associate
after the date of acquisition. The Group’s share of the received from an associate reduce the carrying
amount of the investment. Adjustments to carrying amount may also be necessary for changes in the
Group's proportionate interest in the associate arising from changes in the associate’s other
comprehensive income. Such changes include those arising from the revaluation of property, plant
and equipment and from foreign exchange translation differences. The Group’s share of those
changes is recognised in other comprehensive income of the Group. Losses of an associate in excess
of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate) are not recognised, unless the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is
assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Joint venture

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an
economic activity that is subject to joint control that is when the strategic financial and operating policy
decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Where a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the Group’s
share of jointly controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are recognized
in the financial statements of the relevant entity and classified according to their nature. Liabilities and
expenses incurred directly in respect of interests in jointly controlled assets are accounted for on an
accrual basis. Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output of jointly controlled
assets, and its share of joint venture expenses, are recognized when it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the transactions will flow to/from the Group and their amount can be measured
reliably.

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer
has an interest are referred to as jointly controlled entities. The Group reports its interests in jointly
controlled entities using the equity method, except when the investment is classified as held for sale,
in which case it is accounted for under MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted
for in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a
subsidiary.

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

97



e0

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

23

98

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the Group’s statement of financial position when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial instrument and of
allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and
expense are recognized on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

(@) Financial assets

All financial assets are recognized and de-recognized on a trade date where the purchase or sale of
an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe
established by the market concerned and are initially measured at fair value.

(i) Classification

Financial assets are classified into following categories: ‘loans and receivables’, ‘held-to-
maturity investments’, ‘available-for-sale financial assets’ and ‘financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss’ (“FVTPL”). The classification depends on the nature and the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those
maturing later than 12 months after the year end which are presented as non-current assets.
Loans and receivables are presented as “trade and other receivables”, “loans and advances
to customers, by the bank subsidiary” and “cash and cash equivalents” in the statement of
financial position. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method less impairment. Interest is recognized by applying the effective interest
method, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Held-to-maturity financial assets

Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are reported in the statement of financial position as
“government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary”.

Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified
as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.
They are presented as non-current unless the investment matures, or management intends to
dispose of the assets within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. AFS financial
assets are subsequently carried at fair value if the fair value can be reliably estimated using
valuation techniques supported by observable market data, otherwise, those assets are carried
at cost less impairment loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

Financial assets

U]

Classification
Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)

Changes in the fair values of AFS equity securities (i.e. non-monetary items) are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve,
together with the related currency translation differences.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading
or it is designated at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Bank
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

¢ the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Bank’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and MAS 39
permits the entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-
measurement recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset.

Impairment

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
been impacted.

For AFS equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

Financial assets

(ii)

Impairment
For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

+ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

» default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

+ itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organization;
or

» the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are, in addition assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the
portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all
financial assets with the exception of receivables where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognized in profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses
previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. With
the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount
of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity instruments, impairment losses previously recognized in profit or loss
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value after an
impairment loss is recognized in other comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.3  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Financial assets

(ii)

Impairment
Specific provision on loans and advances

The bank subsidiary reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each reporting
date to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the profit or loss. In
accordance with the new CBM notification No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning
dated July 7, 2017, the bank subsidiary determines the impairment loss for loans and advances
as follows:

Provision on shortfall

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

Days past due

Emerging Stronger,

Classification

in security value

30 days past due Standard 0%
31 — 60 days past due Watch 5%
61 — 90 days past due Substandard 25%
91 — 180 days past due Doubtful 50%
Over 180 days past due Loss 100%

The above is only a minimum requirement and management may provide additional provision
over and above the minimum requirement.

Effective from October 3, 2019, the bank subsidiary adopted a stricter provision policy for
Digital Credit loans due to the fact that these are unsecured credits. Accordingly, the provision
rate applied for Digital Credit loans are as follows:

Provision on shortfall

Days past due Classification in security value

1 to 30 days past due Standard 10%
31 to 60 days past due Watch 25%
61 to 90 days past due Substandard 50%
91 to 180 days past due Doubtful 100%
Over 180 days past due Loss 100%

Specific provision for restructured loan portfolios

The bank subsidiary has launched ‘Customer Assist Program’ for all performing loans which
are less than 90 days past due upon borrower’s application basis. Only borrowers with
outstanding exposures less than 90 days past due will be eligible for this program. Borrowers
under this program will be offered either principal repayment reduction (“principal reduced”),
suspension of principal repayment while only serving interest (“principle paused”) or
suspension of principal and interest repayment for a period of time till December 31, 2021
(“principal and interest paused”). By using all available information and customers’ behaviour
from past relief programs, the bank subsidiary has performed the meticulous assessment to
determine additional provision required on borrowers under the ‘Customer Assist Program’ due
to the uncertainty brought about by the current political situation in Myanmar.

Additionally, the bank subsidiary has assessed the credit standing of large individual exposures

individually by taking into account of their current business condition and potential recovery to
appropriately recognize impairment and provisioning for these accounts.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Financial assets

(i

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment
Specific provision for restructured loan portfolios

Accordingly, management has applied the following provision rates for financial assets under
the program. The provision rates applied for financial assets which are 1 to 30 days past due
and 31 to 60 days past due are higher than the provision rates stipulated by CBM notification
No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning; while the provision rates applied for
financial assets which are 61 to 90 days past due, 91 to 180 days past due and over 180 days
past due remain the same as per CBM.

Provision on shortfall in security value

Principle Principle Principal and
Days past due Classification reduced paused Interest paused
Current Current 5% 10% 25%
1 to 30 days past due Standard 5% 10% 25%
31 to 60 days past due Watch 5% 10% 25%

General provision on loans and advances

Pursuant to CBM Notification No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations
and Letter No.2621/ Ka Ka (1)/3/507/2018-2019 dated May 10, 2019, the bank subsidiary is
required to maintain a general loan loss reserve equivalent to 2% of the total outstanding loans
and advances with a corresponding charge to profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial asset

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Write-off

Financial assets written off are charged to specific provision when the bank subsidiary has no
reasonable expectation of recovering the asset. Subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the bank
subsidiary’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.

(b)  Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(i)

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(b)  Financial liabilities and equity instruments

U]

(ii)

Classification as debt or equity
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

Interest-bearing borrowings are initially measured at their fair values and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is
recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
for borrowing costs (see below).

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any
cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Costs of a self-constructed asset include
material costs, labour costs and other direct costs used in the construction of the asset. Other costs such as
start-up costs, administration and other general overhead costs, advertising and training costs are excluded
and expensed as incurred. Cost also includes borrowing costs (refer to Note on borrowing costs).

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than assets under construction, over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Land and building 20-67 years
Rehabilitation cost 8 years
Renovation, furniture and office equipment 3-30 years
Facilities and infrastructure system 10-20 years
Machinery and equipment 5-12 years
Motor vehicles 5-8 years
IT and computers 3-5 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The effects of any revision are
recognized in profit or loss when the changes arise.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no
longer in use.

Assets-under-construction included in property, plant and equipment is not depreciated as these assets are
not available for use. These are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Depreciation for the
assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognized in profit or loss.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognized as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the
acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss
recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary or the relevant cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS ACQUIRED IN A BUSINESS COMBINATION EXCLUDING GOODWILL

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognized separately from goodwill,
where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset, and their fair value can be measured reliably. The
cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

The amortization periods for the intangible assets are as follows:

Computer software 5 vyears
License 10 years

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost
less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
acquired separately.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties include those portions of office buildings that are held for long-term rental yields and/or
for capital appreciation and land under operating leases that is held for long-term capital appreciation or for
a presently in determinate use.

These investment properties are measured initially at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the
fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost
of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended use and
capitalized borrowing costs.

An investment property is derecognized on its disposal, or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the items is
derecognized.

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest Group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately
in profit or loss.

INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of medicines and consumables which are purchased for the purpose of sale in the
ordinary course of business. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted average basis and comprises of cost of purchase and other costs incurred
in bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realizable value shall be
recognized as an expense in the period the write-down occurs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.10 PROVISIONS 2.13 LEASES
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
events, and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
be made of the amount of the obligation.
The Group as lessor
TS? a”.‘°””t ricogncljze? is aprovision |s_thde belf'.t es_tlmate of the %ongldkeratl?jn reqmre_d t_o sefile thedpresehnt Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, from the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized as an expense over the lease
term on the same basis as the lease income.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be The Group as lessee
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
2.11 BORROWING COSTS of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are ) , . , , , , )
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized
or sale ’ as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
) line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
. . . ) . L . . economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
2.14 INCOME TAX
212 REVENUE RECOGNITION
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances. The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year/period. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
Sales comprise the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and rendering income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not
of services in the ordinary course of the activities of the Group. Sales are presented net of commercial tax, taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that
rebates and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group. have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue and its related cost can be reliably measured, I.Deferr.ed tax is recognized on the differgnces between the'carrying amouqts of assets and I.iabilities in the
when it is reasonably assured that the related receivables are collectable, and when the specific criteria for f]nap_qlal statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
each of the Group’s activities are met as follows: liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
’ recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
. . . . , . temporary differences can be utilized.
Rendering of services — Financial services and healthcare services porary
) . ) . ) o ) . Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
Revenue from rendering of services is recognized in the period in which the services are rendered. or the asset realized based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.
Dividend income
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Interest income
Current tax is recognized as an expense in profit or loss.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable. 2.15 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS
Rental income Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense when employees have
rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement
The G , licv f . f ; ina | is d ibed in N 213 benefit schemes, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations
e Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in Note 2.13. under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated
financial statements of the Group are presented in Myanmar Kyat (MMK), which is the presentation currency
for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items
are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognized other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognized in other comprehensive income.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Myanmar Kyats using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during
that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows comprise of cash on hand, cash at bank and
demand deposits, bank overdrafts, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") data for its ordinary shares.

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares
held.

Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
and the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

SEGMENT REPORTING
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the

Management Team whose members are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

(@)  Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the
reporting date was MMK 61,586.9 million (2022: MMK 61,586.9 million).

No impairment of goodwill is recognised as at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022. Information about
the significant assumptions used in the value in use calculation is disclosed in Note 17.

Impairment of loans and advances and available-for-sale investment

The bank subsidiary reviews its loans and advances to assess impairment on a regular basis. In
determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, management exercises
judgement on whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows from the loan before the decrease can be identified within an individual
loan. The bank subsidiary recognises an impairment loss equivalent to the security shortfall of each
individual loan, in accordance with the requirement under the CBM Notification No. 17/2017 including
its annexure on the criteria for the valuation of security and collateral.

The carrying amounts of loans and advances and available-for-sale as at March 31, 2023 and March
31, 2022 are disclosed in Notes 7 and 11 respectively.

Management has assessed that there is no objective evidence or indication that the carrying amount
of the Group’s held-to-maturity and available-for-sale investments are not recoverable as at the end
of the reporting period, and accordingly impairment is not required. The credit risk assessment on the
Group’s loans and advances is also disclosed in Note 33(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Specific provision for restructured loan portfolios

In view of the current situation in Myanmar where banking operations and repayment channels are
disrupted, the bank subsidiary has launched ‘Customer Assist Program’ for all performing loans which
are less than 90 days past due upon borrowers’ application basis. Borrowers under this program are
allowed to defer either principal and/or interest repayment or principal reduction based on the type of
pause programs till December 31, 2021. After the ‘Short-term Relief Program’, significant number of
customers has gone back to normal repayment. However, some of the customers are moving on to
the ‘Medium-term Relief Program’. The bank subsidiary evaluated the possible losses for financial
assets under the program by taking into account past events, current conditions/trends and economic
outlooks and has applied additional provision rates for these borrowers as they are deemed of higher
risks. The additional provision rates are disclosed under Note 2.3(a)(ii).

The amount of specific provision on restructured loan portfolio at the reporting date was MMK275.7
million (2022: MMK21,386.6 million). Details of the specific provision for restructured loan portfolios
are provided in Note 7 to the financial statements.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The policy for allowance for doubtful receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is required in
assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness, the
past collection history and ongoing dealings. If the financial conditions of the customer were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of its ability to make payments, additional allowance may be
required.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 is
disclosed in Note 6.

Net realizable value of inventories

A review is made periodically on inventories for obsolete and excess inventories and declines in net
realizable value below cost and a write-off is recorded against the carrying amount of the inventories
balance for any such obsolescence, excess and declines. The review requires management to
consider the future demand for the inventories. The realizable value represents the best estimate of
the recoverable amount and is based on the acceptable evidence available at the end of the reporting
year and inherently involves estimates regarding the future expected realizable value. The usual
considerations for determining the amount of write-down include expected usage analysis, technical
assessment and subsequent events. In general, such an evaluation process requires significant
judgement and affects the carrying amount of inventories at the end of the respective financial
period/year. Possible changes in these estimates could result in revisions to the stated value of the
inventories, but these changes would not arise from the assumptions or other sources of estimation
uncertainty at the reporting date.

The carrying amount of inventories at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 is disclosed in Note 8 to
the financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Uncertain tax positions

The Group is subject to income taxes in Myanmar. In determining income tax liabilities, management
is required to estimate the amount of capital allowances and the deductibility of certain expenses
(“uncertain tax positions”).

There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, the Group makes adjustment for
such differences in the income tax of the period in which such determination is made.

Information about the income tax calculation is disclosed in Note 29.
Impairment of other non-current assets

Management assesses its other non-current assets for impairment at each reporting period by
estimating the recoverable amount of the underlying land attached to the projects based on the fair
value of the land using the tax valuation published by the Inland Revenue Office for similar property
in the same location.

The carrying amount of other non-current assets at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 is disclosed
in Note 10.

Impairment of investment in associates and joint ventures

Determining whether the investment in associates and joint ventures is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the investment. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the investment and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate present value. In the event that a discounted cash flow calculation is not available,
management assesses its investment in associates and joint venture for impairment at each reporting
period by estimating the recoverable amount of the underlying land of the investee based on the fair
value of the land using the tax valuation published by the Inland Revenue Office for similar property
in the same location.

The carrying amounts of investment in associates and joint ventures at March 31, 2023 and March
31, 2022 are disclosed in Notes 13 and 12, respectively.

Fair value of investment properties

In estimating the fair value of investment properties, the Group uses market prices based on most
recent transactions for similar property in the same location and condition and subject to similar lease
and other contracts to the extent it is available. Where these are not available, the Group uses the
tax valuation published by the Inland Revenue Office for similar property in the same location.

The carrying amount of investment properties at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 is disclosed in
Note 15.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary

Usetul lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets On 21 December 2022, the Company acquired additional 4.48% of the issued share of Yoma Bank Limited

for a purchase consideration of MMK10,500.0 million (equivalent to USD5.0 million) from International
Finance Corporation (IFC). The Group now hold 66.47% of the equity share capital of Yoma Bank Limited.
The carrying value of the non-controlling interest in Yoma Bank Limited at the date of acquisition was

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are depreciated and
amortized over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. Management estimates the useful
lives of property and equipment and intangible assets based on expected usage and industry norms.

Changes in the expected level of maintenance, usage and technological developments could impact _IVIMK11,1_28.0 million..The Group derecognized non-controlling interes?s_ of MMK11,128.0 million apd an
the useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could increase in equity attributable to owners of the parent of MMK628.0 million. The effect of changes in the
be revised. ownership interest of Yoma Bank Limited on the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the

financial year is summarized as follow:
The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at March 31, 2023 and

March 31, 2022 are disclosed in Notes 16 and 18, respectively. For the financial
year from
April 1, 2022 to
4 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP March 31, 2023
MMK’000
Details of subsidiaries are as follows:
Place of Proportion of ownership Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired 11,127,961
incorporation Principal interest and voting power Consideration paid to non-controlling interest (10,500,000)
Name of subsidiaries and operation _activities held Deficit of consideration paid recognized in parent’s equity 627,961
March 31, March 31,
2023 2022
Yoma Bank Limited Myanmar Financial 66.47% 61.99% 5 CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS
services
Pun Hlaing International Hospital Myanmar Investment 60.00% 60.00% 2023 2022
Limited ® holding MMK’000 MMK’000
Taunggyi Hospital Assets Limited ®*  Myanmar Investment 70.00% 70.00%
holding Cash at bank and on hand 423,642 619,889
: : o o , ,
Yoma O Hiaing Hospital Myanmar Featihcare 60.00% 60.00% Cash on hand, by the bank subsidiary 261,249,613 508,764,454
Yoma OUE Taunggyi Hospital Myanmar Healthcare 70.00% 70.00% Cash and placements Wlth gentral bank and other
Limited 160 Sorvices banks, by the bank subsidiary 355,654,870 238,370,192
FMI Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. @ Myanmar Investment 100.00% 100.00% 617,328,125 747,754,535
holding

Interbank placements with maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition amounting to
MMK26,642.0 million as of March 31, 2023 (2022: MMK16,000.0 million) are considered as cash equivalents
@ Audited by Zaw Lwin & Associates Certified Public Accountants & Auditors, Myanmar. since these are short-term, highly liquid placements that are readily convertible to known amount of cash
and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

) Audited by Myanmar Vigour & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar.

©®  Audited by Excellent Choice Professional Company Limited, Myanmar (Associated with CLA Global TS
Public Accounting Corporation, Singapore) for statutory purposes.

@ The proportion of ownership interest and voting power held reflects that of Pun Hlaing International
Hospital Limited in Taunggyi Hospital Assets Limited.

®)  The proportion of ownership interest and voting power held reflects that of Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing
Hospital Limited in Yoma OUE Taunggyi Hospital Limited.

®  On December 10, 2021 the legal entity name was changed from Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing
Limited to Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing Hospital Limited.

(0 On December 13, 2021 the legal entity name was changed from Pun Hlaing Siloam Taunggyi Hospital
Limited to Yoma OUE Taunggyi Hospital Limited.

®  The Company's shares in Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing Hospital Limited is secured for a borrowing of
MMK11,031.5 million (2022: MMK11,031.5 million) (Note 20).
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6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

2023 2022 The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at the reporting date:
MMK’000 MMK’000
Current 2023 2022
Trade receivables MMK’000 MMK’000
- Non-related parties 20,960,608 18,745,541
Neither past due nor impaired 20,875,490 18,609,861
Non-trade receivables Past due but not impaired 85,118 135,680
- Non-related parties 19,624,589 2,881,792 20,960,608 18,745,541
- Related parties (" 24,085,894 33,574,287
- Associates 5,356 5,356 Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired
- Joint venture 4,045 3,341 - Past due 0 to 3 months 36,446 86,051
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (404,691) (404,691) - Past due 3 to 6 months 19,279 11,140
431315,193 36,060,085 - Past due over 6 months 29,393 38,489
85,118 135,680
Deposits 54,921,019 27,007,558
119,196,820 81,813,184 There are no movements in the allowance for doubtful debts during the financial year/period.
Non-current
Non-trade receivables
- Related parties 2.212.120 7 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS, BY THE BANK SUBSIDIARY
- i 2
Associates @ 8,422,125 6,647,117 2023 2022
10,634,245 6,647,117 MMK’000 MMK’000

() This account includes a loan receivable of FMI Industrial Investment Company Limited (“FMII”), a

Loans and advances

2,084,953,523

1,601,234,886

subsidiary, from Yoma Nominee Limited amounting to MMK5,000.0 million (2022: MMK5,000.0 million) Trade financing 67,390,332 100,531,596
which carries an interest of CBM reference rate plus 2.5% per annum. The loan has a term of 1 year Total {Note 33(b)} 2,152,343,855 1,701,766,482
from the date of the agreement, November 6, 2020. The maturity date of the loan was extended fill Less: partial payments on NPLs (2,851,847) (1,504,203)

November 6, 2023 during the current financial year.

Less: Specific allowance

2,149,492,008

1,700,262,279

@ The Company advanced a total of USD3,400,000 to CLW Development Limited ("CLWDL"), an Loans and advances per CBM regulation (41,742,497) (48,076,905)
associate, by way of cash payment of USD500,000 and through corresponding payable to related Loans and advance on restructured program (275,660) (21,386,640)
company of USD2,900,000, in a form of a shareholder loan. The loan bears an interest of 8% per annum (42,018,157) (69,463,545)

with a term of 5 years. This account includes both principal and interest and the amount outstanding as
at March 31, 2023 is MMKS8,422.1 million (equivalent USD4.0 million) [2022: MMK®6,647.1 million

(equivalent USD3.7 million)].

The average credit period from rendering of services is 30 days (2022: 30 days). No interest is charged on

the outstanding balance.

2,107,473,851

1,630,798,734

Reconciliation of the specific allowance for impairment losses for the loans and advances, is as follows:

2023 2022
Non-trade receivables from related companies, associates, and joint venture are unsecured, interest free MMK’000 MMK’'000
and repayable on demand except as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
Balance at beginning of the financial year/period 69,463,545 82,872,652
Movements during the financial year/period:
- Provision written-back (Note 26) (12,920,863) (2,660,218)
- Write-off as non-recoverable (13,303,440) (9,914,606)
Adjustment for foreign exchange differences 4,263,139 (871,983)
Total allowance for impairment losses by collectability 47,502,381 69,425,845
Utilization of/Transfer to LIFT-AFP( (5,484,224) 37,700
Balance at end of the financial year/period 42,018,157 69,463,545

() In 2018, the Bank and the Fund have agreed to transfer AFP fund amounting to MMK 6,593.9 million as
part of the specific provision. The Bank has decreased the provision amounting to MMK 5,484.2 million
as of March 31, 2023 (2022: increased of MMK 37.7 million) respectively, for its HP AFP Product.
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LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS, BY THE BANK SUBSIDIARY

The table below is an analysis of loans and advances as at the reporting date:

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired

2023
MMK’000

1,888,482,790
218,991,061

e0

2022
MMK’000

1,257,407,858
373,390,876
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2,107,473,851

1,630,798,734

Aging of loans and advances that are past due but not impaired:

- Past due 0 to 3 months
- Past due 3 to 6 months
- Past due over 6 months

INVENTORIES

Medical supplies
Provision for inventory impairment

89,670,524 183,072,054
- 34,050,816
129,320,537 156,268,006
218,991,061 373,390,876
2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
5,172,865 4,761,888
(894,805) -
4,278,060 4,761,888

In the current financial year, the cost of inventories recognised as an expense amount to MMK 21,547.1
million (six-month financial period ended March 31, 2022: MMK10,700.3 million), of which MMK®66.7 million
(six-month financial period March 31, 2022: MMK51.4 million) pertains to write-off of inventories.

ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS

Advance corporate income tax payment

Prepayments

Advance to suppliers and contractors
Advance commercial tax payment
Advance to employees

Other assets

Repossessed properties
Less: Specific allowance

2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
1,354,611 4,816,074
1,668,964 2,455,133
455,620 358,371
189,316 135,914
13,767 33,801
2,613,372 -
12,306,427 580,051
(6,847,695) (26,119)
5,458,732 553,932
11,754,382 8,353,225
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ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

Prepayments mainly consists of prepaid office rental expenses. Other assets represent interest payment for

super (flexi) fixed deposits.

Reconciliation of the specific allowance for impairment losses for the repossessed properties, is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year/period
Allowance/(Reversals) for the year/period (Note 26)
Provision

Balance at end of the year/period

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Advances for investments
- FMI Riverside Development Limited (FMIRDL)

Advances for projects
- FMI City Gates Apartment Project

Advances for investments represent the Group’s capital injections in FMIRDL to fund new projects undertaken

by the FMIRDL.

Advances for FMI City Gates Apartment project consist of payments for land costs made by the Group to the
project. Legal title to the land has not yet been transferred to the Group as at March 31, 2023.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Quoted equity shares, at fair value

Balance at beginning of the financial year/period

Fair value gain/(loss) on quoted equity shares during
the financial year/period

Addition during the financial year/period (a)

Transfer to investments in associate (b) (Note 13)

Balance at end of the financial year/period

Unquoted equity shares, at cost

Balance at beginning of the financial year/period
Addition during the financial year/period
Balance at end of the financial year/period

Total available-for-sale investments

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
26,119 97,024
6,471,479 (325,845)
350,097 254,940
6,847,695 26,119
2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
1,591,250 1,591,250
1,780,616 1,780,616
3,371,866 3,371,866

2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
2,816,336 3,484,550
2,322,718 (668,214)
3,060,859 -
(6,205,054) -
1,994,859 2,816,336
49,732,318 48,300,318
2,759,950 1,432,000
52,492,268 49,732,318
54,487,127 52,548,654
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1 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 11 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
The investments above include investments in quoted equity securities that offer the Group the opportunity for Details of available-for-sale investments are as follows:
return through dividend income and fair value gains. The fair values of these securities are based on the
quoted closing market prices on the last market day of the financial year/period. 2023 2022
Principal Equity Carrying Equity Carrying
The investments in unquoted equity investments primarily represent investments in companies that are in the Name of companies activities holding amount holding amount
early stages of development and the recoverability of these investment is uncertain and dependent on the ) % MMK'000 % MMK'000
outcome of these activities, which cannot presently be determined. At fair value
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Investment
; i ; Holdings Public Ltd.(" holdin 1.65% 1,994,859 1.65% 1,769,633
(a) On 12 September 2022, the Company incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary, Memories (2022) Pte. 9 o) Jing I 1L 99
Limited (MM2022) in the Republic of Singapore with an issued and paid up capital of S$1 comprising Memories Group Limited Tourism - - 8.36% 1,046,703
1 ordinary share of S$1 for the purpose of other investment holding. At cost
The Company had equity investment in Memories Group Limited (MGL), listed on the Catalist of the Pen|n§u|a Yangon(g) Real estate o o
. " . o o . o Holdings Pte Ltd. developer 6.00% 9,474,530 6.00% 9,221,030
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The equity investment in MGL was classified as Meeyahta Development Real estate
available-for-sale investment in the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2022. Ltd®@ developer 12.00% 43,017,738 12.00% 40,511,288
. . 54,487,127 52,548,654
On 12 September 2022, the Company and MM2022 announced the Joint Announcement relating to —_— E—
the proposed voluntary delisting of MGL from the Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities M The Group recognised fair value gain of MMK225.2 million for the financial year ended March 31, 2023,
Trading Limited (Delisting Proposal). and fair value loss of MMK289.6 million for the six-month financial period ended March 31, 2022 which

are recorded as part of investment revaluation reserve under equity (Note 24).
Under the Delisting Proposal, MM2022 will make an exit offer (the “Exit Offer”) for each MGL Share

with either Singapore Dollar (“S$”) 0.047 in cash (the “Cash Consideration”) or, one (1) new ordinary @ The Group recognised fair value gain of MMK 2,097.5 million for the year ended March 31, 2023, and fair
share in the capital of MM2022 (the “New MM2022 Share”) at the price of $S$0.047 (the “MM2022 value loss of MMK 378.6 million for the six-month period ended March 31, 2022 which are recorded as
Shares Consideration”), conditional on the obtaining of certain shareholders’ approvals of MGL, to part of investment revaluation reserve under equity (Note 24).

acquire all the issued ordinary shares in the capital of MGL other than those held as treasury shares @

In August 2022, the Company made additional investment to Peninsula Yangon Holdings Pte Ltd through

and those held, directly or indirectly, by MM2022 ("MGL Shares”). corresponding payable to related company amount of MMK 253.5 million (or equivalent to USD 101,400).

On 18 January 2023, MGL was delisted from the Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading @ During the financial year ended March 31, 2023, the Company made an additional investment amounting
Limited. MMK 2,506.4million (six-month financial period ended March 31, 2022: MMK 1,432.0 million) to Meeyahta

Development Ltd. (“MDL”) in a form of interest free shareholder loan provided by the shareholders of MDL
As part of the Exit Offer, the Company elected to receive 41,947,427 ordinary shares in the capital of in proportion to their shareholdings and will be treated as investment pursuant to the Subscription
MM2022 (“MM2022 Shares”) in consideration of all its 41,947,427 MGL Shares and the acquisition of Agreement dated February 9, 2018.

41,704,316 MGL Shares from retail shareholders of MGL which has been capitalised by MM2022
through the allotment and issuance of 41,704,316 MM2022 Shares to the Company on 20 February

2023 (the “FMI Capitalisation”) that made up the Company holds an aggregate of 83,651,743 MM2022 12 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE
Shares amounting to MMK 3,060.0 million representing approximately 16.66% of the total number of
MM2022 Shares in issue. 2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
(b) Upon completion of the Exit Offer, the Group re-assessed that the Group has significant influence over Unquoted equity shares at cost:
MM2022 in accordance with MAS28 Investments in Associates. Based on the assessment, the Group Beginning of the financial year/period 3,354,984 3,355,335
has power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of MM2022. Accordingly, the equity Share of post-acquisition results (298) (351)
investment in MM2022 was de-recognised from available-for-sale investments and recognised under End of the financial year/period 3,354,686 3,354,984
investment in associates.
The detail of the interest in joint venture is as follows:
Place of
Name of joint incorporation Principal Proportion of ownership interest and
venture and operation activities voting power held
2023 2022
LSC-FMI Co., Ltd Myanmar Property
development 50.00% 50.00%

(M Audited by Zaw Lwin & Associates Certified Public Accountants & Auditors, Myanmar.
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INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE

The cost of investment in joint venture as of March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 amounted to MMK 3,378.6
million. No impairment loss has been recognised for the financial year ended March 31, 2023 and six-month

financial period ended March 31, 2022 respectively.

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint

venture recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

e0

2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
Net assets of the joint venture 6,709,371 6,709,968
Ownership interest 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s shareholding interest 3,354,686 3,354,984
INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
2023 2022
MMK’'000 MMK’000
Beginning of the financial year/period 73,422,776 77,035,508
Transfer from available-for-sale investments (Note 11) 6,205,054 -
Share of post-acquisition results 3,924,274 (1,735,261)
Repayment of advances by an associate (1,000,000) (1,422,400)
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates
(Note 24) 1,799,091 (455,071)
End of the financial year/period 84,351,195 73,422,776

Details of the Group’s associates are as follows:

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interest and voting power
and Principal held
Name of companies operation activities
2023 2022
FMI Garden Development Ltd. @ Myanmar Property 47.50% 47.50%
Development
FMIDecaux Co., Ltd. Myanmar Advertising 40.00% 40.00%
Thanlyin Estate Development Ltd. ®®) Singapore/ Property 30.00% 30.00%
Myanmar Development
Pun Hlaing Links Services Co., Ltd. ¥ Myanmar Golf course 30.00% 30.00%
Development
Chindwin Holdings Pte Ltd. ®® Singapore/ Investment 30.00% 30.00%
Myanmar holding
Myanmar Agri-Tech Ltd. ©) Myanmar Agricultural 30.00% 30.00%
activities
Meeyahta International Hotel Myanmar Property 20.00% 20.00%
Ltd. ® Development
Kawthaung Hill Investment Ltd. ©® Myanmar Property 37.50% 37.50%
Development
CLW Development Ltd. © Myanmar Property 25.00% 25.00%
Development
Memories (2022) Pte. Limited @ Singapore Tourism 16.66% -

(MM2022)
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13  INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Audited by UTW (Myanmar) Limited, Myanmar.

Audited by Daw Swe Swe Thynn & Associates, Myanmar.

)

@ Audited by Daw Me Me Than Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar
®)  Audited by CLA Global TS Public Accounting Corporation, Singapore.
@)
©)
©)

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

Audited by Daw Win Mar Lwin Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar.
Audited by Excellent Choice Professional Company Limited, Myanmar.

(M Upon completion of the Exit Offer on 18 January 2023, the Group re-assessed that the Group has
significant influence over MM2022 in accordance with MAS28 Investments in Associates. Based on the
assessment, the Group has power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of MM2022.

Accordingly, the equity investment in MM2022 was classified as investment in associates.

The cost of investment in associates amounted to MMK30,052.5 million (2022: MMK24,847.4 million). No
impairment loss has been recognised for the financial year ended March 31, 2023, and six-month financial

period ended March 31, 2022.

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the
associates recognised in the consolidated financial statements is presented below:

Assets and liabilities
Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

Group’s share of associates’ net assets

Revenue

Profit/(Loss) for the financial year/period

Group’s share of associates for the financial year/period, net of
tax

14 GOVERNMENT AND OTHER SECURITIES, BY THE BANK SUBSIDIARY

Available-for-sale investment at amortised cost:
Myanmar treasury bonds "
Myanmar treasury bills

Unquote equity share
Digital Money Myanmar @
Myanmar Payment Union ©
Myanmar ICT Park ©
SWIFT @

Myanmar Credit Bureau ®

Total government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary

2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
687,855,517 536,547,851
(320,794,370) (178,031,812)
367,061,147 358,516,039
84,351,195 73,422,776
92,032,978 25,848,935
8,473,181 (5,933,572)
3,924,274 (1,735,261)
2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
462,270,225 320,010,579
325,724,343 290,773,852
787,994,568 610,784,431
8,190,000 9,245,600
200,000 200,000
56,500 56,500
8,295 7,181
1,040 1,040
8,455,835 9,510,321
796,450,403 620,294,752
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year to 5-year treasury bonds. Current interest rates for Myanmar treasury bonds are 7.25% to 9.75%
23s 383°'25% 252338l B
p-a. 23S ®mog IJ ©©8I8|o ©
. . o >5C ool Sold LS saax2 o
@ The bank subsidiary currently owns a 5% interest in Digital Money Myanmar. For the year ended March g 5|3 oo awvly NSRRI &
31, 2023, the Group recognised fair value loss of MMK 1,055.6 million (2022: MMK 1,729.9 million) which z 3IS & © < T 8 N o T ¢ 0 ©
is recorded as part of investment revaluation reserve under equity (Note 24). é
®  The bank subsidiary’s other investments are as follows: ToElg T ' ' e NS oo ~
(a) MMK 200 million MPU card holders deposit fees. §38so I PN 8 Y o S
(b) Pre-investment expenses in Myanmar ICT Park, SWIFT and Bank Association membership fees for 2S5 ">’.§ g oo‘:" 'Sh 'Sh B 8 9‘)
the Myanmar Credit Bureau. = § @ g N - ] o & <
'6 o bt -
L€
15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
C"QCD‘EO ‘(EOAOO"‘"‘OO \—40"\"_"'\0 [0}
2023 2022 S5£98 ~RgIBBS 8883388 8
MMK'000 MMK’000 Fd SESSE 8599538 Sog=gl3 I
) 7)) 822352 RIS2oUZW SR T8+ <
At fair value @ § 032 oo =I5 ocNT o ~
Balance at beginning of the financial year/period 3,091,365 3,091,365 ) - hd © ] T = T
Gain on fair value during the year/period (Note 28) 268,450 - @ g
Balance at end of the financial year/period 3,359,815 3,091,365 q) < g s 9 Lo @ N
v-d £33 < S 0 = S
= g © © o M [2) [32)
Included in investment properties is an office and retail location which is leased to Convenience Prosperity ° yuu{ a 3 é 2,_ a g_ © S_ ©
Co., Ltd., an entity related by a common controlling shareholder, and land and buildings held for investment. y—( " 3 = o N - N
~ [0)
o ne
The property rental income for the Group’s office and retail location which are leased out under operating o q)|| N -
leases recognised during the financial year ended March 31, 2023 amounted to MMK 72.0 million (six-month 9o ) E 298 9N '2!' '3 ol G Q
financial period ended March 31, 2022: MMK 36.0 million) (Note 25). g Cﬁ SE s CHe o N Q) - < Q) )
- = o 23 R 2 | 5 & 8 3
The fair values of the Group’s Investment properties at March 31, 2023 have been determined using market o m pos 3 371 S 2 S Sa e s
prices based on most recent transactions for similar property in the same location and condition and subject o) w o= bN Al Al @
to similar leases and other contracts, if available. Where these are not available, the Group uses tax valuation U p— E %
published by the Inland Revenue Office for the similar property in the same location. m z < =
P = N
-4
At March 31, 2023, the details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows: o o =i S 5 g % Q &
= 0 3 & N § 8 o:82 5 & 88
Description/ @) q f_’j Ny I g 5 £ 2Rs 8 o Sg
Location existing use Tenure > e T8 &, =SS Ros X
U 3 = i £58838%% E8=83358 8%
. . ' . — < o = ) 3020290898 o8
Plot No.1159, Block No.7 & 8, Hlaing Thayar Township, Yangon Office and retail 2 years g o o 3 f TS SE = te<g 2 SE = 2 =
Region location o T & OXZoFrz2d <°%00xrz% =%
Field No. 404 / A & B, West Ywar Thit Village, Pyay Township, Pyay Land and Not leased out o pu| :;
District, Bago Region building Z l I ( o ©
Field No. 1585, Ywar Thar Village, Naung Oo Township, Naung Oo Land (9 acres)  Not leased out = Al

District, Mandalay Region
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ds secoll  sasdld e Notes to Consolidated
S8 83583 58388 &
Fi O ool N s S ©
= 53835 SR8 ¢ F : IS
= Y- R (o] -
® 5% a8 8" 4 ¢ 1Inancial Statements
% é _5 § % @ v Er R Er FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
2SS 9w |9 =3
< ° EB|S [N Te] <t <t
BS ©- S S
g ~ N N
o 17 GOODWILL
i5g Y838 ESRR 3 Z R
— "g_g ,;00":. pocs R O ~ MMK’000 MMK’000
TEE VS N RYT g b
8= « N * - Balance at beginning and end of the financial year/period 61,586,933 61,586,933
S8l B8 SgR oo S Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition to the cash-generating units (“CGU”)
s2S F oY P A ek & that are expected to benefit from that business combination.
95 2 &%¢ A
S o el o~ | Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:
2023 2022
o £ DTS5SI I E=Fal~e] -
588 I-888 38338 R MMK’000 MMK'000
2o 2RO ~Rwo|lX o
[l N = —~ -
£32 55 S RN L ) Yoma Bank Ltd. (YB) 55,598,057 55,598,057
e N N = - - Yoma OUE Taunggyi Hospital Limited (YOTH) 4,748,278 4,748,278
= Yoma OUE Pun Hlaing Hospital Limited (YOPHH) 1,239,863 1,239,863
s oE P ~wo e o FMI Industrial Investment Co., Ltd.(FMI 1)V 735 735
§288 3B I 59 |8 B 61,586,933 61,586,933
2S2° oo oS N o N o
£E£%=s & & 3 3 ] . I . . N .
=8 |5 < o ) The carrying amount of goodwill is immaterial to the Group. Accordingly, no impairment assessment is
8 € performed.
C o o © o~ N~ - The Group tests goodwill at the reporting date for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that
v-c &5 e 38 S5 Lac NECRR Y 2 goodwill might be impaired.
N TEOES oenSle SRIG R g
> s 23X o0 0~ NS 1) . . « ” .
G) o2 c 3= oo TN o~ T L2I5 o) The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on value in use (“VIU”) calculations. The key
) Dt & o2 ¥V R 27 R 3 assumptions for the VIU calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected
Cﬁ Q changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. Management estimates discount rates using
q) c % o 1 ilo o>© ' o 0 pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
"c 238 § 3 3 8 S I CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts and committed expansion plans. Changes
o yuy g r 8 © 0o > L in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the
p— 2 2 d N 2] o ™ market.
© U § -2 R R
o
— N - x Cash flow projections used in the VIU calculations were based on financial budget approved by management
7)) G =z - o wo ' o - ' o N covering a five-year period. Estimated cash flows beyond the five-year period are estimated using perpetual
m o u cclg w0 Qo ©wo o w growth terminal value formula. The growth rate did not exceed the long-term average rate for the CGUs.
< = 58 w—w Jo oN 8= ~|
e - = £ 23 28 dN 23 =B 3 . . .
C,) ™ o T2= NY [T TS »e 21 Key estimates used for value-in-use calculations:
[a w = 59 JI8 O £
U y— a 2 Average budgeted Perpetual Pre-tax
m g : = qross margin growth rate discount rate
o % = - N 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
oy < < S N S e o o~
- oy > J S 8 82 8 o8 — :
< % = N gsfE & 34 Financial services
/s Q o > 5 S 8.6 s Sg YB 39.02%  50.66% 10% 8%  23.20%  20.40%
zZ 7] == 0% 0
UV 3 = i 82855 285585t 8% .
P o w0287 5 250895 % Healthcare services
H o (o) nO0O=sals 325588 o
Q " = 3-S5t 88Q082EZ g2 YOTH 54.02%  53.53% 8% 8% 29.17%  26.87%
O oy £ o O<<h=< <« Z<00=Z z2<Z YOPHH 50.92%  51.70% 8% 8% 29.68% 26.10%
[a 4
Z I~ B o
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126

GOODWILL

Sensitivity analysis

The recoverable amount of respective CGU would be lower for any adverse movement in key assumption.
The following changes in assumption would have resulted in a significant decrease in recoverable value of

CGU:

For the financial year from
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023

An increase of 1% in discount rate
A decrease of 1% in perpetual
growth rate
A decrease of 1% in gross profit margin

For the financial period from
1 October 2021 to 31 March 2022

An increase of 1% in discount rate
A decrease of 1% in perpetual
growth rate
A decrease of 1% in gross profit margin

As at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, the management believes that any reasonably possible change
to the key assumptions applied would not likely to cause the recoverable amounts to be below the carrying

amounts of the CGUs.

Financial
service
YB
MMK’000

31,303,571

22,934,783
52,406,016

Financial
service
YB
MMK’000

64,247,217

47,032,115
19,425,564
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Healthcare service

YOTH
MMK’000

513,560,773

310,882,928
315,232,286

YOPHH
MMK’000

2,451,992

1,453,424
1,634,270

Healthcare service

YOTH
MMK’000

536,898,830

338,001,358
311,842,516

YOPHH
MMK’'000

2,524,211

1,633,785
1,673,863

e0

Total
MMK’000

547,316,336

335,271,135
369,272,572

Total
MMK’000

603,670,258

386,667,258
332,941,943
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Statement of the Directors

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost

At April 1, 2022
Additions
Reclassification
Write-off

At March 31, 2023

Accumulated amortisation
At April 1, 2022

Amortisation charge (Note 26)
Write-off

At March 31, 2023

Net book value
At March 31, 2023

Cost

At October 1, 2021
Additions

Write-off

At March 31, 2022

Accumulated amortisation
At October 1, 2021
Amortisation charge (Note 26)
Write-off

At March 31, 2022

Net book value
At March 31, 2022

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current
Trade payables
- Non-related parties

Non-trade payables

- Non-related parties
- Related parties (")

- Associates

Accrued operating expenses
Interest income received in advance
Refundable deposits

Rental income received in advance
Total

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

Computer

software Licenses Total
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
7,957,693 4,568,849 12,526,542
677,771 - 677,771
(48,526) (48,526)
(1,472,042) (15,916) (1,487,958)
7,114,896 4,552,933 11,667,829
3,792,152 1,996,732 5,788,884
1,431,860 573,048 2,004,908
(1,472,042) (15,916) (1,487,958)
3,751,970 2,553,864 6,305,834
3,362,926 1,999,069 5,361,995
9,286,381 4,467,503 13,753,884
653,923 101,346 755,269
(1,982,611) - (1,982,611)
7,957,693 4,568,849 12,526,542
5,150,108 1,731,705 6,881,813
624,655 265,027 889,682
(1,982,611) - (1,982,611)
3,792,152 1,996,732 5,788,884
4,165,541 2,572,117 6,737,658
2023 2022

MMK’000 MMK’000

45,987,325 38,288,263

2,622,906 1,327,647

40,622,590 25,447,977

1,306,868 -

44,552,364 26,775,624

8,888,696 8,869,603

1,063,737 1,785,852

785,299 3,039,247

107,905 94,500

101,385,326 78,853,089
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19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The average credit period on purchase of goods of the healthcare subsidiary is 30 days (March 31, 2022:
30 days). No interest charged on the overdue trade payables.

Non-trade payables to related companies are unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on demand.

(' Non-trade payables to related parties include a loan agreement with Next Lead Holdings Limited
amounting to USD3.0 million which was entered on August 20, 2019. The loan carries an interest rate
of 6% per annum and was repayable on June 21, 2021. On June 21, 2021, the loan was extended for
another six months until December 21, 2021. On December 21, 2021, the maturity date of the
Company’s loan from Next Lead Holdings Limited was extended for another three months until March
21, 2022. On March 21, 2022, the Company entered into extension of loan agreement with partial
principal repayment of USD1.8 million and the remaining principal of USD1.2 million was extended to
March 31, 2023. The loan principal and its interest were paid during the financial year.

20 BORROWINGS

2023 2022

MMK’000 MMK’000

Bank borrowings 29,851,154 29,851,154
Other borrowings 3,835,308 3,080,097
33,686,462 32,931,251

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months

(shown under current liabilities)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months

Details of the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

(29,851,154)
3,835,308

(24,851,154)
8,080,097

(a) a loan of MMK17,482.5 million (2022: MMK17,482.5 million) in which comprising (i) MMK 11,031.5
million loan with the interest rate of 10% per annum which is secured by the Company's share in Yoma
OUE Pun Hlaing Hospital Ltd, a subsidiary and (ii) MMK 6,451 million loan with the interest rate of 14.5%

per annum.

(b) a loan of MMK7,368.7 million (2022: MMK7,368.7 million) raised by healthcare subsidiary on July 5,
2018. The bank loan is unsecured and carries an interest rate of 13% per annum.

(c) a loan of MMK5,000.0 million (2022: MMK5,000.0 million) raised by the healthcare subsidiary on
November 6, 2020. The bank loan is secured by its land and building located in Hlaing Thar Yar and
carries an interest rate of 9% per annum with a term of 3 years.

(d) a loan of USD2.0 million or equivalent to MMK3,835.3 million (2022: USD2.0 million or equivalent to
MMK3,080.1 million). The loan is unsecured and unguaranteed. The loan does not carry interest and is
repayable on the 5th anniversary of the first disbursement. The fair value of the loan at the time of
issuance amounted to MMK2,198.1 million and the difference between the proceeds and fair value
amounting to MMK841.9 million is recorded as non-controlling interest in the consolidated statement of
financial position. During the financial period, the Group recognized an amortization of the discount on
the loan which was recorded as finance expense, amounting to MMK232.5 million (2022: MMK98.7

million).
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21 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the
same fiscal authority. The amounts determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the statements of
financial position as follows:
2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
Deferred income tax liabilities
- To be settled within one year 75,496 75,496
- To be settled after one year 3,612,044 3,687,540
3,687,540 3,763,036
The movement in deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:
2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
Non-current
Fair value of land and buildings
At beginning of the financial year/period 3,763,036 3,800,783
Credited to profit or loss (Note 29) (75,496) (37,747)
At end of the financial year/period 3,687,540 3,763,036
22 SHARE CAPITAL
2023 2022 2023 2022
Number of ordinary shares MMK’000 MMK’000
At beginning and end of the financial
year/period 33,109,694 33,109,694 182,516,870 182,516,870
All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. There is no par value for these ordinary shares.
Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as and when declared by
the Company.
23  QUASI-EQUITY LOAN

On November 13, 2019, the Company entered into a Convertible Loan Agreement with Ayala Corporation
(“Lender”) for USD82.5 million which was terminated on March 23, 2022 and entered into a new loan
agreement with Ayala Corporation (“Ayala”) as both parties intend to restructure the existing convertible loan
amounting to USD82.5 million (“Restructured Loan”) which has already been disbursed in 2020 into a
perpetual loan. Accordingly, Ayala and the Company entered into a restructured loan agreement on March
23, 2022 (the “Restructured Loan Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Restructured Loan Agreement, both Ayala and the Company agreed amongst other things
that the Restructured Loan is a perpetual loan with no fixed maturity date which shall be made by way of
redemption shares of 8,277,424 new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company based on the share issue
price of MMK15,000 per redemption share subject to the terms and conditions of the Restructured Loan
Agreement.
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24 RESERVES 26  ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Capital reserve ()
At beginning of the financial year/period

2023
MMK’000

59,238,674

2022
MMK’000

57,927,124

For the financial
year from

April 1, 2022 to
March 31, 2023

For the financial
period from
October 1, 2021 to
March 31, 2022

- - i ) MMK’000 MMK’000
Add: Share of capital reserve for the financial year/period 4,043,288 1,311,550
Atend of the financial year/period 63,281,962 59.238.674 Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) 2,004,908 889,682
Investment revaluation reserve @ Annual general meeting expenses 64,343 67,000
At beginning of the financial year/period (6,024,791) (6,428,947) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 16) 8,511,621 3,821,669
Add: Revaluation gain 1,441,097 404,156 Director’'s remuneration 151,017 48,375
Add: Reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition (Note 28) 8,009,332 - Employee benefit expenses 55,736,780 24,172,469
At end of the financial year/period 3,425,638 (6,024,791) IT and communication expenses 3,766,254 1,792,984
Equity reserve © Listing fees 14,462 7,310
At beginning of the financial year/period (23,648,846) (23,648,846) Marketing and promotion 1,851,308 530,466
Add: Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity 2,900,833 - Office rental expenses 10,056,640 4,095,066
Add: Effect of changes in ownership interest in the bank Office supplies 3,454,026 1,000,163
subsidiary during the financial year/period 627,961 - Professional fees 3,468,279 3,090,164
At the end of the financial year/period (20,120,052) (23,648,846) Renovation and maintenance expenses 2,619,910 2,878,092
. . . Taxes and licenses 7,782,150 2,417,681
Share in other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates Travelling and related costs 3 275.661 861 095
At beginning of the financial year/period (7,117,153) (6,662,082) " 9 ’ ’ ’
Add: Share in other comprehensive income/(loss) for Utilities 3,509,607 1,169,434
the financial year/period (Note 13) 1,799,091 (455,071) Additional 2% general reserve 2,607,266 -
At end of the financial year/period (5,318,062) (7,117,153) Write-off/ (Write-back) for impairment on repossessed
properties (Note 9) 6,471,479 (325,845)
Total reserves 41,269,486 22,447,884 Write-back for impairment on loans and advances (Note 7) (12,920,863) (2,660,218)
Others 6,559,726 270,350
() Capital reserve includes statutory reserve fund, reserve fund for contingencies, and reserve for bad and 108.984 574 44 125 937
doubtful debts in compliance with Central Bank of Myanmar regulations. — —
@ Investment revaluation reserve represents fair value changes on available-for-sale investments of the
Company and bank subsidiary to market value as at the reporting date.
®)  Equity reserve represents the effect of changes in ownership interest in the bank subsidiary when there 27 FINANCE EXPENSES
is no change in control (Note 4).
For the financial For the financial
These reserves are non-distributable. year from period from

April 1, 2022 to
March 31, 2023

October 1, 2021 to
March 31, 2022

25 REVENUE MMK’000 MMK’000
For the financial  For the financial Interest expenses 3,133,622 1,637,735
year from period from 42 644 33.712
April 1,2022 to October 1, 2021 to Bank charges 3176968 571447
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 2 2 2 2
MMK’000 MMK’000
Rendering of services:
Financial services 278,994,608 108,905,183
Healthcare services 60,524,539 29,684,541
Rental income (Note 15, Note 31) 72,000 36,000
Dividend income 2,260 67,740
339,593,407 138,693,464
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28 OTHER LOSSES, NET

Gain on fair value of investment property

Gain on disposal of property and equipment

Loss on derecognition of available-for-sale investment

Gain on foreign currency exchange, net

Provision for impairment/Write-off of inventories (vaccine
and medical supplies)

Write-off of property, plant and equipment (Note 16)

Others

For the financial

e0

For the financial

year from period from
April 1, October 1, 2021
2022 to March 31, to March 31, 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
268,450 -
399,824 35,674
(8,009,332) -
5,095,538 1,077,391
(894,805) (981,636)
(283,021) (1,293,785)
1,269 (1,218)
(3,422,077) (1,163,574)

29 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current income tax expense
Deferred tax credit (Note 21)

For the financial
year from

April 1, 2022 to
March 31, 2023

For the financial
period from
October 1, 2021 to
March 31, 2022

MMK’000 MMK’000
4,017,993 1,619,891

(75,496) (37,747)
3,942,497 1,582,144

The total charge for the financial year/period can be reconciled to accounting profit as follows:

Profit before income tax

For the financial
year from

April 1, 2022 to
March 31, 2023

For the financial
period from

October 1, 2021 to

March 31, 2022

Tax at statutory income tax rate of 22% (2022: 22%)
Effect of:

- Non-taxable income

- Non-deductible expense

- Tax on capital gain

Total income tax expense

MMK’000 MMK’000
8,075,501 6,362,820
1,776,610 1,399,820
(1,446,788) (715,772)
3,569,405 898,096
43,270 -
3,942,497 1,582,144
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30

31

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on

the following data:

For the financial
year from

April 1, 2022 to
March 31, 2023

MMK’000
(Loss)/Profit for the financial year/period, attributable to
owners of the Company (MMK’000) (701,769)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
for basic earnings per share ('000) 33,110
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (MMK per share) (21)

For the financial
period from
October 1, 2021 to
March 31, 2022
MMK’000

1,470,464

33,110
44

For the purpose of calculating diluted (loss)/earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has
dilutive potential ordinary shares in relation to ordinary shares to be issued in connection with the 8,277,424

redemption shares which will be allotted and issued to the lender (Note 23).

For the financial
year from

April 1, 2022 to
March 31, 2023

For the financial
period from
October 1, 2021 to
March 31, 2022

MMK’000 MMK’000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
for basic earnings per share ('000) 33,110 33,110
Adjusted for (‘000)
- Quasi-equity loan 8,277 8,277
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
for diluted earnings per share ('000) 41,387 41,387
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (MMK per share) (21) 36

The diluted loss per share computations have not taken into consideration the effects of quasi-equity loan for
the financial year ended March 31, 2023, as they were anti-dilutive pursuant to para 41 of MAS 33 Earnings

per Share.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
At the end of the financial year/ period, the Group has the following commitments:
The Group as lessee

Payments recognised as an expense during the financial year/ period:

2023
MMK’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 10,056,640

2022
MMK’000

4,095,066
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31 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
At the reporting date, the Group has no significant operating lease commitments under non-cancellable
operating leases as it has been prepaid as disclosed in Note 9. Operating lease payments represents rentals
payable by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for an
average term of 5 years.
The Group as a lessor
The Group leases commercial and investment properties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.
These leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The payment due are computed
without the escalation clauses and renewal rights as the quantum has not been determined. Property rental
income earned during the financial year ended March 31, 2023 was MMK 72,000,000 (six-month financial
period ended March 31, 2022: MMK 36,000,000) (Note 25).
At the reporting date, the Group has contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:
2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’'000
Within one year 72,000 72,000
In the second year inclusive 72,000 -
144,000 72,000
32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments
Capital expenditures contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements
excluding those relating to investment in joint venture (Note 12) and investment in associates (Note 13), are
as follows:
2023 2022
MMK’'000 MMK’'000
Property, plant and equipment - 2,031,113
Operating commitments
At the reporting date, the bank subsidiary has the following commitments:
2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
(a) Lease commitments:
Within one year 88,515 538,790
In the second to fifth year 2,029,357 2,166,019
From the fifth year onwards 998,586 26,081,601
3,116,458 28,786,410
(b) Undrawn loan commitments
Undrawn overdraft 59,089,795 50,226,097
Undrawn trade credit facilities 101,663,701 67,930,532
160,753,496 118,156,629
163,869,954 146,943,039
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32

33

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

Contingent liabilities

The following sets out the bank subsidiary’s contingent liabilities as at the reporting date, based on the
maximum amount the bank subsidiary would have to pay if the obligations of the instruments issued are called

upon:
2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
Letter of credit (foreign currency) - 1,301,122
Performance guarantees 29,665,858 14,493,965
Performance guarantees (foreign currency) 12,140,315 22,363,593
41,806,173 38,158,680
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Categories of financial instruments
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the reporting date:
2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’'000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 617,328,125 747,754,535
Interbank placements 69,475,000 5,000,000
Trade and other receivables 119,196,820 81,813,184
Loans and advances to customer, by the bank subsidiary 2,107,473,851 1,630,798,734
Available-for-sale investments 54,487,127 52,548,654
Government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary 796,450,403 620,294,752

3,764,411,326

3,138,209,859

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost:
Trade and other payables
Deposits and balances from customers, by the bank subsidiary
Interbank borrowings and securities sold with agreement

to repurchase, by the bank subsidiary 30,275,000
Borrowings 33,686,462

100,213,684
3,500,877,524

76,972,737
2,776,288,270

19,558,000
32,931,251

3,665,052,670

2,905,750,258

Financial risk management policies and objectives

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and equity
price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and legal and compliance risks. The Group’s overall risk
management strategy seeks to minimize adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the
Group’s financial performance. The Group has adopted the policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarized below.

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.

(a) Market risk

(i)

Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. As the Group has
interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities, the Group’s income and expense are
dependent on changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-bearing financial assets pertain to short-term fixed deposits placed with
reputable financial institutions in Myanmar, available-for-sale Myanmar government and other
securities and loans and advances to customers, which all carry fixed interest rates. Management
has assessed that any change in the interest rate would not have significant impact to the Group’s
interest income due to the short-term maturity of fixed deposits and loans and advances to
customers and the three to five-year term of Myanmar government securities.

The Group’s interest-bearing financial liabilities pertain to deposits from customers and certain
borrowings which carry fixed interest rates and variable interest rates, respectively. Management
has assessed that any change in the interest rate would not have a significant impact on the
Group’s interest expenses as the Group aims to obtain the most favourable interest rates available
in the market, except on the variable interest rate borrowings as described below.

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for
non-derivative financial liability instruments at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated
change taking place at the beginning of the financial period and held constant throughout the
reporting period in the case of instruments that have floating rates. A 50-basis point increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

The Group does not hold any variable interest rate borrowings as at March 31, 2023 and March
31, 2022, hence no sensitivity analysis has been performed for the financial year/period.

Foreign exchange risk management

The Group operates mainly in Myanmar. Entities in the Group regularly transact in various foreign
currencies other than their respective functional currencies (“foreign currencies”). Currency risk
arises in the Group when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies such as Euro
(“EUR”), Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), and United States Dollar (“USD”).

These exposures are managed primarily by using natural hedges that arise from offsetting assets
and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives

(a)  Market risk

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk management

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of significant monetary assets and monetary liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency are as follows:

March 31, 2023
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Loans and advances to customers,
by the bank subsidiary
Available-for-sale financial assets
Government & other securities, by the bank

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Deposits and balances from customers,
by the bank subsidiary

Borrowing
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP,
bv the bank subsidiary

March 31, 2022

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Loans and advances to customers,
by the bank subsidiary

Available-for-sale financial assets

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Deposits and balances from customers,
by the bank subsidiary

Borrowing

Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP,
by the bank subsidiary

Emerging Stronger, Positioning for the Future

EUR SGD usD
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
6,050,276 997,058 168,839,564

- 2,276,173 8,440,237

- - 5,053,565

8,295 - -

- - 56,917,000
6,058,571 3,273,231 239,250,366
3,974,431 1,171,389 75,172,871
2,084,140 10,696 158,486,611
27,953,473

6,058,571 1,182,085 261,612,955

EUR SGD uUsD
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
1,902,464 281,677 112,683,079

- - 6,752,558

- - 48,289,457

7,181 - -
1,909,645 281,677 167,725,094
118,263 389,407 34,037,199
1,791,383 18,751 128,001,425
- - 22,638,097
1,909,646 408,158 184,676,721
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33  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Financial risk management policies and objectives
(a)  Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk management
Foreign currency sensitivity

The following analysis details the sensitivity to a 10% increase/decrease in the relevant foreign
currencies against the functional currency of the Group. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk exposures internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates, which is the change
in foreign exchange rate that management deems reasonably possible which will affect
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items at period end. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates.

If the relevant foreign currency were to strengthen by 10% against the functional currency of the
Group, profit for the year will decrease by:

2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
USD impact (2,236,259) (1,695,163)

If the relevant foreign currency were to weaken by 10% against the functional currency, there will
be equal but opposite impact on profit for the period.

Other than USD, other foreign currencies do not have significant impact to the Group.

(i)  Equity price risk management
The Group is exposed to equity risks arising from equity instruments classified as available-for-
sale. Available-for-sale equity instruments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The
Group does not actively trade available-for-sale investments.
Further details of these equity investments can be found in Notes 11 to the financial statements.
Equity price sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks
at the end of the reporting period.

In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, if the inputs to the valuation model had been
10% higher/lower while all other variables were held constant:

e The Group’s profit for the financial year ended March 31, 2023 and six-month financial period
ended March 31, 2022 would have been unaffected as the equity investment are classified
as available-for-sale and no investments were disposed of or impaired; and

e The Group’s investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by MMK 199,486,000
(2022: increase/decrease by MMK281,633,000).

The Group’s sensitivity to equity prices has not changed significantly from the prior financial
period.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives

(b)

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s major classes of financial assets are loans and advances from
customers held by the bank subsidiary, Myanmar government securities held by the bank subsidiary,
bank deposits and trade and other receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with reputable
financial institutions.

For trade receivables, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with customers with appropriate credit
histories and obtaining sufficient security where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other financial
assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with credit-worthy counterparties. The maximum
exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of
financial instruments presented on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on
the financial condition of trade receivables. The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure
to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group
defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities.

The credit risk for trade receivables based on the information provided to management is as follows:

2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000

By type of customers:
- External parties 20,960,608 18,745,541

Further details of credit risks on trade receivables are disclosed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For loans and advances from customers held by the bank subsidiary, the Board of Directors of the bank
subsidiary approves major policies and limits that govern credit risk. The Board of Directors delegates
authority to the Credit Risk Management Committee for overseeing the credit risk of the bank subsidiary.
The bank subsidiary structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of
risk acceptable in relation to one borrower, groups of borrowers and industry segments. Such risks are
monitored on a regular basis and are subject to annual or more frequent review. The maximum exposure
to credit risk of loans and advances from customers held by the bank subsidiary on the consolidated
statement of financial position is limited to the carrying amount on the consolidated statement of financial
position, without taking into account the fair value of any collateral.

The credit risk for loans and advances by the bank subsidiary based on the information provided to
management is as follows:

2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000

By type of customers:
- Other companies 1,773,930,441 1,313,194,185
- Individuals 333,543,410 317,604,549
2,107,473,851 1,630,798,734
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33  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives

(b)

Credit risk management

Collateral and other credit enhancements

(b)

Credit risk management

Credit quality of loans and advances

In respect of the bank subsidiary’s deposits with other banks, the bank subsidiary considers the 2023 2022
exposure to credit risk to be low as these deposits are placed with credit-worthy financial institutions. MMK’000 MMK’000
The bank subsidiary seeks to use collateral to mitigate its risks on financial assets. The collateral comes Loans with specific provision — Loss category
in various forms such as cash, real estate, inventories, and other non-financial assets. The fair value of Standard 96,142,040 184,868,398
collateral is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception and based on the bank subsidiary’s statutory Watch 4,378,490 50,703,974
reporting schedule. Substandard 3,289,890 17,520,895
Doubtful 3,629,609 26,903,115
To the extent possible, the bank subsidiary uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as Loss 36,490,445 140,142,133
collateral. Non-financial collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by approved Total loans with specific provision — Loss category 143,930,474 420,138,515

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

third party property assessors or other independent sources.

2,152,343,855 1,701,766,482

Where collaterals are repossessed, the bank subsidiary’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed
asset can be best used for its internal operations or should be sold. Assets determined to be useful for
the internal operations are transferred to their relevant asset category at the lower of their repossessed
value or the carrying value of the original secured asset. Assets for which selling is determined to be a (c)  Liquidity risk management
better option are transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value or fair value less cost to sell for
non-financial assets at the repossession date in line with the Bank’s policy.

All other financial assets are neither past due nor impaired as of the reporting date.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities. The Group manages liquidity risks by monitoring its liquidity position through
periodic preparation of cash flow and cash balance forecasts and periodic evaluation of the ability of
the Group to meet its financial obligations, measured by a gearing ratio. The Group maintains sufficient
cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance their activities.

As at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, the fair value of collateral that the bank subsidiary holds
relating to impaired loans with specific provision under the loss category amounts to MMK161,108.5
million and MMK101,889.7 million, respectively.

Credit quality of loans and advances At the reporting date, the Group had net current liabilities of MMK247,000.9 million (2022: MMK

32,851.5 million). The Directors are satisfied that there is no going concern issue as the Group can
easily convert government securities held by the bank subsidiary of MMK490,292.1 million (2022:
MMK392,673.9 million) into cash and cash equivalents with no significant changes in fair value.

The bank subsidiary adopts an internally developed credit rating scale, which generally corresponds to
the classification set out in the CBM Notification No. 17/2017 Asset Classification and Provisioning
Regulations. The following table sets out the credit classification of the bank subsidiary’s loans and
advances as at March 31, 2023. Liquidity risk analyses

2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The table below analyses the non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group in
their relevant maturity groupings based on the length of remaining period from the reporting date to
the contracted maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contracted undiscounted cash
flows. Balances due within 12 months are presented at their carrying amounts as the impact of

Neither past due nor impaired 1,800,550,173 1,100,191,511

Past due but not impaired

Standard 56,122,998 67,707,930 discounting is not significant.
Watch 17,497,987 22,003,211
Substandard 6,341,424 9,311,525
Doubtful 2,469,883 12,679,340
Loss 125,430,916 69,734,450
Total past due but not impaired 207,863,208 181,436,456
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(c)

(d)

(e)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives

Liquidity risk management

Less than Between 1
1 year and 5 years Total
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
March 31, 2023
Trade and other payables 100,223,440 - 100,223,440
Deposits and balances from customers,
by the bank subsidiary 3,500,877,524 - 3,500,877,524
Borrowings 11,062,529 29,489,774 40,552,303
3,612,163,493 29,489,774 3,641,653,267
March 31, 2022
Trade and other payables 79,023,096 - 79,023,096
Deposits and balances from customers,
by the bank subsidiary 2,776,288,270 - 2,776,288,270
Borrowings 27,213,103 8,656,525 35,869,628
2,882,524,469 8,656,525 2,891,180,994

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other
payables, approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these
financial instruments. The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in
the respective notes to consolidated financial statements. The management considers the carrying
amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values, unless otherwise mentioned in the consolidated financial
statements.

Operational risk

Operational risk is a risk that is inherent in all business activities. Financial losses and business
instability can result from failures in operational processes, internal policies or support systems. The
Group has established an appropriate operational risk management framework to address operational
risks within the risk appetite mandated by management and align its risk management strategies to
overall business objectives. The Group’s bank subsidiary has risk policies and committees that are
appropriate for a large financial institution.

The Group recognises that every operational risk cannot be entirely eliminated and strives to balance
the cost of controls with the potential benefits of risk management. The Group will continue to invest in
appropriate risk management and mitigation programs such as business continuity management and
incident management.
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Financial risk management policies and objectives
) Legal and compliance risk

Legal risk is the risk to the Group's business activities resulting from unintended or unexpected legal
action. This risk could arise from insufficient authority of a counterparty, uncertainty about the validity or
enforceability of a contract, civil claims against the Group's property or interpretation errors in taxation
utilizes competent internal and external counsel when entering into agreements.

Compliance risk is the risk of material financial loss or loss of reputation resulting from the failure or
inability of the Group to comply with relevant industry-specific laws, regulations or procedures. The Group
actively identifies and manages compliance risk through effective use of its external and internal
compliance advisers. Accordingly, the Group also monitors its entities' compliance with relevant
international regulatory requirements.

Capital risk management policies and objectives

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximize shareholder value. In order to maintain
or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings.

Management monitors the Group’s capital based on a gearing ratio excluding the bank subsidiary as the bank
subsidiary is subject to the capital adequacy requirements set out by the Central Bank of Myanmar ("CBM")
and the minimum regulatory Capital Adequacy Ratio (“CAR”) set for the year is 8% (2022: 8%).

During the financial year ended March 31, 2023, the Group's strategies remain unchanged from March 31,
2022.

The gearing ratio of the Group is calculated as net debt divided by total capital excluding the bank subsidiary’s
net debts and total capital. Net debt is calculated as borrowings plus trade and other payables less cash and
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as total equity plus net debt.

2023 2022

MMK’000 MMK’000

Net debt 80,859,022 62,553,535
Total equity 254,788,531 259,314,149
Total capital 335,647,553 321,867,684
Gearing ratio 24% 19%

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements except for its bank subsidiary.

The bank subsidiary's CAR as at March 31, 2023 stands at 10.65% (2022: 13.99%). During the current period,
the bank subsidiary has complied with the CAR requirement as per CBM Notification No. 16/2017 dated July
7,2017.
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34 RELATED COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 SEGMENT INFORMATION
Related companies in these consolidated financial statements refer to members of the shareholder’s group of (i)  The financial services segment is in the business of carrying out banking business, including domestic
companies. remittance business and financial services.

(i) The healthcare services segment is in the business of owning and operating hospitals, clinics and the
provision of healthcare related services.

Some of the Group’s transactions are between members of the shareholders and the Group. The effect of
these on the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

For the financial For the financial (iv) The investment holding segment is in the business of investing in associates and joint venture.
year from period from

April 1, 2022 to October 1, 2021 to
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

The Group’s reportable segments operate in Myanmar.

The segment information provided to the key management team for the reportable segments are as follows:

MMK’'000 MMK’000
. . ] Real estate Financial Healthcare Investment
With associates: services services services holding Total
Rental expenses (4,501,969) (1,570,084) MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
Interest income 548,471 241,140 For the financial year
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (111,242,060) - ended March 31, 2023
Other expenses (1,019,576) (120,441)
Revenue - 278,996,868 61,018,836 72,000 340,087,704
. . . . Elimination of inter-
With entities related by common controlling shareholders: segment revenue ) ) (494.297) ) (494,297)
Rental expenses (1,265,229) (526,439) - 278,996,868 60,524,539 72,000 339,593,407
Interest Income (189,485) 235,548
Other expenses ' (950,339) (573,544) Cost of revenue - (187,039,673)  (32,819,292) - (219,858,965)
" Other expenses relate to net expenditures on inter-group operating activities. Gross profit - 91,957,195 27,705,247 72,000 119,734,442
During the financial year, Directors' r.e.munera_tion_ amounted to MMK_ 158.5 million (six-month financial period Administrative expenses _ (85,169,508) (20,892,307)  (2,922,759) (108,984,574)
ended March 31, 2022: MMK 48.4 million) which includes the Executive Chairman's remuneration as follows:
. . . . Finance expenses - - (1,488,225)  (1,688,041) (3,176,266)
For the financial For the financial
Aoril élleg{);rzotm Octob pe;ic;%;o:n Other gains/(losses), net - 8,257,947 (3,669,326)  (8,010,698) (3,422,077)
pril 1, (o) ctober 1, (o)
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 - (76,911,561)  (26,049,858) (12,621,498) (115,582,917)
MMK'000 MMK’000 Share of profits/(losses)
of associates
Other allowance 60,000 30,000 and joint venture 4,189,529 - - (265,553) 3,923,976
Bonus 40,580 - Profit/(Loss) before
100,580 30,000 income tax 4,189,529 15,045,634 1,655,389 (12,815,051) 8,075,501
Income tax expense - (3,811,414) (131,083) - (3,942,497)
35 SEGMENT INFORMATION Net profit/(loss) 4,189,529 11234220 1524306 (12,815,051) 4,133,004
Management determines operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the key management team
that are used to make strategic decisions. The key management team comprises of the Executive Chairman,
the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the heads of each business who directly report to Segment assets _ - 3886,460,536 58,984,503 240,815,827 4,186,260,866
the Executive Chairman on their respective entity’s business. Seg.".‘e”t assets include:
Additions to:
) . - Property, plant and
The Group’s reportable segments under MFRS 8 are as follows: equipment ) 122,514,954 9,667,354 9.526 132,191,834
(i) The real estate services segment is in the business of property development, sale of development - Intangible assets ) 677,771 ) ) 677,771
properties, providing project management, design and estate management services as well as property s liabiliti
leasing. egment liabilities - 3,583,452,232 35,162,748 55,707,124  3,674,322,104
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The Group’s reportable segments operate in Myanmar.
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The segment information provided to the key management team for the reportable segments are as follows:

Real estate Financial Healthcare Investment
services services services holding Total
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000
For the financial period
ended March 31, 2022
Revenue - 108,908,573 29,712,644 100,350 138,721,567
Elimination of inter-
segment revenue - - (28,103) - (28,103)
- 108,908,573 29,684,541 100,350 138,693,464
Cost of revenue - (68,143,402) (15,490,672) - (83,634,074)
Gross profit - 40,765,171 14,193,869 100,350 55,059,390
Administrative expenses - (33,637,194) (9,453,770)  (1,034,973)  (44,125,937)
Finance expenses - - (777,252) (894,195) (1,671,447)
Other gains/(losses), net - (683,213) (601,394) 121,033 (1,163,574)
- (34,320,407) (10,832,416)  (1,808,135)  (46,960,958)
Share of losses of
associates and joint
venture (1,678,304) - - (57,308) (1,735,612)
Profit/(Loss) before
income tax (1,678,304) 6,444,764 3,361,453  (1,765,093) 6,362,820
Income tax expense - (1,453,735) (128,409) - (1,582,144)
Net (loss)/profit (1,678,304) 4,991,029 3,233,044 (1,765,093) 4,780,676
Segment assets - 3,097,099,499 36,213,828 286,660,630 3,419,973,957
Segment assets
include:
Additions to:
- Property, plant and
equipment - 6,325,602 2,291,715 6,823 8,624,140
- Intangible assets - 755,269 - - 755,269
Segment liabilities - 2,844,283,357 32,298,176 39,268,544 2,915,850,077
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35 SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a)  Reconciliation

(i) Segment profit before income tax

Segment gross profit

Administrative expenses

Finance expenses

Other losses, net

Share in profits/(losses) of associates and joint
venture, net of tax

Independent Auditor’s Report

For the financial
year from

April 1, 2022 to
March 31, 2023

For the financial
period from

October 1, 2021 to

March 31, 2022

MMK’000 MMK’000
119,734,442 55,059,390
(108,984,574) (44,125,937)
(3,176,266) (1,671,447)
(3,422,077) (1,163,574)
3,923,976 (1,735,612)
8,075,501 6,362,820

(i) Segment assets

The amounts provided to management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner
consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements.

Segment assets for reportable segments
Investment holding segment assets

2023
MMK’'000

3,945,445,039

2022
MMK’000

3,133,313,327

(i)  Segment liabilities

Segment liabilities for reportable segments
Investment holding segment liabilities

240,815,827 286,660,630
4,186,260,866 3,419,973,957
2023 2022
MMK’000 MMK’000
3,618,614,980 2,876,581,533
55,707,124 39,268,544
3,674,322,104 2,915,850,077

(b)  Revenues from major products and services

Financial services
Healthcare services
Investment holding

For the financial
year from

April 1, 2022 to
March 31, 2023

For the financial
period from
October 1, 2021 to
March 31, 2022

MMK’000 MMK’000
278,996,868 108,908,573
60,524,539 29,684,541
72,000 100,350
339,593,407 138,693,464
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Notes to Consolidated Statistic of
Financial Statements Shareholdings

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 As at 13 June 2023

36 Reclassifications

. . . . . . . I . L Class of Shares Ordinary Shares
In line with the presentation of current financial year, reclassifications of certain financial statement line items . iorh o <h
have been made to the prior year's financial statements. Since the amounts are reclassified within the VTGS (RS _ AL bR
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, this reclassification did not have any effect on the financial No. of issued and fully paid-up shares 33,109,694

performance, consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statement of cash flows. Treasury Shares Nil
Subsidiary Holdings Nil

Details of reclassification of line items in consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the financial
year ended 31 March 2022 are as follows:

Before Reclassification After TEN LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
reclassification adjustments reclassification
MMK'000 MMK'000 MMK'000 (as shown in the Register of Yangon Stock Exchange as of 13 June 2023)

Administrative expenses .
- Others 1,271,884 (1,001,534) 270,350 No. Name Nationality Number of bzl

shares held ratio (%)
Other losses, net 1 Yangon Land Co., Ltd. Myanmar Company 9,548,480 28.84%

- Written off of vaccine and medical . . 0

supplies _ 981,636 981,636 2 Theim Wai @ Serge Pun Myanmar 7,895,295 23.85%
- Written off of property, plant, and 3 001 Offshore Shares Limited Foreign Company 4,450,000 13.44%
equipment 1,273,887 19,898 1,293,785 4 SPA Assets Management Ltd. Myanmar Company 1,251,442 3.78%
5 Phyo Phyu Noe Myanmar 1,180,810 3.57%
37 AUTHORIZATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 6 KBZ Trusts Client Escrow Myanmar Company 1,113,211 3.36%
7 Group Synergetic Force Co., Ltd. Myanmar Company 950,086 2.87%
These financial statements of the Group were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of First Myanmar 8 Yoma Mvittar Develo t Co. Ltd M Co 942 715 2 85%
Investment Public Co., Ltd. on June 26, 2023. ma Viytar Development -0. =t¢. yanmar Lompany . 227
9 Smart & Trust Services Co., Ltd. Myanmar Company 644,857 1.95%
10 Aike Ti Myanmar 319,117 0.96%
Total 28,296,013 85.46%

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS ABOVE 5%

(as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders having an interest in 5% and above of the issued and paid up voting
share capital of Company)

Name of Shareholders Direct Interest Deemed Interest
No. of Shares % No. of Shares %
Theim Wai @ Serge Pun 9,008,506 27.21% 9,548,480 28.84%
001 Offshore Shares Limited 4,450,000 13.44%
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